
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Thursday, 31 January 2019 at 6.00 pm

Civic Suite, Solihull

CPH Environment & Housing 
Decision Session

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors T Dicicco, A Adeyemo and 
T Hodgson

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Joseph Bright
Tel: 0121 704 6055
Email: jbright@solihull.gov.uk

Date Wednesday, 23 January 2019

CPH ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING DECISION SESSION - Thursday, 31 
January 2019

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations of interest from Members.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To answer questions, if any, asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant to
Standing Orders.

4. FLOOD INVESTIGATION REPORT (Pages 5 - 74)

To notify Cabinet Member of the findings of a formal investigation into flooding 
that was experienced on May 27th 2018 across Solihull, under Section 19 of the 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010.

5. BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN CONSULTATION (Pages 75 - 142)

To approve arrangements for responding to Defra’s recent consultation on 
biodiversity net gain.

6. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

That, pursuance of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be now excluded from the meeting for the remainder of the 
business to be transacted, on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 



them of exempt information.

7. DEVELOPMENT OF A BUSINESS CASE FOR SHERBOURNE RECOVERY 
PARK (Pages 143 - 150)

To provide the Cabinet Member with an update regarding progress to develop a 
Sub-regional Material Recovery Facility (Sherbourne Recovery Park).



 

 
 

Meeting date: 31st JANUARY 2019 

 

Report to: CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT 
AND HOUSING 

Subject/report 
title: 

FLOOD INVESTIGATION REPORT – 27th MAY 2018 

Report from: HEAD OF HIGHWAY SERVICES 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

EDWARD BRADFORD 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To notify Cabinet Member of the findings of a formal investigation into flooding that 
was experienced on May 27th 2018 across Solihull, under Section 19 of the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To note the contents of the attached report and the findings of investigations at 11 
locations across the Borough. 

2.2 To receive an update report in November 2019, detailing work undertaken at each of 
the affected locations over the forthcoming year. 

3. What is the issue? 

3.1. On 27 May 2018 Solihull experienced a period of high intensity rainfall with over a 
month’s rain falling in an hour.  

 
3.2. Over 300 properties were affected by flooding. The flooding also impacted the local 

road network, with the main A3400 Stratford Road through Hockley Heath impassable, 
as were key routes in and out of Cheswick Green, Dickens Heath and Shirley, 
restricting movement until the flood waters subsided.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

 
 

3.3. As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for Solihull, the Council’s Flood Risk 
Management Team has investigated the events of 27 May 2018 and has produced a 
report in accordance with Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

 
3.4. In accordance with Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010: 

(1) On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a Lead Local Flood Authority must, to 
the extent that it considers it necessary or appropriate, investigate –  

(a) Which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk management 
functions, and  

(b)  Whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised, or is 
proposing to exercise, those functions in response to the flood. 

(2) Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it must –  

(a) Publish the results of its investigation, and 

(b) Notify any relevant risk management authorities 

3.5. For Solihull, such investigations are undertaken for flood events that are considered to 
have ‘Locally Significant Harmful Consequences’. Solihull Council’s Preliminary Flood 
Risk Assessment (PFRA) and Local Floor Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) define 
such events as: 

 Internal flooding to 5 or more residential properties, or; 

 Flooding to 2 or more business properties, or; 

 Flooding to 1 or more items of critical infrastructure, or a transport link 
impassable for in excess of 10 hours 

3.6. Detailed investigations have been carried out at 11 locations, with help from partners 
such as the Environment Agency, Severn Trent Water and the Canal and River Trust. 
The findings of each investigation is provided in Appendix A. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 As the LLFA, the Council’s Flood Risk Management Team has investigated the events 
of 27 May 2018 and has produced a report in accordance with Section 19 of the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010. A copy of the report is provided as Appendix A.  

4.2 In summary, the investigation determined that on 27 May 2018 Solihull experienced a 
period of high intensity rainfall. At its peak, 89mm of rain fell in just two hours, against 
an average total for May of just 53mm.  

4.3 Over 300 reports of flooding to property were received, with residents being forced to 
leave their homes and live in alternative accommodation. The local road network was 

Page 6



 

 
 

also impacted and impassable in places. 

4.4 11 locations have been investigated in more detail to identify the causes and 
mechanisms of the flooding. Work has included condition surveys of watercourses, 
culverts, attenuation features, surface water sewer and highway drainage systems, 
with follow up work being arranged on the occasions where it has been found 
necessary.   

4.5 New and recent development sites have also been checked to ensure that they have 
been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  

4.6 Following the investigation work that has been undertaken at the 11 locations, an 
action plan has been produced, which is included as part of the investigation report 
given in Appendix A. The plan includes actions around determining what, if anything, 
may be possible in the future to prevent such flooding from occurring again.  

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 The action plan that has been produced is based on the findings of the investigation 
work that has been undertaken at the 11 locations and focusses on five key areas: 

 Knowing when and where it will flood 

 Being rescued and cared for during an emergency 

 Reducing the risk of flooding and its impact 

 Better advice and helping people to protect their families and homes 

 Recovery 

5.2 As set out in the action plan, work has already started to determine what, if anything, 
may be possible in the future to prevent such flooding from occurring again. 

5.3 Whilst the main focus in many instances may be for a community wide avoidance or 
defence scheme, there will also be a place for measures to be taken at an individual 
level by owners of properties to help make themselves more resilient or resistant to 
flooding.  

5.4 It is intended that the action plan and progress on its items be used to update Cabinet 
Member, as part of a wider report that is delivered annually in November. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan: 

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan?  

☐ Securing inclusive economic growth -  

☐ Planning and delivery for Solihull’s Low Carbon Future –  

Page 7



 

 
 

☐ Managing demand and expectation for public services –  

☐ Developing and delivering our approach to services for adults and children with 

complex needs –  

☐ Making the best use of our people and physical assets -  

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities: 

6.2.1 None. 

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.3.1 A presentation on the May 27th flooding was made to the Stronger Communities and 
Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board on November 6th 2018. 

6.3.2 The Board noted and supported all of the work undertaken, to date, and the future 
planned activities as outlined in a presentation made by Officers. 

6.3.3 Cabinet Member and Officers were invited to take account of submissions that were 
made at the meeting when completing this report and action plan.  

6.4 Financial implications: 

6.4.1 Various sources of finance fund the Flood Risk Management Team.  

6.4.2 The day to day running of the team and the undertaking of its statutory duties is now 
funded through the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, with a 
budget of £225k being provided for 2018/19. 

6.4.3 Funding for studies and schemes (projects) is available via the submission of bids for 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA) funding.  Schemes need to be buildable, 
environmentally acceptable and cost beneficial. They also clearly need to reduce the 
risk of flooding to homes, with the amount of funding being dependent on the number 
of properties moved from a higher level of risk to a lower level of risk and the 
environmental benefits of the project. As part of a very first step, some initial 
expressions of interest for FDGiA funding have been submitted to support those 
communities affected by flooding in May 2018. 

6.4.4 Where FDGiA does not cover the whole cost of the project then a bid for Local Levy 
can be submitted. Local Levy is a form of income raised by Regional Flood and 
Coastal Committees which is used for flood risk management projects that are not 
considered to be national priorities and which do not attract full funding through 
FDGiA. Appendix A provides further detail on sources of funding for any future project. 

6.5 Legal implications: 

6.5.1 On becoming aware of a flood, Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010 places a duty on Local Authorities to investigate to the extent that it considers 
necessary or appropriate and to publish the findings of its investigation. 

Page 8



 

 
 

6.6 Risk implications: 

6.6.1 None 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty: 

6.7.1 A Fair Treatment Assessment was undertaken of the service in May 2016. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – Flood Investigation Report - Various Locations, Solihull 27th May 2018 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None. 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 

Flood Investigation Report  
 

 

 

Various Locations, Solihull 

27th May 2018 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 11



 

2 

 

As Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council carries out investigations 

into flooding incidents. 

 

During such investigations, the LLFA will: 

 

• Identify and explain the likely cause(s) of flooding; 

• Identify which authorities, communities and individuals have relevant flood risk 

management powers and responsibilities; 

• Provide recommendations for each of those authorities, communities and individuals; and 

• Outline whether those authorities, communities or individuals have or will exercise their 

powers or responsibilities in response to the flooding incident. 

 

The LLFA cannot: 

• Resolve the flooding issues or provide designed solutions; or 

• Force Authorities to undertake any of the recommended actions. 

  

Page 12



 

3 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 4 

2 WHAT HAPPENED ON 27TH MAY 2018? 5 

3 OUR INVESTIGATION 7 

4 SUMMARY & CONCLUSIONS 8 

 

  

Page 13



 

4 

 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1. On 27
 
May 2018 Solihull experienced a period of high intensity rainfall with over 300 properties 

being affected by flooding.  

 

1.2. As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for Solihull, the Council’s Flood Risk Management 

Team has investigated the events of 27 May 2018 and has produced this report in accordance 

with Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.  

 

What is a Section 19 investigation?  

In accordance with Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010: 

(1) On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a lead local flood authority must, to the extent 

that it considers it necessary or appropriate, investigate— 

(a) which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk management functions, and 

(b) whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised, or is proposing to 

exercise, those functions in response to the flood. 

(2) Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it must— 

(a) publish the results of its investigation, and 

(b) notify any relevant risk management authorities. 

 

1.3. Both Solihull Council’s Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) and Local Flood Risk 

Management Strategy (LFRMS) define flood events considered to have ‘Locally Significant 

Harmful Consequences’ as: 

■ Internal flooding to 5 or more residential properties, or;  

■ Flooding to 2 or more business properties, or;  

■ Flooding to 1 or more items of critical infrastructure, or a transport link impassable for in 

excess of 10 hours. 

  

Page 14



 

5 

 

2 What happened on 27 May 2018? 
 

2.1. On the afternoon of Sunday 27 May 2018, parts of the West Midlands experienced high 

intensity rainfall, which in Solihull led to a rapid increase and volume of surface water and 

associated river flooding.  

 

2.2. The rainfall that affected the West Midlands area developed ‘in situ’ locally during the 

afternoon, rather than following a normal tracked path. Once formed, the rain moved north-

west, along a narrow corridor running through Stratford–on-Avon, Solihull, Bromsgrove and 

Birmingham. Rainfall Radar images from the Met Office that show the rainfall event are given in 

Appendix A. 

 

2.3. Photos and videos shared at the time by those affected suggested that an extreme rainfall 

event had occurred. Common phrases such as “worse than 2007”, “not in my lifetime” and “it 

all happened so quickly” were heard by officers when knocking on doors to check on people’s 

health and welfare after the event.  

 

2.4. Such anecdotal evidence was supported through data collated by the Environment Agency from 

their own rain gauges, that of private rain gauges and from the use of radar imagery.   

 

2.5. Of all the data collected across the West Midlands, it was at a site in Tidbury Green, to the 

south west of Solihull, where the largest event was recorded. 89mm was measured in 2 hours 

and over 100mm for the day.  

 

2.6. This was supported by recordings from another rain gauge located nearby in Hollywood where 

75mm was measured in 2 hours. This is against a local average rainfall total for the May of just 

53mm, measured over a period from 1981 to 2010. 

 

2.7. Residents of 178 properties mainly across Blythe, Shirley West, Hockley Heath and Olton 

reported internal property flooding. In the worst cases, water crossed the threshold to such a 

depth that residents were forced to evacuate their homes. As the flood waters rose some 

residents were left to live upstairs or seek alternative accommodation.   

 

2.8. A further 75 properties saw water entering their garages, destroying possessions, whilst an 

additional 63 properties experienced garden or external property flooding that required a 

clean-up.  

 

2.9. In addition to the disruption to peoples’ lives and properties, the flooding impacted the local 

road network. The main A3400 Stratford Road through Hockley Heath was impassable, as were 

key routes in and out of Cheswick Green, Dickens Heath and Shirley, restricting movement until 

the flood waters subsided.  

 

2.10. In rural areas, water was seen to flow straight off surrounding fields and flood properties. 

Small watercourses that feed into the River Blythe and River Cole quickly became overwhelmed 

and broke their banks, with flood waters affecting one community before continuing further 

downstream to affect another. 

 

 

Page 15



 

6 

 

2.11. In urban areas, such was the flow and depth of water that on occasion it was unable to enter 

the surface water sewer network. When it could, the networks quickly flooded or were unable 

to discharge into already flooded watercourses. Extreme flow paths were seen moving across 

streets, entering the front door of a row of properties before passing through and continuing 

out of the back doors before repeating the process on the next row. 

 

2.12. Even the canal network was not immune to the event, with the feeder system at Earlswood 

Lakes being inundated with water from the River Blythe and becoming overwhelmed. This led 

to a surge of water passing along an unbroken stretch of the canal from Lapworth to 

Birmingham, overtopping at various points on its way and causing additional flooding to 

properties. 

  

Page 16



 

7 

 

3 Our Investigation 
 

3.1. When flood events, such as on the afternoon of the 27 May occur, it is the responsibility of the 

Lead Local Flood Authority for the area to carry out an investigation where it considers it 

necessary or appropriate.  Within Solihull, the Council’s Flood Risk Management team carries 

out the function of the Lead Local Flood Authority, under the Flood and Water Management Act 

2010. 

 

3.2. The Lead Local Flood Authority must investigate which authorities have relevant flood risk 

management functions and whether each of those authorities has exercised, or is proposing to 

exercise, those functions in response to the flood.  When such an investigation is carried out, 

the Lead Local Flood Authority must publish the results of its investigation and notify any 

relevant risk management authorities, such as the Environment Agency or Severn Trent Water 

as the water authority. 

 

3.3. Following the flooding that occurred on 27
th

 May, the Council’s Flood Risk Management Team 

have carried out investigations with partners such as the Environment Agency, Severn Trent 

Water and the Canal and River Trust at 11 locations across the Borough, as listed below. 

Reports for each location can be found in Appendices B – L.  

 

Appendix B - Cheswick Green – Coppice Walk Area 

Appendix C - Dickens Heath – Dickens Heath Road/Birchy Leasowes Lane/Beech Lane Area 

Appendix D - Dickens Heath – Griffin Lane/Waterside/Cornwood House Area 

Appendix E - Dickens Heath – Tythe Barn Lane Area 

Appendix F - Earlswood – Wood Lane Area 

Appendix G - Hockley Heath – Stratford Road Area 

Appendix H - Olton – Swanswell Road/Langley Hall Road/Brook Lane Area 

Appendix I - Shirley – Aqueduct Road/Corley Close/Green Lane/Millsoms Road Area 

Appendix J - Shirley – Nethercote Gardens/Colebrook Road Area 

Appendix K - Shirley – Yardley Wood Road/Pear Tree Crescent/Pear Tree Close Area 

Appendix L - Tidbury Green – Fulford Hall Road/Norton Lane Area 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

8 

 

4 Summary & Conclusions 
 

4.1 As the LLFA, the Council’s Flood Risk Management Team has investigated the events of 27 May 

2018 and has produced this report in accordance with Section 19 of the Flood and Water 

Management Act 2010.  

 

4.2 This investigation has determined that on 27 May 2018 Solihull experienced a period of high 

intensity rainfall, over a month’s rain within an hour, as part of a wider event that affected the 

West Midlands area.  

 

4.3 Data collated by the Environment Agency shows that at its peak, 89mm of rain fell in just two 

hours, against an average total for May of just 53mm. Statistically, parts of the Borough 

experienced an event with a 0.2% chance of occurrence in any given year. 

 

4.4 Over 300 reports of flooding to property were received mainly across Blythe, Shirley West, 

Dorridge and Hockley Heath and Olton wards, with some residents being forced to leave their 

homes and live in alternative accommodation.  

 

4.5 Many of the properties that were affected on 27 May are shown to be at risk from flooding on 

mapping produced by the Environment Agency.  However, the vast majority had never 

previously experienced such an event.  

 

4.6 11 locations have been investigated in more detail to identify the causes and mechanisms of the 

flooding. Work has included condition surveys of watercourses, culverts, attenuation features, 

surface water sewer and highway drainage systems, with follow up work being arranged on the 

occasions where it has been found necessary.  

 

4.7 New and recent development sites have also been checked to ensure that they have been 

constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  

 

4.8 Following the investigation work that has been undertaken at the 11 locations, work has 

already started to determine what, if anything, may be possible in the future to prevent such 

flooding from occurring again. An Action Plan is included in Appendix M. 

 

4.9 Appendix N details some potential future options to help reduce the risk of flooding to those 

who were affected on May 27
th

. Whilst the main focus in many instances may be for a 

community wide avoidance or defence scheme, there will also be a place for measures to be 

taken at an individual level by owners of properties to help make themselves more resilient or 

resistant to flooding.  

 

Page 18



www.metoffice.gov.uk © Crown Copyright 2018 Met Office

27th May 2018

Rainfall Radar Images

Appendix A

P
age 19



27th May 15:00

P
age 20



27th May 15:30

P
age 21



27th May 16:00

P
age 22



27th May 16:30

P
age 23



27th May 17:00

P
age 24



27th May 17:30

P
age 25



27th May 18:00

P
age 26



27th May 18:30

P
age 27



27th May 19:00

P
age 28



27th May 19:30

P
age 29



27th May 20:00

P
age 30



27th May 20:30

P
age 31



27th May 21:00

P
age 32



Location: Coppice Walk Area, Cheswick Green 

Who or what was affected? 

 12 properties 
internally flooded 

10 properties 
externally flooded 

1 garage 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

Cheswick Green is situated at the confluence of the River Blythe and the Mount Brook. 

The River Blythe generally flows in a northerly direction from its source south of the M42, passing Earlswood Lakes towards 

Cheswick Green. The Blythe then flows in an easterly direction to the south of Cheswick Green along Watery Lane, before 

passing under the M42 south of Junction 4. The Mount Brook runs in a southerly direction towards Cheswick Green, bringing 

surface water from a sewer network in Shirley. The brook is joined north of Cheswick Green by an unnamed watercourse that 

carries flows from both Dickens Heath and Tidbury Green. The Mount Brook runs between the Cheswick Place development 

and Saxon Wood Road and Willow Drive, before passing under Coppice Walk to join the River Blythe at Watery Lane. 

Surface water from the village flows into the River Blythe or the Mount Brook at various points by way of a Severn Trent Water 

surface water sewer network, as shown on the plan opposite. The operational ability of the sewer network becomes restricted as 

the outlets are submerged by flooding on the River Blythe or Mount Brook. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Flood risk associated with the River Blythe south
west of Tanworth Lane 

Significant flows were witnessed at this location with the River 
Blythe flooding out of its normal channel. A single property flooded 
to the south of Tanworth Lane before flows continued to Coppice 
Walk. 

2. Flood risk associated with flooding from the River
Blythe on Tanworth Lane, Coppice Walk and Watery 
Lane  

Internal and external flooding of multiple properties was reported 
along Coppice Walk and Tanworth Lane due to flooding of the River 
Blythe. Residents reported a wave of water arriving after the initial 
rainfall had stopped. This may have been associated with flooding of 
the Stratford Upon Avon Canal at Lady Lane, which caused 
additional flows within the River Blythe. 

3.Flood risk associated with the River Blythe from the
crossroads of Watery Lane/ Creynolds Lane/ Vicarage 
Road/ Ilshaw Heath Road 

No reports were received of internal or external flooding of 
properties at this location, although it is suspected that several back 
gardens would have been underwater as a result of the River Blythe 
flooding. It is understood that the highway was impassable at this 
point. 

4. Flood risk associated with the Mount Brook from
Highleys Farm to Coppice Walk 

External flooding of the back gardens of properties on Saxon Wood 
Road and Willow Drive was reported, as a result of the Mount Brook 
flooding. Whilst properties are shown to be at risk on the mapping 
produced by the Environment Agency, no internal flooding of 
properties was reported on this occasion.  

5. Flood risk associated with the Mount Brook from
Coppice Walk to the River Blythe. 

Internal property flooding was reported to the east of the Coppice 
Walk road bridge as a result of the Mount Brook flooding. It is 
understood that in extreme events water flows over and around the 
bridge flooding properties. The highway was also flooded at this 
location. 

 Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water in Cheswick 

Green. The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and 

does not take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

There was no sewer 
flooding in the area. 

Main Rivers were 
unable to cope with 
the amount of water 
flowing into them. 

There are no ordinary 
watercourses in the area. 

No other source was 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix B

P
age 33



Location: Coppice Walk Area, Cheswick Green 

What might be possible to reduce the risk from future flooding?  

 

Can we use Property Level Resilience 

to stop flood water entering houses 

at risk of flooding? 

Can we store water coming out of 

Shirley in ponds and wetlands? 

Can we store more water coming 

out of Dickens Heath in ponds and 

wetlands? 

Can we store water coming out of 

Earlswood Lakes in ponds and 

wetlands? 

Can we increase the size of the 

Dickens Heath attenuation pond? 

Can we store more water coming out 

of Tidbury Green? 

P
age 34



 

Location: Coppice Walk Area, Cheswick Green 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

That the flooding was caused by drains that weren’t 
clean. 
 
 

Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, the 
Council has been back out to Tidbury Green to cleanse the system again and has undertaken CCTV surveys of 
assets that it owns on Coppice Walk and Tanworth Lane.  

Local Highway 
Authority 

Complete 

Why weren’t the gullies on the entrance to the Bloor 
Homes development in use? 

The gullies were in use but gully guards were installed in the drains on the entrance to the development site. 
This was to safeguard against pollution entering the River Blythe, which is a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

Bloor Homes Complete 

How does the attenuation feature on the Mount Dairy 
Farm development work? Have the works been 
completed? Water is stored on land higher than the 
surrounding ground. The new landscaping alongside 
Coppice Walk has lifted the land which has reduced 
space for water  

The drainage and attenuation systems for Cheswick Place were completed as part of the first phase of works on 
the site. Water from the site is collected in a series of swales and then slowly released into the Mount Brook.  
The attenuation basins are filled when water levels rise in the Mount Brook. Water flows through the basins to 
drain back to the Brook. 

Bloor Homes Complete 

What is being done to address the problem with the 
attenuation at the point where water returns to Mount 
Brook as this returning water now floods houses in 
Coppice Walk.  

In rainfall events prior to the 27th May the basins filled and then overtopped back into the Mount Brook rather 
than draining slowly through the pipe. This is believed to be because of the hay bales that were placed across 
the pipe during construction to protect water quality down stream. These bales have since been removed and 
the outfall will be monitored. 

Bloor Homes / Lead 
Local Flood Authority 

Complete 

What is being done to improve the bridge on 
Tanworth Lane and the banks of the River Blythe 
along Watery Lane to reduce flooding? 

The River Blythe is a Main River, managed by the Environment Agency. The Environment Agency regularly 
inspect watercourses and arrange for works to be carried out, but they need to be mindful that the River Blythe is 
a Site of Special Scientific Interest.  
 
We are discussing the potential for a joint scheme at Cheswick Green with the Environment Agency. 
 

Environment Agency/ 
Local Landowners 
 

In Progress 
 

Are there any plans to clear silt and debris at 
Creynolds Lane bridge? Watercourses in the area 
are in need of maintenance. 
What happened at Earlswood Lakes that caused the 
wave of water in Coppice Walk, were any sluice 
gates opened? Why did water from the river overflow 
the bridge some 40 minutes after rain had ceased? 
 
Did the reservoir top the embankment, why has so 
much work had to be done to the reservoir 
embankments? 

The Canal and River Trust have indicated that whilst there was no breach at Earlswood Lakes, intense rainfall 
across part of the Blythe catchment caused the feeder system to the lakes to become overwhelmed. This water 
then passed into the main canal south of Lady Lane and caused overtopping of the canal at a low point in the 
southern canal bank adjacent to the River Blythe Culvert. This water then entered the River Blythe. 
 
The Canal and River Trust have informed us that the lakes did not flood. However, the embankment was 
damaged by water flowing down Malt House Lane and spilling down the slope to Valley Road. Two land slips 
occurred and these were covered in tarpaulin to avoid further damage risking the integrity of the dam. 

Canal and River Trust Complete 

Have the Canals and River Trust been asked to alter 
the water management of the lakes and canal 
network to reduce the risk of flooding 

The Canal and River Trust have told us that it is not feasible to use the canal network in this manner as it is not 
so simple to respond to extreme flows and control levels accordingly. Day to day, the level of the canal is 
maintained within a small tolerance only to ensure that water can flow over weirs to avoid becoming stagnant. 

Canal and River Trust Complete 

Future development within the area will increase 
flood risk. How is the Council going to modify its 
plans for housing since any more development in the 
Mount Brook catchment upstream of Cheswick Green 
Village will only make the potential flooding problem 
worse. 

New development is located away from land that are considered to be at high risk of flooding and to ensure that 
it does not cause additional risk to those living downstream. Whilst the Council’s Local Plan is currently being 
reviewed, there is a specific policy relating to water management, which developers are required to follow. This 
includes limiting discharge rates and providing on site storage.  
New development can offer an opportunity to achieve some betterment, be it through the provision of greater 
storage areas for flood waters, or the potential funding of flood risk management schemes through contributions 
to the Community Infrastructure Levy.  

Lead Local Flood 
Authority/ Local 
Planning Authority 

In Progress 

How is runoff controlled in exceedance events? What 
measures have been taken to reduce flood risk in 
new developments? 

Exceedance occurs when the rate of surface water runoff is greater than the capacity of the surrounding sewer 
or drainage network. Where exceedance events are not controlled, indiscriminate flooding of properties can 
occur. New developments are required to consider extreme rainfall in their designs.  

  

Concerns that such flood events are now happening 
on a more regular basis (2007, 2018) 

The Environment Agency has previously warned that intense bouts of flooding are set to become more frequent. 
“This follows a pattern of severe flooding over the past 10 years linked to an increase in extreme weather events 
as the country’s climate changes. Met Office records show that since 1910 there have been 17 record breaking 
rainfall months or seasons – with 9 of them since 2000. As intense storms are becoming more frequent, sea 
levels are also rising because of climate change” (EA, 2018) 

  

 

 

P
age 35



Location: Beech Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

Who or what was affected? 

 9 properties 
internally flooded 

0 properties 
externally flooded 

4 garages 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

The Beech Lane and Rumbush Lane area of Dickens Heath is naturally made up of a single drainage catchment that drains 

land between the east of Tidbury Green and the west of Dickens Heath. Through a network of watercourses, water flows 

towards Cleobury Lane before passing under Rumbush Lane and out towards Cheswick Green, under the Stratford Upon Avon 

Canal.  

The drainage network from Birchy Leasowes Lane joins the low point of a surface water sewer network that runs along Dickens 

Heath Road, before flowing down Cleobury Lane for a short distance and outfalling into the watercourse that runs through the 

Beech Lane development. A ditch network that commence at the southern extent of Cleobury Lane travels in a north westerly 

manner to join the watercourse at this point. 

The pumping station at the junction of Cleobury Lane and Dickens Heath Road ensures that foul water from this part of Dickens 

Heath can overcome gravity on its journey along Birchy Leasowes Lane to the sewage treatment works. 

Surface water from the Beech Lane development drains via an internal network of sewers to an online attenuation pond that is 

present at the south eastern extent of the watercourse through the site. The development site provides attenuation storage for 

flows from on and off the site for the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. A surface water flow path is shown across the junction of Cleobury Lane and
Dickens Heath Road, before joining the watercourse that flows through the 
Dickens Manor development. 

Reports were received of flooding from the 
front of properties overlooking Dickens 
Heath Road and of the highway being 
flooded.  

2. Flood risk associated with a watercourse that flows from the Dickens Manor
development under Rumbush Lane. 

Reports were received of flooding to the 
front of properties on Rumbush Lane and 
of the highway being flooded. 

3. Flood risk associated with the watercourse through The Paddocks
development. 

The balancing ponds were observed to be 
at or near capacity but with no flooding to 
properties on The Paddocks development. 

4. Flood risk associated with the watercourse that crosses Braggs Farm Lane
before joining a watercourse that flows under Rumbush Lane. 

No reports of flooding were received for 
this area. 

Location Plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water in Dickens 

Heath. The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and 

does not take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix C

P
age 36



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Location: Beech Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

 

Can we store more water upstream of the 

junction of Dickens Heath Road with Birchy 

Leasowes Lane? Can we provide any 

protection at Beech Lane? 

Can we stop water flooding Rumbush Lane? 

Can we improve the screens at the Rumbush 

Lane Culvert to help in times of extreme 

flows? 

What might be possible to reduce the risk from future flooding?  

P
age 37



 

Location: Beech Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council as the local highway authority is responsible for the cleansing of the highway drainage 
system across the Borough and aims to cleanse each gully (drain) once a year. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has carried out work to cleanse and CCTV highway drainage assets that it owns on Birchy 
Leasowes Lane, Dickens Heath Road, Cleobury Lane and Rumbush Lane. Mapping of assets has also been 
updated at the same time where necessary.  

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in Dickens Heath. Severn 
Trent have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary. 
Work to repair the manhole cover and frame at the junction of Cleobury Lane and Dickens Heath Road has 
been completed. 

Severn Trent Water Complete 

Condition of the attenuation feature on The 
Paddocks development site, in particular the current 
vegetated state. 

Maintenance of watercourses is the responsibility of the relevant landowner, which in this case still remains 
David Wilson homes. 
 
Work has recently been undertaken to adjust the side slopes on the watercourse that runs through the site to 
ensure compliance with approved plans. It should be noted that there has been no change in storage 
volumes.  
 
Following the flooding in May, as Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Council commissioned the inspection 
of approximately 10km of watercourses across the Borough by independent and accredited consultants. This 
included the attenuation feature on The Paddocks development site, but no further maintenance works were 
identified to manage the vegetation that is present. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
David Wilson Homes 

Complete 

That the Dickens Manor development has not been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plans 

Officers from the Flood Risk Management Team have surveyed the site and are content that the 
development has been constructed in accordance with the approved drainage plans. 

Lead Local Flood Authority Complete 

Maintenance of ditches and watercourses in the 
surrounding area. 

Following the flooding in May, as Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Council commissioned the inspection 
of approximately 10km of watercourses across the Borough by independent and accredited consultants. Any 
actions that were identified as a result of the work are now being followed up with local landowners, Ditching 
work has been completed by Bellway Homes on the north eastern side of Cleobury Lane and similar work 
has been requested from the relevant landowner on the south western side.  

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Bellway Homes/ Local 
Landowners 

In progress 

The capacity of the existing system at the junction 
with Birchy Leasowes Lane/Dickens Heath Road 
and what the potential solutions may be. 

Options are being considered as to how the and impact of such an event could be reduced in the future, but 
it is important to note that it is unrealistic to simply upsize all of the drainage network in the area. In response 
to the flooding, detailed modelling work of the drainage catchment has been commissioned by the Lead 
Local Flood Authority, with the purpose of determining the feasibility of potential options and informing the 
necessary business cases that would need to be developed to secure sources of funding. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In progress 

Construction of the attenuation feature on the 
Dickens Manor development site. 

Suggestions from local residents as to how  the attenuation feature could be adapted to increase storage 
and how the channel between the attenuation feature and the culvert under Rumbush Lane could be 
adapted are being considered as part of a wider piece of modelling work of the drainage catchment.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In progress 

Rumbush Lane Culvert Security/Trash Screens. 
 

Revised security/trash screen arrangements have been discussed with the Dickens Manor developer to 
reduce the likelihood and impact of any future blockage of the culvert.  

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Bellway Homes 

In progress 

 

 

P
age 38



Location: Griffin Lane, Waterside and Cornwood House Area, Dickens Heath 

Who or what was affected? 

 13 properties 
internally flooded 

4 properties 
externally flooded 

1 garage 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

Two watercourses meet at a point on land to the east of Griffin Lane, before passing through a culvert under the Stratford Upon 

Avon Canal and continuing in a north easterly direction to the Mount Brook and then onto the River Blythe at Cheswick Green. 

The Stratford Upon Avon Canal runs to the east and north of Dickens Heath and is unbroken in terms of level between Lapworth 

to the south and Birmingham City Centre to the north (via the Worcester and Birmingham Canal). The level of the canal is 

maintained within 50 to 70mm to ensure that water can flow over weirs to avoid the water becoming stagnant.  

Surface water from the majority of the central and southern parts of Dickens Heath village (with the exception of the recent 

developments at Griffin Lane, Dickens Manor and The Paddocks) passes through a surface water sewer system and is held in 

an attenuation feature in the country park to the south of Griffin Lane, before being released via a piped network into the culvert 

under the Stratford Upon Avon Canal. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Flood risk associated with the existing attenuation
feature that sits within the Dickens Heath Country Park and 
that serves the surface water sewer system for the village. 

No reports were received of the attenuation feature flooding. 

2. Flood risk associated with a watercourse that flows from
the direction of Rumbush Lane across the bottom of Griffin 
Lane.  

Reports were received of internal property flooding to properties 
on Griffin Lane and of the highway being flooded as a result of 
the watercourse flooding. 

3. Flood risk associated with the watercourse that flows
from the south of Griffin Lane along the eastern edge of 
the existing attenuation feature that sits within the Dickens 
Heath Country Park. 

Reports were received of the watercourse being out of bank as 
a result of flood water flowing through from Tidbury Green. 

4. Flood risk alongside Waters Edge, Waterside Heights
and Cornwood House 

Reports were received of flooding to the front of properties on 
Waters Edge, Waterside Heights and to the basement and car 
park of Cornwood House. 100 properties in Cornwood House 
lost their clean water supply after basement pumps became 
flooded. 

5. Surface water flood risk in the carriageway on Mereways
and Cornwood Lane 

Reports were received of flooding in the highway. 

6. Flooding associated with the Stratford Upon Avon Canal Reports were received of the canal flooding outside Waters
Edge and Waterside causing internal flooding to multiple 
properties. This may have been associated with flooding of the 
Stratford Upon Avon Canal at Lady Lane, which caused 
additional flows within the River Blythe. 

Location Plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water in Dickens 

Heath. The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and 

does not take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them 

Flooding of the canal. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix D

P
age 39



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location: Griffin Lane, Waterside and Cornwood House Area, Dickens Heath 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

Can we increase the size of the 

Dickens Heath attenuation pond? 

Can we pass more water under the 

canal? 

Can we store more water coming out 

of Tidbury Green? 

Can we stop water leaving the canal? 

P
age 40



 

 

/@_171+^~((((((Lllllll/ 

Location: Griffin Lane, Waterside and Cornwood House Area, Dickens Heath 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council as the local highway authority is responsible for the cleansing of the highway drainage 
system across the Borough and aims to cleanse each gully (drain) once a year. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has carried out work to cleanse and CCTV highway drainage assets that it owns on in the area. 
Mapping of assets has also been updated at the same time where necessary.  

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in Dickens Heath. Severn 
Trent have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary.  

Severn Trent Water Complete 

That construction of the attenuation feature on the 
Griffin Lane development is incorrect. 

Officers from the Flood Risk Management Team have surveyed the site and are content that the 
development has been constructed in accordance with the approved drainage plans. 

Lead Local Flood Authority Complete 

That the canal flooded outside Waterside. The Canal and River Trust have indicated that whilst there was no breach at Earlswood Lakes, intense 
rainfall across part of the Blythe catchment caused the feeder system to the lakes to become overwhelmed. 
This extreme flow of water exited the feeder system at Lady Lane and entered the Stratford-Upon-Avon 
Canal, causing a surge through the system of up to1m.  
 
An inspection of the canal by the Canal and River Trust identified a section of bank adjacent to Waterside 
Heights where the available freeboard (difference between the water level and the top of the bank) is lower 
than would be normally recommended.  It is not clear whether water was flowing into or out of the canal at 
this point.  

Canal and River Trust Complete 

That the culvert under the Stratford Upon Avon 
Canal does not provide sufficient capacity and is 
blocked. 

In response to the flooding, detailed modelling work of the area has been commissioned by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, with the purpose of determining the feasibility of potential options and informing the 
necessary business cases that would need to be developed to secure sources of funding. 
 
Detailed survey work has been completed of the attenuation pond within the Country Park and of the sewer 
network and control chamber that regulates flows to the culvert under the Stratford Upon Avon Canal. 
 
The Canal and River Trust have been requested to provide maintenance records associated with their 
culvert. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Canal and River Trust 

In Progress 

That flow is restricted through the open space to the 
east of the Stratford Upon Avon Canal. 

Following the flooding in May, as Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Council commissioned the inspection 
of approximately 10km of watercourses across the Borough by independent and accredited consultants. Any 
actions that were identified as a result of the work are now being followed up with local landowners, including 
Dickens Heath Management Company who are responsible for the maintenance of this piece of open space.  

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Dickens Heath 
Management Company 

In Progress 

That the basement and car park of Cornwood 
House flooded from the sewer network. 

The managing agents of Cornwood House have been liaising with Severn Trent Water to determine the 
cause of this flooding. It is unclear at this time as to how flood water entered the basement area and further 
investigation is needed. 

Managing Agents/ Severn 
Trent Water 

In Progress 

That Dickens Heath and the surrounding area has 

not been designated as a Critical Drainage Area. 

Areas with Critical Drainage Problems can be designated through partnership between the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and the Environment Agency. In such designated areas, LLFAs and the Environment Agency work 
with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that adequate surface water management measures are 
incorporated in development to mitigate fluvial flood risk. Discussions are currently being held with the 
Environment Agency as to whether designation would be beneficial. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Environment Agency 

In Progress 

That more attenuation of flood water is required. 

Only one attenuation feature is insufficient and that 

the use of the canal should be considered in 

extreme events. 

In response to the flooding, detailed modelling work of the area has been commissioned by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, with the purpose of determining the feasibility of potential options which may include 
additional attenuation and with the intention of informing the necessary business cases that would need to 
be developed to secure sources of funding. 
 
From conversations with the Canal and River Trust, it would not be feasible to use the canal network as 
additional storage due to lack of current capacity and insufficient measures to easily control and adjust flows. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

That the area does not naturally drain well due to 
the presence of clay soils. 

The underlying soil type across the Borough is generally clay, but pockets of free draining soil and areas of 
slightly impeded drainage exist east of the M42. Where infiltration is not possible it is necessary to use other 
means to dispose of surface water, e.g. sewers or watercourses.  
 

  

P
age 41



Location: Tythe Barn Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

Who or what was affected? 

 5 properties 
internally flooded 

0 properties 
externally flooded 

1 garage 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

Tythe Barn Lane is situated to the north of Dickens Heath and forms a link out of the village towards Whitlock’s End railway 

station and Shirley.  

At the western end of Tythe Barn Lane, water drains to a watercourse that begins towards Betteridges Farm on Tilehouse Lane 

and which flows in a northerly manner through culverts under Tythe Barn Lane and the Stratford Upon Avon Canal towards 

Shirley before joining the River Cole at Aqueduct Road.  

At the eastern end of Tythe Barn Lane, water outfalls via a highway drainage and sewer network into the Stratford Upon Avon 

Canal at the rear of Nos. 120-130 Tythe Barn Lane. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. At the western end of Tythe Barn Lane risk from surface water flooding is
shown in the carriageway from the junction with Tilehouse Lane to a point 
outside of No.298.  

Reports were received of internal flooding 
to multiple properties on Tythe Barn Lane 
at this point and of the highway being 
impassable as a result of water flowing off 
surrounding land and the watercourse 
being flooded. 

2. Flood risk associated with a watercourse that flows in a northerly direction
from Whitlocks End to the Stratford-Upon-Avon Canal. There is some localised 
flooding on land between Tythe Barn Lane and the canal. 

It is understood that surrounding land was 
flooded in this area and that the 
watercourse was out of bank. 

3. At the eastern end of Tythe Barn Lane risk from surface water flooding is
concentrated mainly in the carriageway immediately before the canal bridge but 
also exists from Whitchurch Lane to the canal bridge on a line behind Nos. 120-
130 Tythe Barn Lane.  

Reports were received of internal flooding 
to multiple properties on Tythe Barn Lane 
at this point as a result of the highway 
drainage and sewer network being 
overloaded. It is understood that the water 
level on the canal may have been higher 
than normal at the time, which may have 
caused the flooding as the outfall from the 
sewer network became restricted. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water in Dickens 

Heath. The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and 

does not take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them. 

Another source  has 
been identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix E

P
age 42



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Location: Tythe Barn Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

 

Can we improve the culvert under Tythe 

Barn Lane to allow more water through? 

Do we need to improve the road drainage on 

Tythe Barn Lane? 

Can we store more water south of Tythe 

Barn Lane? 

Can the foul sewer be made more resilient 

during a flood? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to stop 

flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

P
age 43



 

Location: Tythe Barn Lane Area, Dickens Heath 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has been back out to Tythe Barn Lane to cleanse the system again and has undertaken CCTV 
surveys of assets.  

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Surchage of foul sewers caused by the failure of the 
foul pumping station at Broom Lane 

Severn Trent Water own and maintain the pumping station. They have attended and undertaken the 
necessary repairs. 

Severn Trent Water Complete 

Maintenance of ditches and watercourses in the 
surrounding area. 

It is the responsibility of the relevant landowner to maintain the stretch of watercourse that runs on or under 
their land, or that is on the boundary of their land, up to its centre.  
 
Since the flooding we have had over 10km of watercourses across the Borough inspected by independent 
and accredited surveyors. No emergency work has been identified, but we have been following up some 
other points with local landowners. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Local Landowners 

In progress 

Discharge of surface water at the eastern end of 
Tythe Barn Lane into the Stratford Upon Avon 
Canal. 

It is understood that the outfall to the canal may have become submerged during the flood due to increased 
water levels on the canal. Further work is required to understand if and how the risk of this occurring again in 
the future can be reduced. 

Local Highway Authority/ 
Canal and River Trust 

In progress 

Culvert capacity under Tythe Barn Lane. The need to assess the culvert capacity under Tythe Barn Lane has been identified to ensure that it remains 
fit for purpose. However care needs to be taken to not increase flood risk downstream should any changes 
be made.  

Local Highway Authority In progress 

 

 

P
age 44



Location: Wood Lane Area, Earlswood 

Who or what was affected? 

9 properties 
internally flooded 

1 property 
externally flooded 

8 garages 
flooded 

What does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

The land between Wood Lane and Norton Lane drains towards the River Blythe, entering the feeder channel to Earlswood 

Lakes to the rear of Mason Lane.  

The highway drainage system on Wood Lane is comprised of a system of gullies and pipework, along with various ditches. At 

the western end (No.167 to The Rosery), the system runs in a westerly direction before discharging to a watercourse that runs 

to the rear of the properties, which then enters the canal feeder. At the eastern end, (Engine House to No.147) the system runs 

to a ditch and a culvert that then outfalls to the canal feeder. 

A foul water sewer system runs under land to the rear of the properties on Wood Lane and Earlswood Lakes, which is pumped 

back towards Tidbury Green and further afield. 

It is suspected that surface water from properties in this location is disposed of by way of the foul sewer system. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Flood risk is shown on a flow route that is primarily associated with a
watercourse that runs from land adjacent to Willow Tree Farm through to 
Earlswood Lakes.  

Photo and video evidence of the event 
suggests that the cause of the flooding was 
overland flow from the surrounding area 
across fields and through properties on 
either side of Wood Lane. Whilst the flow 
of water would have tried to enter the 
highway drainage system, the system 
would have quickly become overwhelmed, 
before the water continued on a path 
towards the canal feeder. 

2. Minor patches of surface water flood risk are identified within the carriageway
on Wood Lane. 
3. A surface water flow path is shown running between Wood Lane and
Earlswood Lakes between Nos.65 and 101. 
4. A small area of surface water flood risk is shown to the rear of Earlswood
Lakes Craft Centre 

Location Plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water on Wood Lane. 

The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not 

take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

No sewer flooding has 
been identified. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix F

P
age 45



 

 

  

Location: Wood Lane Area, Earlswood 

What might be possible to reduce the risk from future flooding?  

 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to 

stop flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

Can we improve the highway drainage to 

drain the roads better? 

Can we keep more water on the roads to 

stop houses flooding? 

P
age 46



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location: Wood Lane Area, Earlswood 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council as the local highway authority is responsible for the cleansing of the highway drainage 
system across the Borough and aims to cleanse each gully (drain) once a year. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has carried out work to cleanse and CCTV highway drainage assets that it owns on Wood Lane. 
Mapping of assets has also been updated at the same time where necessary.  

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Condition of culverts within the area CCTV inspection and of the culvert to the side of No. 65 Wood Lane  Local Highway Authority  Complete 
Maintenance of ditches and watercourses in the 
surrounding area. 

Following the flooding in May, as Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Council commissioned the inspection 
of approximately 10km of watercourses across the Borough by independent and accredited consultants. Any 
actions that were identified as a result of the work are now being followed up with local landowners. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Local Landowners 

In progress 

Capacity of the local drainage system Further modelling work to understand the capacity of the system (including the culvert) and to confirm 
understanding of the event and determine possible solutions 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ In progress 

 

P
age 47



Location: Stratford Road Area, Hockley Heath 

Who or what was affected? 

 3 properties 
internally flooded 

0 properties 
externally flooded 

3 garages 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

There is a sewer network under the roads in Hockley Heath that is provided to take away surface water (rainwater) from 

properties with water from the highway draining via this same network. Used water from properties is kept separate and taken 

away by a foul water sewer system.  

With the exception of the south west corner of Hockley Heath and from the part of the Stratford Road that is north of The Barn 

Public House, the surface water sewer network for the village heads to the vicinity of No.2505 Stratford Road. This network then 

outfalls into a watercourse that runs through land to the rear of the service road fronting Nos. 2491-2525 before continuing 

downstream to join the River Blythe. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Stratford Road from the junction of Orchard Road in a northerly direction to its
northern most junction of the Service Road fronting Nos. 2491-2525. 

Reports were received of internal flooding 
to multiple properties and garages along 
the service road and of the highway being 
impassable either as a result of surface 
water being unable to enter the sewer 
network or the sewer network flooding. 

2. Flood risk associated with the watercourse that runs in a north easterly
direction from the rear of the Service Road fronting Nos. 2491-2525 Stratford 
Road  

No reports were received of flooding to the 
watercourse, although it is suspected that it 
would have been out of bank. 

3. Flood risk associated with surface water on School Road between the
Stratford Road and Tutnall Drive. 

Reports were received of external flooding 
of properties on School Road and the 
highway being impassable either as a 
result of surface water being unable to 
enter the sewer network or the sewer 
network flooding. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water in Hockley 

Heath. The mapping is based on computer models to assess long term risk and 

does not take into account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them. 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix G

P
age 48



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location: Stratford Road Area, Hockley Heath 

Location: Stratford Road, Hockley Heath 

 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

Do we need to improve capacity in the 

drains and sewers? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to 

stop flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

Can we improve the maintenance of the 

drains and sewers most at risk? 

Do we need to improve the maintenance of 

the ditches and watercourses on School 

Road? 

P
age 49



Location: Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road Area, Olton 

Who or what was affected? 

16 properties 
internally flooded 

8 property 
externally flooded 

5 garages 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

A surface water sewer system exists under Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road which serves the properties 

and highway in the area, covering an area south of Langley Hall Park and across to Kineton Green Road. The sewer system 

discharges into a culverted watercourse that runs through the area before crossing through open space to the rear of Mickleton 

Road. Flows then enter the Westerley Brook and Kingshurst Brook before joining the River Cole.  

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Surface water flood risk is shown for almost the entirety of Brook Lane, from
its junction with Gospel Lane through to Kineton Green Road. The greatest risk 
is shown at the lowest point of Brook Lane, in the vicinity of Nos. 37-65. 

7 properties reported internal flooding on 
Brook Lane, 3 garages were flooded and 8 
properties reported external flooding as a 
result of surface water either being unable 
to enter the sewer network or the sewer 
network/culverted watercourse flooding. 

2. On Langley Hall Road surface water flood risk is shown in the carriageway
and to the front and rear of properties, in particular those on the eastern side of 
the road where the level is lowest. 

1 property reported garage flooding on 
Langley Hall Road, near to the junction 
with Swanswell Road as a result of surface 
water either being unable to enter the 
sewer network or the sewer 
network/culverted watercourse flooding 

3. Surface water flood risk is shown in the carriageway on Swanswell Road from
Gospel Lane and on past the junction with Gunns Way. A further amount of 
flood risk is shown in the carriageway from near to the junction with Merecote 
Road through to the junction with Langley Hall Road. Flood risk is generally 
shown to the front and rear of properties on Swanswell Road from Gunns Way 
to Langley Hall Road. 

9 properties reported internal flooding and 
a further property reported garage flooding 
on Swanswell Road as a result of surface 
water either being unable to enter the 
sewer network or the sewer 
network/culverted watercourse flooding 

4. Flood risk is shown in the open space to the rear of Mickleton Road. No reports were received of flooding within 
the open space to the rear of Mickleton 
Road. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water. The mapping is 

based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not take into account 

factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Culverted watercourses 
were unable to cope with 
the amount of water 
flowing into them. 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

 Appendix H

P
age 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Location: Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road Area, Olton 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

Can we use Property Level Resilience to 

stop flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

Can we store more water in Langley Hall 

Park? 

Do the culverts under roads and gardens 

need to be maintained? 

Can we store more water at Langley 

School? 

P
age 51



 

Location: Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road Area, Olton 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains Solihull Council as the local highway authority is responsible for the cleansing of the highway drainage 
system across the Borough and aims to cleanse each gully (drain) once a year. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has carried out work to cleanse and CCTV highway drainage assets that it owns on Brook Lane, 
Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road.  

Local Highway Authority 
 

Complete 

Condition of the main Severn Trent Water system Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in the Olton area. Severn 
Trent have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary. 

Severn Trent Water  Complete 

Condition of the culverted watercourse between 
Langley Hall Park and Mickleton Road 

A first CCTV inspection was abandoned of the culverted watercourse. A follow up attempt is now being 
planned. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

Condition of the drainage measures in place on 
Langley Playing Fields 
 

It is the responsibility of the relevant landowner to maintain the stretch of watercourse that runs on or under 
their land, or that is on the boundary of their land, up to its centre.  
 
Since the flooding we have had over 10km of watercourses across the Borough inspected by independent 
and accredited surveyors. No emergency work has been identified, but we have been following up some 
other points with local landowners. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

What the Council’s plan is to stop this from 
happening again 

In response to the flooding, detailed modelling work of the area has been commissioned by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, with the purpose of determining the feasibility of potential options and informing the 
necessary business cases that would need to be developed to secure sources of funding. 
 
An initial outline project proposal has been submitted by the Lead Local Flood Authority for a potential 
project covering Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

 

P
age 52



Location: Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane Area, Shirley 

Who or what was affected? 

 19 properties 
internally flooded 

7 properties 
externally flooded 

7 garages 
flooded 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane all form part of a wider catchment area of the River Cole that extends from north 

Worcestershire and includes a large part of Shirley between the rail line and the A34 Stratford Road. The River Cole is joined by 

the Peter Brook at the junction of Aqueduct Road and Peterbrook Road, which serves a large part of north Worcestershire. A 

further tributary enters the River Cole north of the aqueduct which serves an area to the north and west of Dickens Heath.  

Rainwater from properties and the highway is collected by way of a Severn Trent Water surface water sewer system before 

discharging into the River Cole at the rear of Corley Close, opposite Mill Lodge Primary School, at Colebrook Road and Priory 

Road, to the rear of Wiseacre Croft and at three points in Nethercote Gardens. 

Surface water from the Berry Maud Lane site is stored in two underground tanks and in oversized pipes under the estate roads. 

Surface water from the site discharges to the foul sewer system rather than into the River Cole. The depression in the open 

space purely accommodates water from the River Cole once it floods over Aqueduct Road. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Flood risk associated with the River Cole is shown at the junction of
Aqueduct Road and Peterbrook Road. Previous work has shown this 
area to have a 50% chance of flooding each year with the aqueduct 
itself acting as the major constraint to flow within the area.  

Reports were received of flooding at the junction 
with the road becoming impassable. 2 properties 
across the border in north Worcestershire reported 
internal flooding. 

2. Flood risk associated with the River Cole is shown on the section of
Aqueduct Road from Peterbrook Road to Green Lane. Flood risk is 
constrained by the aqueduct itself, before spreading out across open 
space to the east and west.   

Reports were received of flooding to the open 
space area in front of the Berry Maud development 
and of Aqueduct Road being impassable.  

3. Flood risk from the River Cole and additionally from surface water
flood risk is shown on the section between Green Lane and High Street 
Solihull Lodge, covering an area from Aqueduct Road to Wiseacre Croft. 

3 properties reported internal flooding within this 
area. A further two properties reported flooding to 
their garages.  

4. Flood risk from the River Cole and from surface water is shown on the
highway and to properties on the northern and western sides of Corley 
Close. 

12 reports of internal property flooding were 
received in Corley Close from the front and rear of 
the properties, along with two instances of garage 
flooding. 

5. Flood risk is shown associated with a tributary of the River Cole that
runs from the vicinity of Snowford Close behind properties on Dordon 
Close towards Aqueduct Road. 

No reports have been received of flooding to 
properties in this area although it is understood 
that the watercourse would have been out of bank. 

6. Surface water flood risk is shown on Green Lane from the junction
with Cole Green to the River Cole, affecting the highway and properties 
near to the junction with Aqueduct Road. 

Residents fronting this part of Green Lane reported 
internal flooding of their properties. 

7. An area of surface water flood risk is shown in the area that is now
known as Hollywood Works Close. 

Residents reported internal flooding from the rear 
of their properties associated with flooding from the 
Stratford Upon Avon Canal. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water. The mapping is 

based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not take into account 

factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them 

Flooding of the canal. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix I

P
age 53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Location: Location: Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane Area, Shirley 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

 

Can we store more water south of 

Peterbrook Road? 

Can we store more water in the open space 

at Millisoms Road? 

Can we get more water to pass under Green 

Lane? 

Can we store more water between Haslucks 

Green Road and Aqueduct Road? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to 

stop flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 
Does the canal side need improving? 

P
age 54



 

Location: Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane Area, Shirley 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has been back to Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane to cleanse the system again 
and has undertaken CCTV surveys of assets that it owns. 

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in Shirley. Severn Trent 
have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary.  

Severn Trent Water Complete 

That water was released from Earlswood Lakes. The Canal and River Trust have indicated that whilst there was no breach at Earlswood Lakes, intense 
rainfall across part of the Blythe catchment caused the feeder system to the lakes to become overwhelmed. 
This water then passed into the main canal south of Lady Lane and caused overtopping of the canal at a low 
point in the southern canal bank adjacent to the River Blythe Culvert. This water then entered the River 
Blythe (not the River Cole). Further reports of overtopping along the side of the canal have been reported 
within Solihull.  
 
The Canal and River Trust have informed us that the lakes did not flood. However, the embankment was 
damaged by water flowing down Malt House Lane and spilling down the slope to Valley Road. Two land slips 
occurred and these were covered in tarpaulin to avoid further damage risking the integrity of the dam. 

Canal and River Trust Complete 

That construction of the drainage features on the 
Berry Maud Lane development is incorrect. 

Officers from the Flood Risk Management Team have surveyed the site and are content that the main 
drainage layout for the site is as per the approved plans.  
 
Surface water from the Berry Maud Lane site is stored in two underground tanks and in oversized pipes 
under the estate roads. Surface water from the site discharges to the foul sewer system rather than into the 
River Cole. The depression in the open space purely accommodates water from the River Cole once it 
floods over Aqueduct Road. 

Lead Local Flood Authority Complete 

That a low spot along the Stratford Upon Avon 
Canal caused flooding to properties in Hollywood 
Works Close 

Officers from the Flood Risk Management Team have verified the flooding to these properties and have 
requested that the Canal and River Trust undertake an inspection of their assets in the area. 

Canal and River Trust In Progress 

Condition of the River Cole and other ordinary 
watercourses in the surrounding area 
 

Following the flooding in May, as Lead Local Flood Authority, Solihull Council commissioned the inspection 
of approximately 10km of watercourses across the Borough by independent and accredited consultants. Any 
actions that were identified as a result of the work are now being followed up with local landowners. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

What measures are going to be put in place to stop 
this happening again? 

In response to the flooding, detailed modelling work of the area has been commissioned by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, with the purpose of determining the feasibility of potential options and informing the 
necessary business cases that would need to be developed to secure sources of funding. 
 
An initial outline project proposal has been submitted by the Lead Local Flood Authority for a potential 
project covering Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

 

 

P
age 55



Location: Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens Area, Shirley 

Who or what was affected? 

 42 properties 
internally flooded 

1 property 
externally flooded 

2 garages 
flooded 

 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens are situated next to the River Cole and are shown to be at risk of flooding from the 

river and also from surface water. The Cole flows in a northerly direction under Colebrook Road before passing over the 

borough boundary into Birmingham. Two other watercourses join the River Cole towards the boundary with Birmingham and 

several surface water sewer systems from the surrounding area discharge at various points along this stretch of the river. 

Rainwater from properties and the highway is collected by way of a Severn Trent Water surface water sewer system before 

discharging into the River Cole either side of the bridge at Colebrook Road and at three points along Nethercote Gardens. 

Surface water from the Berry Maud Lane site is stored in two underground tanks and in oversized pipes under the estate roads. 

Surface water from the site discharges to the foul sewer system rather than into the River Cole. The depression in the open 

space purely accommodates water from the River Cole once it floods over Aqueduct Road. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. High and medium flood risk is shown associated with the River Cole in
Nethercote Gardens, affecting the highway and properties along the western 
bank. Due to a level change, the eastern bank is not shown to have the same 
risk. 

29 properties flooded within the area that is 
shown to be at risk from fluvial flooding 
from the River Cole, with supporting 
photographic and video evidence. 

2. Surface water flood risk is shown on Colebrook Road from its junction with
Haslucks Green Road through to Windmill Road, with higher risk areas to 
properties shown in the vicinity of the road bridge where the road reaches its 
lowest level. 

4 properties on the northern side of 
Colebrook Road experienced internal 
property flooding at this location. Whilst 
mapping shows the area to be at risk from 
surface water flooding, photographic and 
video evidence shows flooding from the 
River Cole. 

3. Additional surface water flood risk is shown to the front and rear of properties
in Nethercote Gardens, along with flooding of the highway. 

Flooding of the highway was reported in 
this area. 

4. A considerable surface water flow path is shown entering Nethercote
Gardens from the direction of Priory Road, associated with the Mill Pond. This 
flow path predominately affects the highway and front of  Nos. 177-223 before 
converging with the fluvial flow path associated with the River Cole. 

8 properties experienced internal property 
flooding in this area. Residents reported 
water flowing down the walkway between 
Priory Road and Nethercote Gardens. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water. The mapping 

is based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not take into 

account factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them. 

No other sources have 
been identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix J

P
age 56



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location: Location: Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens Area, Shirley 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

 

Can we get more water through the culvert 

from the Mill Pond? 

Can we store more water in the Mill Pond 

and Priory Fields Nature Reserve? 

Can we store more water in Mill Lodge Park? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to stop 

flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

Can we store more water in Colebrook 

Recreation Ground? 

Can we store more water between Haslucks 

Green Road and Aqueduct Road? 

Can we store more water south of 

Peterbrook Road? 

P
age 57



 

Location: Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens Area, Shirley 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains. Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has been back to Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens to cleanse the system again and 
has undertaken CCTV surveys of assets that it owns. 

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in Shirley. Severn Trent 
have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary. 

Severn Trent Water Complete 

The Earlswood landslide and gates being opened 
on the canal network. Is this what caused the waves 
of water we saw. 

The Canal and River Trust have indicated that whilst there was no breach at Earlswood Lakes, intense 
rainfall across part of the Blythe catchment caused the feeder system to the lakes to become overwhelmed. 
This water then passed into the main canal south of Lady Lane in Earlswood and caused overtopping of the 
canal at a low point in the southern canal bank adjacent to the River Blythe Culvert. This water then entered 
the River Blythe (not the River Cole). Further reports of overtopping along the side of the canal have been 
reported within Solihull. 
 
The Canal and River Trust have informed us that the lakes did not flood. However, the embankment was 
damaged by water flowing down Malt House Lane and spilling down the slope to Valley Road. Two land slips 
occurred and these were covered in tarpaulin to avoid further damage risking the integrity of the dam. 
 
In all likelihood, the waves of water were perhaps caused by water entering the River Cole from its various 
tributaries. 
 

Canal and River Trust Complete 

That the new development is exacerbating 
problems. 
 

Flood Risk Management is taken into account as part of the planning system to ensure that new 
development is located away from areas that are considered to be at high risk of flooding and to ensure that 
it does not cause additional risk to those living elsewhere. The development off Aqueduct Road has been 
built in accordance with national policies and requirements regarding flood risk. Officers have visited the site 
to check that the drainage element of the development has been built in accordance with approved plans. 

Lead Local Flood Authority Complete 

Whilst the river level was not as high as previously 
experienced, many properties flooded for the first 
time. 

River level information from the gauging station at Majors Green shows a peak of 1.86m during the event in 
May, second only to a peak of 1.93m in 2007. Whilst detailed modelling work is being undertaken to better 
understand the interaction between the overland and surface water flooding that was witnessed and the 
fluvial flooding that was experienced from the River Cole, care should be taken when comparing rainfall 
events due to differences in intensity and duration. It should also be noted that the station at Majors Green 
does not include flows into the River Cole from the Peter Brook, which joins at Aqueduct Road, or from an 
unnamed tributary that enters the River Cole north of the aqueduct from the direction of Dickens Heath, both 
of which received significant rainfall over a short period of time.  

  

Flood defences are needed. 
 
 
What property level protection or resilience 
measures can residents put in place? 

An initial outline project proposal has been submitted by the Lead Local Flood Authority for a potential 
project covering Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens.  
 
Members of the Nethercote Gardens Flood Group met with Officers at a community engagement event in 
Warwickshire in September to better understand property level protection and resilience. 

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

That waste is being dumped in the River Cole and 
that the river needs to be dredged. 

It is the responsibility of the relevant landowner to maintain the stretch of watercourse that runs on or under 
their land, or that is on the boundary of their land, up to its centre.  
 
Since the flooding we have had over 10km of watercourses across the Borough inspected by independent 
and accredited surveyors. No emergency work has been identified, but we have been following up some 
other points with local landowners.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

That additional sandbins are needed in the area. 
Revised access arrangements should be made for 
the existing sandbins and pre-filled sandbags 
should be provided. 

Additional sandbins have been ordered and revised access arrangements are being made for existing units. 
Residents who experienced internal property flooding are in the process of being issued with a personal 
supply of floodsax.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In Progress 

 

 

P
age 58



Location: Yardley Wood Road and Pear Tree Crescent Area, Shirley 

Who or what was affected? 

24 properties 
internally flooded 

4 property 
externally flooded 

2 garages 
flooded 

 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

A surface water sewer network exists in the Solihull Lodge area to dispose of rainwater from properties as well as water from 

the highway. Used water from properties is kept separate and taken away by a foul water sewer system. 

The entire surface water network for the area around Yardley Wood Road, Pear Tree Crescent and Greenslade Road heads in 

a north easterly direction towards a culvert that runs under the Stratford Upon Avon Canal. On the other side of the canal, flows 

then continue along a watercourse within Priory Fields Nature Reserve before joining the River Cole at Nethercote Gardens. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. A surface water flow path is shown from High Street, Solihull
Lodge and from Yardley Wood Road through Lawford Grove and 
Hexton Close to Pear Tree Crescent (Nos. 12-24) and on towards 
the Stratford Upon Avon canal. 

Multiple properties were internally flooded from the 
front and rear on Hexton Close and Pear Tree 
Crescent associated with surface water being unable 
to enter the sewer network. 

2. A surface water flow path is shown in the vicinity of Nos. 1254-
1266 Yardley Wood Road and running through to the rear of Nos. 
47-57 Pear Tree Crescent before joining a further flow path and 
heading in a north easterly direction towards Pear Tree Grove and 
then on towards the Stratford Upon Avon canal.  

Internal property flooding was experienced to the front 
of multiple properties on Pear Tree Grove as a result of 
surface water being unable to enter the sewer network. 

3. A surface water flow path is shown running from Greenslade
Road across Yardley Wood Road fronting Nos.1208-1234 before 
continuing through Nos.82-94 Pear Tree Crescent. 

Internal property flooding was experienced by multiple 
properties directly opposite Greenslade Road, with 
concerns that the water included sewage. The flood 
water continued through the front and back of 
properties on Pear Tree Crescent before reaching the 
Stratford Upon Avon canal. 

4. Flood risk associated with surface water in the carriageway on
Yardley Wood Road between Nos. 1258 and 1300. 

Flooding of the highway was reported in this location. 

5. Flood risk associated with surface water to the rear of Nos. 1215-
1257 Yardley Wood Road. 

Multiple properties on the southern side of Yardley 
Wood Road reported internal flooding from the rear 
associated with surface water being unable to enter 
the sewer network. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water. The mapping is 

based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not take into account 

factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them. 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix K

P
age 59



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Location: Yardley Wood Road and Pear Tree Crescent Area, Shirley 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

 

Can Severn Trent Water increase the capacity 

of the storage tanks at Yardley Wood Road? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to stop 

flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

Can we change levels to push flood water 

away from houses? 

Can we get more water to flow under the 

canal? 

P
age 60



 

Location: Yardley Wood Road and Pear Tree Crescent Area, Shirley 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Blocked drains Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has been back out to Solihull Lodge to cleanse the system again and has undertaken CCTV 
surveys of assets that it owns in the Yardley Wood Road and Pear Tree Crescent Area. 

Local Highway Authority 
 

Complete 

Condition of the main Severn Trent Water system Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in the Solihull Lodge area. 
Severn Trent have undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse and CCTV their assets. 

Severn Trent Water  Complete 

Failure of the Severn Trent Water attenuation tank 
at the junction of Yardley Wood Road and 
Greenslade Road 

It is understood that there was some overland flooding from the tank during the May event, but that Severn 
Trent Water have since lifted the pumps to ensure that the tank is operating as they would expect it to and 
they have fitted a system to notify them as and when there are issues.  

Severn Trent Water Complete 

 

P
age 61



Location: Fulford Hall Road, Norton Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Tidbury Green 

Who or what was affected? 

26 properties 
internally flooded 

1 property 
externally flooded 

10 garages 
flooded 

 

How does the existing system work, what does existing mapping show us and what happened on 27th May? 

The drainage system within Tidbury Green is generally split across two natural catchments, with water from the east of the 

village flowing towards the River Blythe and water from the west of the village towards the River Cole.  

A surface water sewer network exists in most parts of Tidbury Green, which disposes of rainwater from properties and also from 

the highway, which is drained through gullies, pipes and ditches. Surface water then outfalls into local ordinary watercourses 

which typically flow to the rear of properties on Norton Lane, before heading in a northerly manner towards Dickens Heath. 

Surface water from the Tidbury Heights development drains via a system of existing ditches and a new arrangement of swales 

and a surface water sewer system to the watercourse to the south of the site. Water from the site is stored in an attenuation 

feature in the south east corner of the site. 

Description of area shown to be at risk What happened on 27th May? 
1. Risk associated with the River Cole itself, which flows from the south
west along the western edge of Tidbury Green towards Shirley. 

Whilst no reports of flooding were received for this 
area it is known that the River Cole breached its 
banks further downstream. 

2. A surface water flowpath is shown from the rear of properties on the
western side of Fulford Hall Road, before running across the back 
gardens of Nos. 88 - 142 Norton Lane to the River Cole.  

Reports were received of multiple properties on 
Fulford Hall Road being flooded from the front and 
rear and of the highway being flooded. 

3. Surface water flowpaths are shown on Lowbrook Lane and Norton
Lane, before joining near the River Cole. 

No reports of flooding were received for this area. 

4. Risk associated with a watercourse to the rear of Nos. 176-276
Norton Lane. An additional watercourse joins at the rear of Nos. 230-
232, before all of the flow passes under Rumbush Lane and heads in a 
north easterly direction towards Dickens Heath. The mapping also 
shows flood risk to be present at the front of Nos. 216-276 Norton Lane. 

Reports were received of flooding to multiple 
properties on Norton Lane, from the front due to 
run off from surrounding land and from the rear of 
properties due to flooding from the watercourse. 

5. A surface water flow path is shown along Rumbush Lane, from its
junction with Norton Lane in a north easterly manner towards a 
watercourse that flows to the side of No.261. Flood risk associated with 
the watercourse that runs to the side of No. 261 Rumbush Lane is 
shown at this point. 

Multiple properties on Rumbush Lane were flooded 
from the adjacent watercourse. The highway was 
impassable at this location. 

6. A surface water flowpath is shown on Rumbush Lane in an area
between Woodbourne Sports Club and No.343 Rumbush Lane and then 
again outside of Rumbush Farm. A flow path exists across fields to the 
rear of the sports club, to a point where a number of surface water 
systems outfall before forming a watercourse.  

Reports were received of flooding through the front 
of properties on Rumbush Lane, associated with 
runoff from surrounding land and of the highway 
being flooded. 

7. Flood risk is shown associated with a watercourse that starts on land
to the south west of Norton Lane and which continues in a generally 
north easterly manner, before passing under Norton Lane to the west of 
No. 412, before continuing towards Dickens Heath. 

Multiple properties on Norton Lane were flooded 
from the front, along with the highway. The 
watercourse in this area breached its banks. 

Location plan 

Mapping produced by the Environment Agency showing existing areas of risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses and also from surface water. The mapping is 

based on computer models to assess long term risk and does not take into account 

factors such as blocked drains or burst pipes. 

What flooding mechanisms have been identified? 

Surface Water/ 
Overland Flow 

Sewers Main Rivers Ordinary Watercourses Other 

Water flowed across the 
ground and was unable 
to enter watercourses or 
sewers. 

The local sewer 
network became 
blocked or overloaded. 

There are no main 
rivers in the area. 

Watercourses were unable 
to cope with the amount of 
water flowing into them. 

No other source 
identified. 

Investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Appendix L

P
age 62



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Location: Fulford Hall Road, Norton Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Tidbury Green 

 

What potential flood risk management schemes have been identified?  

Can we store more water in fields before it 

causes flooding to houses? 

Do we need to improve the culverts in the 

area? 

Can we use Property Level Resilience to stop 

flood water entering houses at risk of 

flooding? 

P
age 63



 

 

 

 

 

Location: Fulford Hall Road, Norton Lane and Rumbush Lane Area, Tidbury Green 

Your concerns and our actions 

Concerns have been raised about What has been done in response Who is responsible Status 

Poor drainage 
 
1.Blocked drains  

2.Generally poorly maintained drains 

3.Drainage system not adequate for the demand 

Solihull Council cleans highway gullies (drains) once a year as standard practice. Since the flooding in May, 
the Council has been back out to Tidbury Green to cleanse the system again and has undertaken CCTV 
surveys of assets that it owns on Fulford Hall Road, Norton Lane, Rumbush Lane and Tilehouse Lane.  

Local Highway Authority Complete 

Severn Trent Water are responsible for the cleansing of the main sewer network in Tidbury Green and have 
undertaken various visits to the area to cleanse, CCTV and map their assets where necessary.  

Severn Trent Water In progress 

It is unrealistic to simply upsize all of the drainage network in the area, but we will be looking at what options 
might exist to store water in appropriate locations and whether it may be beneficial for properties to be fitted 
with property level resilience measures (e.g  flood doors). In order to better understand what may be 
possible in the future, we are putting together some detailed flood modelling of the area which will allow us to 
look at different scenarios. If anything is possible then we will then need to make a bid for the necessary 
funds to allow us to carry out the work.  

Lead Local Flood Authority In progress 

Development 
 
4. Insufficient drainage and water management 
infrastructure to cope. We believe that this should 
have been resolved prior to the approval being 
granted. However action now needs to be taken for 
the future. 

5.Excess water from the site being diverted to the 
brook, which is unable to cope. 

 

The drainage system on the Tidbury Heights development has been designed in accordance with national 
standards.  
 
Wherever possible, surface water (rainwater) that falls on the site is conveyed by the original network of 
ditches and swales. The water passes through a storage feature in the south east corner of the site, before 
being released into the watercourse that runs along the southern boundary, as it would have done pre-
development. The development does not use the existing surface water sewer network in Tidbury Green.  
 
Foul water (used water) from Tidbury Heights is taken away via a piped system that runs across land to the 
west, to a pumping station that exists on Rumbush Lane. The pumping station helps the foul water from 
Tidbury Green overcome gravity on its journey to the sewage treatment works.  

  

Maintenance 
 
6.Poor Maintenance at the Tidbury Heights site –
e.g. Silt from site entering the local brook, ditches 
not maintained etc.  
 
7.Ditches and brooks are not maintained. They are 
not cleared out on a regular basis. 
 

It is the responsibility of the relevant landowner to maintain the stretch of watercourse that runs on or under 
their land, or that is on the boundary of their land, up to its centre.  
 
Since the flooding we have had over 10km of watercourses across the Borough inspected by independent 
and accredited surveyors. No emergency work has been identified, but we have been following up some 
other points with local landowners. This has included contacting Bellway Homes to undertake some routine 
maintenance on the watercourse to the south of the site. 
 
The Environment Agency has given Bellway Homes a permit to discharge, which requires them to adhere to 
certain conditions, particularly in terms of water quality. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/ 
Bellway Homes/ Local 
Landowners 

In progress 

Culvert 
 
8. The culvert that runs under gardens, garages and 
drives of houses along Norton Lane is not capable 
of coping with the amount of water that travelled 
through it.  
 

We are currently undertaking survey work to better understand where the culvert runs and also what 
condition it is in. It would technically be for those who own land over the culvert to fund and arrange any 
necessary works. 

Lead Local Flood Authority 
(on behalf of local 
landowners)  

In progress 

 

P
age 64



Action Plan 

May 2018 Flood Event 

LLFA – Lead Local Flood Authority STW – Severn Trent Water SCH – Solihull Community Housing 

LHA – Local Highway Authority  WMFS – West Midlands Fire Service EA – Environment Agency 

CSW – Emergency Planning 

Action 

No 

Highlighted Issues Recommendation Status Notes Owner 

Knowing when and where it will flood 

1 There is a need to obtain better 

information relating to how the River 

Blythe and River Cole catchments 

respond  during extreme weather. 

Work with partners to investigate the 

installation of a network of gauges that 

could provide better data and facilitate 

a warning process to those at risk. 

In Progress Officers have agreed the 

installation of two gauges on 

the River Blythe and its 

tributaries. Work to install 

such devices on the River 

Cole and its tributaries is in 

progress. 

LLFA/EA 

2 There is a need to update and obtain 

more detailed flood risk mapping of 

across areas that were affected by the 

flooding in May. 

LLFA to commission detailed modelling 

of various tributaries of the River Blythe 

and River Cole to better understand 

flood risk and in order to inform future 

options appraisals. 

LLFA to commission surface water 

models of various locations to better 

understand flood risk and in order to 

inform future options appraisals. 

In Progress Officers have commissioned 

detailed modelling of the 

River Blythe and the River 

Cole, along with their 

tributaries. 

Officers have commissioned 

detailed surface water flood 

modelling for areas that were 

affected by flooding in 

Hockley Heath, Olton and 

Solihull Lodge.  

LLFA 

3 Accuracy of forecasting The nature and intensity of the event 

could not be predicted. Consideration 

could be given to putting a 

‘Thunderstorm Plan’ in place. 

In Progress The Environment Agency is 

looking at whether a plan 

could be adopted for the 

West Midlands. 

EA 

Appendix M

P
age 65



Action 

No 

Highlighted Issues Recommendation Status Notes Owner 

Being rescued and cared for during an emergency 

4 Communication and information sharing 

between partners on the ground at the 

time of the event could be improved. 

Revision of the West Midlands Local 

Resilience Forum internal procedures. 

In Progress LRF 

Reducing the risk of flooding and its impact 

5 Condition of Ordinary Watercourses in 

areas that experienced flooding. 

Inspections of Ordinary Watercourses to 

be undertaken. 

Complete The Council commissioned 

RAB Consulting to undertake 

formal inspections of 

approximately 10km of 

ordinary watercourses and 

have since written to those 

landowners where any 

consenting or enforcement 

work has been identified.  

LLFA 

6 Condition of Main Rivers in areas that 

experienced flooding. 

Inspections of Main Rivers to be 

undertaken. 

Complete The Environment Agency 

inspected the River Blythe 

and those parts of the Mount 

Brook that have Main River 

status.  

Environment 

Agency 

7 Condition of highway drainage assets. Inspections and cleansing of highway 

drainage assets across affected areas to 

be undertaken. 

Complete Tanker Services have 

undertaken an additional 

XXXX gully cleanses across 

affected areas. Officers have 

also inspected associated 

pipework and have raised 

works orders for defect 

repairs where necessary. 

LHA 

8 Condition and performance of flood risk 

attenuation features on new and 

existing housing  sites. 

Inspections of flood risk attenuation 

features to be undertaken on new and 

existing housing sites. 

Complete Officers have inspected and 

surveyed attenuation 

features on development 

sites in areas that 

experienced flooding. 

LLFA 

P
age 66



Action 

No 

Highlighted Issues Recommendation Status Notes Owner 

9 Unknown condition of culverted 

watercourses or other assets. 

LLFA to commission detailed CCTV 

inspections and mapping of culverted 

watercourses or other assets or obtain 

records from third parties such as the 

Canal and River Trust. 

In Progress The majority of CCTV 

inspections have been 

undertaken of key assets and 

records obtained from 

partner agencies where 

appropriate. The remaining 

assets have been scheduled 

for inspection. 

LLFA 

10 Funding needs to be obtained to install 

measures that can reduce the risk of 

future flooding at locations that were 

affected in May 2018.  

Officers to submit proposals for project 

funding to DEFRA, through the 

Environment Agency. 

In Progress Officers have submitted 

preliminary proposals for 

funding for five potential 

schemes. 

LLFA 

11 Options need to be considered for 

measures that can reduce the risk of 

future flooding at locations that were 

affected in May 2018. 

Officers to obtain initial assessments of 

potential future schemes through the 

Environment Agency.  

In Progress Officers have requested initial 

assessments be undertaken 

to determine economic and 

technical feasibility of various 

options at each location. 

LLFA 

12 To review policies and plans to ensure 

that they offer as much protection and 

support to those communities at risk of 

flooding.  

Officers to review existing policies in 

Solihull’s Local Plan to ensure that new 

development can play its part in helping 

to reduce the risk of flooding and its 

impact. 

Officers to consider the designation of 

Critical Drainage Areas where relevant 

across the Borough. 

In Progress Officers have previously 

undertaken work with the 

Council’s Planning Policy 

Team and supported by the 

Environment Agency  to 

ensure that appropriate 

policies are in place for the 

next Local Plan period. 

Officers are currently 

discussing the designation of 

Critical Drainage Areas with 

the Environment Agency. 

LLFA 

LLFA/EA 

P
age 67



Action 

No 

Highlighted Issues Recommendation Status Notes Owner 

Better advice and helping people to protect their families and homes 

13 Properties were affected by vehicles 

driving through roads causing bow 

waves. 

Consideration should be given to how 

communities can safely help 

themselves, e.g. through the provision 

of road closure signage and equipment. 

In Progress LHA/CSW 

14 Opportunity to co-ordinate local 

residents so that they can help 

themselves 

Creation of local flood action groups In Progress LLFA/CSW/ 

EA/STW 

Recovery 

15 Need to provide on-going support to 

those affected by the flooding over a 

longer period of time. For example, 

residents were unaware of the 

questions that they would have in the 

future. 

Clear signposting to the various forms of 

support and advice that can be obtained 

after an event. Use of follow up 

community events to give an 

opportunity for those affected to seek 

help. 

In Progress LLFA/CSW/ 

EA/STW 

P
age 68



Property Level Resistance and Resilience 

Appendix N

P
age 69



Avoidance 

One example of avoidance is through the construction of upstream storage. Such storage helps to attenuate incoming flows so that 
they can be accommodated within the downstream channel and helps to delay the timing of a flood, with volume discharged over a 
longer time period.  The storage is either usually online or offline, as shown below. 

Example of an online storage feature Example of an offline storage feature 

Flood Defences 

Examples of flood defences would be a flood wall or earth embankment. 

Example of a flood wall Example of a flood embankment 

P
age 70



Where would the money come from for any future project? 

Examples of sources of funding for the delivery of projects that reduce the risk of flooding to 
properties are set out in the sections below. With each, there are various criteria that need to be met, 
typically around the cost and benefit of the work. 

National Funding 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid Partnership Funding 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid (FCERM GiA) is the main capital budget 
set aside by central government for flood defence projects across England.  

FCERM GiA can be applied for by the Environment Agency, Local Authorities, Internal Drainage 
Boards (IDBs), Highway Authorities and Water Companies, to deliver projects that they are 
managing. Local communities and flood action groups can work with any of these organisations to 
develop a scheme and put in an application for funding on their behalf. Funding can be made 
available for a variety of projects ranging from substantial defences to individual property protection. 

In order for schemes to be eligible they have to be buildable, environmentally acceptable and cost 
beneficial. Schemes need to reduce the risk of flooding to homes from either surface water, ground 
water, fluvial or coastal sources. In the cases of schemes from Highway or Water Companies, only 
the costs associated with reducing flood risk for which they are not responsible are eligible for 
funding.  

All viable and cost beneficial projects are able to secure some FCERM GiA funding, however not all 
projects will be able to secure 100% funding from this source. The amount of the project funding 
available from FCERM GiA is dependent on three factors:  

• The value of benefits for householders as a result of the project, simply expressed as the
number of homes which are moved from a high level of flood risk to a lower level of flood risk;

• The value of other benefits of the project such as: the benefits to business, agricultural
productivity and protection for critical infrastructure;

• The environmental benefits of the project.

Where GIA does not cover all of the costs of a potential project then we may need to apply for extra 
money through partnership funding. 

Anyone who will benefit from a project can be a partner, such as: 

• local communities
• businesses
• developers
• local authorities

As the lead organisation we develop and fund the initial business case if we want to apply for 
partnership funding. 

Appendix O

Page 71



 

Regional Funding  
 
Local Levy  
 
Local Levy is an additional, locally sources, form of income raised by the Regional Flood and Coastal 
Committee. It is raised by way of a levy (precept) on County and Metropolitan Councils, Unitary 
Authorities and London Boroughs, shared on the basis of Band D equivalents between all 
contributing bodies within the area of each RFCC. Money raised through Local Levy counts as a 
local contribution in terms of the FCERM GiA process, even though the levy is supported by funding 
through the Department of Communities and Local Government. Subject to committee approval, 
Local Levy is used for flood risk management projects that are not considered to be national priorities 
and which do not attract full funding through either FCERM GiA. 
 
Annually, each RFCC sets the level of Local Levy funding that LLFAs will contribute in the following 
year. Local Levy funds can be carried over from one year to the next. Solihull Council contributes 
approximately £83,000 annually to the Severn and Trent committees combined. Whilst not a direct 
match, the Council receives income from central government via the formula grant to cover this 
contribution.  
 

Local and Other Funding Sources  
 
Depending on the shortfall from FCERM GiA and the number of schemes competing for the RFCC’s 
allocation, it is possible that the Local Levy will not solely provide all the required funding for a 
scheme and therefore other measures could be explored in the future if necessary. The following are 
examples of such measures:  
 
Section 106 agreements  
 
Under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Local Authorities can set Planning 
Obligations for developers. These are legally binding obligations that are attached to a piece of land 
and are registered as local land charges against that piece of land. These obligations enable a Local 
Authority to secure contributions to services, infrastructure and amenities in order to support and 
facilitate a proposed development.  
 
‘Making Space for Water’ was produced by Defra in 2005 and identifies the Governments strategy to 
tackling flood risk over the lifetime of the strategy (20 years), One of the recommendations of ‘Making 
Space for Water’ was that local planning authorities should make more use of Section 106 
agreements to ensure that there is a strong planning policy to manage flood risk. This means that 
any flood risk which is caused by, or increased by, new development should be resolved and funded 
by the developer.  
 
Section 106 agreements can also be put in place to ensure new SuDS features will be maintained in 
the future. Funding for such maintenance will be provided in the form of a commuted sum, which will 
be paid to the adopting authority.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 
CIL was introduced in 2010 to enable Local Authorities to raise funds to provide infrastructure and 
enable development. Money collected can be used for infrastructure transport, flood defences and 
green spaces. The CIL takes over from part of the Section 106 process. It is intended to collect funds 
to deliver strategic infrastructure that is not specifically related to the development site.  
 

Page 72



Solihull Council has recently implemented a CIL. It is intended that this will be available to fund 
projects that are part of the Council’s flood risk management works and Green Infrastructure.  
 
 
Private Contributions 
 
Landowners and local residents in some circumstances may be willing to contribute funds to flood 
risk management where they can see a direct benefit to reducing their flood risk or improving their 
land drainage. 
 

What is the approval process for any future project? 
 
1. Project Proposal  
 
The first step in delivering any project to reduce the risk of flooding is to submit a project proposal 
through the Environment Agency so that it can be included in the programme of flood and coastal 
management schemes.  
 
In order to submit a proposal, we need to know some key bits of information, such as how many 
households will benefit from a project and about the area that will benefit. We also need to 
understand any environmental and financial benefits. 
 
Outline project proposals have been submitted by the Lead Local Flood Authority for Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid Partnership Funding for future potential 
projects covering those areas affected by the flooding on 27th May.  
 
2. Develop a business case 
 
This stage identifies the preferred approach to reduce the risk of flood or coastal erosion. The 
outcome of the appraisal process is a business case for the project being developed. 
 
HM Treasury provides the funding for FCERM. This means that all projects to be funded from public 
money have to include a project appraisal in line with the requirements of the Treasury. 
 
The appraisal is intended to identify the most cost beneficial solution to the problem and the 
justification for the most appropriate and preferred option. It is important to note that funding and 
affordability should not unduly influence this process to avoid early compromise in options 
identification. Affordability and different sources of funding may however influence the final options 
choice and investment decision. 

3. Application  

An application is made at this stage to undertake an FCERM scheme.  

4. Getting technical approval 

Applications are reviewed by the Environment Agency at this stage. The review provides assurance 
that the project: 

• is good value for money 
• can be completed within the budget and time stated in the business case 

Page 73



5. Get financial approval 

When the project has been assured the Environment Agency will submit the application and the 
assurance review record for financial approval. 

Once approved, we can apply for interim and final capital grant payments. 

Page 74



 

 
 

Meeting date: 31st January 2019 

 

Report to: Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Housing 

Subject/report 
title: 

Biodiversity Net Gain – consultation  

Report from: Assistant Director – Highways and Environment 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Jenni Blakeman – Development Officer – Ecology 
jennifer.blakeman@solihull.gov.uk  

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To approve arrangements for responding to Defra’s recent consultation on biodiversity 
net gain.  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Note the publication of the consultation by Defra; 

2.2 Note the draft response to the consultation as set out in appendix B of this report, and; 

2.3 That completion of the detailed response is delegated to the Director for Managed 
Growth & Communities in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and Housing.  

3. What is the issue? 

3.1 The government is committed to improving the environment, benefitting local 
communities and delivering sustainable development. The 25 Year Environment Plan 
sets out the government’s ambitious goals for environmental improvement, following 
through on its promise to be the first generation to leave the environment in a better 
state than it inherited it. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5

mailto:jennifer.blakeman@solihull.gov.uk


 

 
 

3.2 SMBC was a partner in the Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull Defra Biodiversity 
Offsetting pilot scheme that ran from 2012-2014. This is the only one of the pilot 
schemes that has been successful in continuing to use the Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment (BIA) Metric that was developed during the pilot. The pilot was successful 
due to the longevity of the existing Habitat Biodiversity Audit (HBA) Partnership 
(running since 1995), the strength of the data that the HBA provides and the expertise 
of the local authority ecologists. 

3.3 The latest NPPF (July 2018) changed the focus from no net loss to biodiversity to net 
gain, and this change will be reflected in Policy 10 of the Solihull Local Plan during the 
ongoing review.  

3.4 The consultation document seeks views on whether we should introduce mandatory 
requirements to the planning system in England so that development must deliver 
biodiversity net gain. It also sets out the proposed next steps for the Government’s 
longer term ambition to embed environmental net gain. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The consultation document itself is attached as an appendix A to this report. The 
document sets out 45 specific questions and appendix B sets out draft responses to 
them, with a focus on those questions which may have greater implications for 
Solihull.  

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 Where relevant, the justification for a particular response has been included in the 
response itself. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan: 

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the 
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery): 

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing – delivering high quality and well connected 

habitats and green infrastructure which is accessible to all residents and 

visitors.  

☒ Managed Growth – Deliver net gain to biodiversity alongside delivery of 

housing targets and new developments.  

☒ Build Stronger Communities -  

☐ Deliver Value -  

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 

Page 76



 

 
 

communities: 

6.2.1 None as a direct result of this report. 

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.3.1 None 

6.4 Financial implications: 

6.4.1 None as a direct result of this report. 

6.5 Legal implications: 

6.5.1 None as a direct result of this report. 

6.6 Risk implications: 

6.6.1 None as a direct result of this report. 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty: 

6.7.1 None as a direct result of this report. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

(a) Defra Net Gain to Biodiversity consultation document 

(b) Draft responses to the consultation questions 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan 

8.2 National Planning Policy Framework 

8.3 Habitat Biodiversity Audit for Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull 

8.4 Making Space for Nature: A Review of England’s Wildlife Sites and Ecological 
Network (2012) 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull Biodiversity Impact Assessment Metric V.19 

9.2 WCS Biodiversity Impact Assessment Guidance 

 

Page 77

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/land-use/net-gain/supporting_documents/netgainconsultationdocument.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/habitatbiodiversityaudit
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf
https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/biodiversityoffsetting
https://apps.warwickshire.gov.uk/api/documents/WCCC-863-791


 

Page 78



 

Net gain 
Consultation proposals 
December 2018 

Page 79



 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2018 

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence v.3. To view this licence 
visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ or 
email PSI@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk   

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications   

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 

netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk    

www.gov.uk/defra  

Page 80

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:PSI@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
mailto:netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/defra


 

 

Contents 

Foreword .............................................................................................................................. 1 

Summary ............................................................................................................................. 4 

How to respond .................................................................................................................... 8 

What are we trying to achieve? ............................................................................................ 9 

Securing positive outcomes for the environment .............................................................. 9 

Improving the process for developers ............................................................................ 10 

Creating better places for local communities .................................................................. 12 

Definitions and current practice ......................................................................................... 13 

What is net gain? ........................................................................................................... 13 

Biodiversity net gain in practice ...................................................................................... 19 

Policy proposals and questions ......................................................................................... 23 

Approaches to delivering a net gain for biodiversity ....................................................... 23 

Scope ............................................................................................................................. 25 

Measuring biodiversity .................................................................................................... 29 

Delivering biodiversity outcomes .................................................................................... 34 

Calculating and collecting the tariff ................................................................................. 37 

Delivering net gain in the planning system ..................................................................... 40 

Monitoring and evaluation .............................................................................................. 44 

Key evidence gaps ............................................................................................................ 46 

Glossary ............................................................................................................................. 48 

Annex A: List of consultation questions ............................................................................. 50 

Page 81



 

 
  1 

Foreword 
Proper stewardship of our natural world is at the heart of responsible government. Clean 
air and water, healthy trees, rivers and biodiversity are not just vital for our health - they 
are fundamental to the prosperity of future generations and to civilisation as we know it. 

Nowhere do the state of the natural world and the actions of government meet more 
regularly and more critically than in the planning system. At a time when we want to build 
more homes for growing populations1, and at a time when our natural resources are under 
pressure2, it is more important than ever that we create the right frameworks to promote 
sustainable growth.  

This document seeks views on whether we should introduce mandatory requirements to 
the planning system in England so that development must deliver biodiversity net gain. We 
also set out the proposed next steps for our longer term ambition to embed environmental 
net gain. It is my firm belief that strengthening our approach to net gain over time could 
bring countless benefits to wildlife and habitats, as well as to communities and developers.  

The increased demand for housing offers us an exciting opportunity. Applying a 
biodiversity net gain approach to national issues like house building could help deliver the 
25 Year Environment Plan’s ambition to be the first generation to leave our natural 
environment in a better state than we found it.  

We are consulting on whether to mandate that new developments must achieve a 
biodiversity net gain to be measured using the ‘Defra metric’. This could improve how the 
planning system addresses development’s impact on habitats, allowing new housing 
without negatively impacting our wildlife. If introduced, the government would need to 
carefully evaluate any mandatory biodiversity net gain policy before moving to extend its 
scope. This consultation, however, also seeks views and evidence that could help shape 
the future development of environmental net gain. The government is supporting this by 
initiating a research project to test how biodiversity net gain might be extended in future to 
cover other aspects of natural capital. By making natural assets such as clean water, 
biodiverse habitats and healthy soils more investable alongside investment in built capital, 
our prosperity will be secured, and future generations will have access to the same 
resources that we enjoy. 

If introduced, this approach could provide a more consistent framework for the businesses 
that work so hard to provide the homes and infrastructure we need for a modern economy. 

                                            
1 Government has committed to building 300,000 homes per year on average by the mid-2020s because 
insufficient housing is making it harder to rent or buy a safe, secure property and hindering companies trying 
to attract a skilled workforce,  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market   
2 Many of our most important habitats are in poor condition and the diversity and abundance of wildlife is in 
decline, http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org/Resources/tabid/82/Default.aspx, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/biodiversity-indicators-for-the-uk       

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org/Resources/tabid/82/Default.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/biodiversity-indicators-for-the-uk


 

 
  2 

Used positively the planning system can bring together developers and environmentalists 
to conserve key natural and heritage assets, as we have seen on countless occasions. By 
working collaboratively with water companies, tourism services, energy providers and 
waste experts, I have no doubt that profitable development could transform itself into a 
driving force of biodiversity enhancement. Reassured by a robust biodiversity net gain 
policy, local communities could be more confident in accepting development that delivers 
growth, jobs and amenities, while having a positive impact on local wildlife. 

Used clumsily, however, planning law can become a tedious, confusing and expensive 
hurdle for developers to avoid.  

We are seeking views on whether mandating biodiversity net gain would streamline 
planning processes and give greater clarity and certainty for developers. Varied 
environmental planning conditions across different regions have created confusion and 
resentment. We are proposing that a single, consistent national approach would reduce 
uncertainty for the environment, for the community and for the developer.  

We would work closely with local authorities to ensure that there is sufficient flexibility to 
meet local priorities whilst maintaining national consistency for developers. And we would 
also be seeking advice from the leading local authorities, such as those in Warwickshire, 
who have already successfully implemented biodiversity net gain in their local policies. 

We are seeking views on the advantages and impacts of such an approach, as well as the 
practical challenges of implementing mandatory biodiversity net gain nationally. We are 
also seeking evidence on how to bring broader aspects of natural capital into a net gain 
approach. 

I am confident that developers, environmental NGOs, utility companies, local authorities 
and the public will respond to this consultation with constructive and challenging 
responses that ensure government does its duty to provide the homes we need, and the 
enhanced natural environment we deserve. 

We will continue to work with the devolved administrations to deliver a sensible national 
framework. This consultation is focused on tackling planning law in England, but the 
United Kingdom has a shared goal to protect our natural heritage.  

  

Page 83



 

 
  3 

It is my profound hope that we will use the opportunity presented by leaving the EU to 
become a world leader in environmental excellence and that we use this opportunity to set 
world-leading standards on everything from environmental land management to a 
sustainable construction industry. By using rigorous scientific and financial metrics 
alongside strengthened legal principles, we can show that economic growth and a healthy 
environment are not only natural partners but the building blocks for true prosperity. 

 
The Rt Hon Michael Gove MP  

 

 

Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

  

Page 84



 

 
  4 

Summary 
The government is committed to improving the environment, benefitting local communities 
and delivering sustainable development. The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out the 
government’s ambitious goals for environmental improvement, following through on our 
promise to be the first generation to leave the environment in a better state than we 
inherited it.  

This consultation delivers on an action we set out in the 25 Year Environment Plan. In the 
Plan we set out our ambition to embed an environmental net gain approach in the planning 
system in England, and that we would consult on whether to mandate biodiversity net gain.  

Mandating biodiversity net gain could improve the planning system. We want to test and 
seek further evidence for this assumption through this consultation. 

The first part of this consultation sets out the objectives of net gain policy for the 
environment, development and local communities. An effective net gain policy could 
enable us to build the houses, commercial premises and local infrastructure we need and 
at the same time improve our environment by more than compensating for biodiversity loss 
where it cannot be avoided or mitigated. A stronger requirement to protect and enhance 
the environment through development could increase habitat for wildlife species. Clear and 
consistent processes for developers could support housebuilding and other construction, 
helping developers to get their planning applications right the first time. Greener 
developments with access to local natural spaces will be more pleasant and healthier 
places to live and work, and habitats delivered for wildlife through biodiversity net gain 
could deliver wider social and economic benefits. 

The second part of the consultation examines the core concepts of biodiversity net gain 
and environmental net gains. It describes how biodiversity net gain is set out in planning 
policy and where it is currently practised by local planners, developers and infrastructure 
providers. We have an ambition that, in addition to biodiversity enhancements, 
development will deliver wider environmental benefits in the future.  Therefore, as well as 
delivering biodiversity net gain in local planning we want, over time, to identify an effective 
broader environmental net gain approach delivering resilient and sustainable development, 
which can be granted planning permission with greater local acceptance and less cause 
for delay. We recognise that developing such an approach is complex and it may be that 
the net gain approach used for biodiversity is not the best way to deliver all wider 
environmental improvement objectives. At this stage we are seeking evidence on what 
aspects of natural capital should be considered and the options we should consider in 
developing an environmental net gain approach. 

Page 85



 

 
  5 

The third part of the consultation seeks views on whether to mandate biodiversity net gain 
for development requiring planning permission3. We propose a new standardised 
approach to biodiversity net gain that is designed to be simpler and clearer for all 
stakeholders to use while delivering measurable, verifiable net gains for nature. Net gain 
for biodiversity should seek firstly to avoid and mitigate against environmental damage. It 
will operate alongside existing planning policy to ensure that current environmental 
standards, including the existing protections for habitats such as ancient woodland, 
species and designated sites, are maintained and implemented. To achieve biodiversity 
net gain and compensate for biodiversity loss, habitats should be created or enhanced, 
preferably as part of the same development or nearby. This will maintain habitat 
connectivity, avoid the erosion of nature in any single area and benefit communities 
affected by development. Where suitable local compensation opportunities are not 
available, however, we are proposing that a tariff could be paid so that biodiversity net gain 
can be achieved without delaying development. A tariff could fund habitats for both 
strategic and local biodiversity priorities, whilst achieving biodiversity net gain overall.      

This part of this consultation also seeks views on how best to implement biodiversity net 
gain, including the most appropriate measurement, delivery and monitoring mechanisms to 
ensure it delivers high quality places and reduces uncertainty and unnecessary processes 
for local planning authorities and developers. We are also seeking views on how to better 
integrate species into a biodiversity net gain approach, where this would benefit the 
conservation of a species, and how to move from net gain for biodiversity to broader 
environmental net gain in future. 

Considering the evidence received through the consultation will be key to delivering 
biodiversity net gain successfully, and achieving the most for the environment and 
developments. Submitted views and evidence on wider environmental net gain will help to 
shape future refinements to planning policy and guidance. 

We will engage with stakeholders alongside consultation to test the opportunities and 
challenges presented. The evidence received through consultation will be key to 
understanding whether these proposals will deliver the benefits described, and enable us 
to deliver an effective policy on biodiversity net gain which enhances the environment, 
supports development and benefits local communities. 

  

                                            
3 Nationally significant infrastructure or other development not requiring planning permission is not in scope. 
House extensions are not in scope of our mandatory proposals.  

Page 86



 

 
  6 

Biodiversity net gain in the planning system: core proposals and 
objectives 

Our proposal is that biodiversity net gain will be delivered within the existing planning and 
development process. This summary is illustrated in the infographic that follows. 

When assessing potential development sites, habitat surveys will identify habitats and their 
condition as is already done for much development. Surveys help identify opportunities for 
enhancement as part of green infrastructure as well as possible constraints. 

Development design will proceed as normal, but better informed by figures for biodiversity 
losses and gains. A standard biodiversity metric will be populated with habitat information 
from the site assessment and landscape plans. This will help demonstrate at an early 
stage that harm has been avoided as far as possible and that new green infrastructure will 
be of good environmental quality. The metric could also help to anticipate the costs of 
achieving net gain to factor these into land purchase where possible.  No existing planning 
protection for the environment will be weakened and the principle of avoiding harm first 
(known as the “mitigation hierarchy”) will continue to ensure that preventing damage to 
nature will always be prioritised, wherever possible. 

If net gain cannot be achieved on site, the metric would provide the right information to 
discuss habitat enhancement or creation with local providers or with the local authority 
during pre-application negotiations. The tariff rate would offer a guide for the upper limit of 
habitat compensation costs, alongside information from growing habitat creation markets. 

When preparing local plans, local authorities are able to identify opportunities for habitat 
improvement that would benefit local people and support nature recovery. They would be 
able to choose to bring improvement sites forward themselves or work with other 
providers. 

When developers and local planning authorities are consulting with the local community 
prior to submitting a planning application, it will be possible to use biodiversity net gain 
figures and habitat enhancement measures to explain the benefits and costs of a 
development proposal more transparently.  

With clearer expectations, developers will be able to submit planning applications with 
greater confidence that proposals can be supported on biodiversity grounds. 

For local authorities, transparent figures for biodiversity losses and gains can be quickly 
checked and provide confidence that impacts will be positive. Figures will also indicate the 
environmental quality of green infrastructure as part of development design. 

As part of the planning permission, developers would sign up to predictable conditions, 
obligations or a tariff payment to secure biodiversity net gain. The availability of a tariff 
would prevent planning permission from being delayed by net gain requirements, and local 
authorities will be able to demonstrate that positive impacts to help improve the 
environment for local communities have been secured. 

Page 87



 

 
  7 

 

Page 88



 

 
  8 

How to respond 
Consultation questions are included in “Policy proposals and questions” and at “Annex A” 
at the end of this document. 

Please respond by 10 February 2019.  

Please respond through the online survey (Citizen Space) accessible via Gov.uk  

Responses can also be sent by email to netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk or by post, 
specifying which question(s) you are responding to:  

Net Gain Consultation  
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs  
First Floor, Seacole Block  
2 Marsham Street  
London, SW1P 4DF  

This consultation is in line with the government’s Consultation Principles. This can be 
found at www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/resource-library/consultation-principles-guidance. 

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond.  

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes these are 
primarily the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIRs), the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA). We have 
obligations, mainly under the EIRs, FOIA and DPA, to disclose information to particular 
recipients or to the public in certain circumstances.  

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality 
can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated 
by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.  
If you have any comments or complaints about the consultation process, please address 
them to:  
Consultation Coordinator  
Area 1C, 1st Floor Nobel House  
17 Smith Square,  
London, SW1P 3JR.  
 
Or email: consultation.coordinator@defra.gsi.gov.uk    

Page 89

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/resource-library/consultation-principles-guidance
mailto:consultation.coordinator@defra.gsi.gov.uk


 

 
  9 

What are we trying to achieve? 

Securing positive outcomes for the environment 
Mandating biodiversity net gain could ensure that new development enhances the 
environment, contributes to our ecological networks and conserves our precious 
landscapes. A mandatory approach could be an important early step towards meeting our 
25-Year Plan goal for thriving plants and wildlife. 

Successful implementation of biodiversity net gain would restore and create high-quality 
habitats that can provide a home for a diverse range of species and build resilience to 
climate change. We will identify opportunities for biodiversity net gain to contribute to the 
Nature Recovery Network and enhance local networks, helping to create ‘more, bigger, 
better and more-joined up habitats’ as recommended by Sir John Lawton’s review for 
government, Making Space for Nature.4 We will explore how new data, tools and 
strategies can help identify potential areas for habitat enhancement and creation that help 
meet the needs of local communities and secure multiple positive environmental 
outcomes. Creation of floodplain marsh or upstream woodland, for example, can protect 
communities from flooding. 

At the moment, many of the hidden environmental costs of development (such as 
biodiversity loss, carbon emissions, unsustainable water use, and worsening air quality) 
are not considered systematically, with no mechanisms to compensate for the harm to 
nature, communities and future generations. Nor are the benefits of creating greener 
developments properly understood. Net gain approaches could help to redress the 
balance and provide clear mechanisms and opportunities for developers to leave a 
positive legacy of environmental enhancement. 

 

                                            
4 Lawton, Professor Sir John (2010), Making Space for Nature: A review of England’s Wildlife Sites and 
Ecological Network,  
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiver
sity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf.  

Page 90

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf


 

 
  10 

Improving the process for developers 

It is important that any approach to mandatory biodiversity net gain helps to support 
housing delivery and wider development by standardising requirements in the planning 
process (see Figure 1 which illustrates the potential process advantages described in this 
section). Introducing a transparent and consistent requirement could provide certainty, 
allowing developers to factor in obligations up front so that more accurate estimates of 
land values can be made at the point of purchase. This certainty will also allow developers 
to plan accurately at an early design stage, avoiding the need for additional surveys, 
uncertainty over obligations or protracted negotiations with local planning authorities. We 
know from the strategic approach taken for specific species such as great crested newts 
that streamlining and clarifying requirements at an earlier stage has great potential to 
reduce the time taken for developers to secure necessary consents, de-risk processes and 
deliver high standards. 

Developments that better incorporate nature will be more attractive through successful 
place making, potentially invoking less opposition locally5. We expect that opportunities for 
environmental enhancement will make development in the right places easier. In time, a 
wider approach to net gain could have the potential to help assuage many more of the 
most common environmental objections to development, enabling developers to assure 
communities upfront that their environmental concerns have been addressed.  

Several major developers and planning authorities already set specific biodiversity net gain 
requirements, recognising the additional benefits delivered from creating greener 
developments that make better places to live and are easier to sell. We are taking lessons 
and feedback from these sector leaders to inform the development of our proposed 
mandatory approach. A standardised requirement for biodiversity net gain, applied equally 
to all development within scope, could create a level playing-field for developers. In this 
consultation, we are seeking further views and evidence from those in the development 
sector on potential costs and benefits of this approach, see “Impact on developers” section 
and “Key evidence gaps”. Any policy on mandatory biodiversity net gain will take into 
account the responses to this consultation and targeted stakeholder engagement that is 
undertaken during consultation. 

The government will only mandate biodiversity net get if it is satisfied that it will deliver 
benefits for development, including greater certainty and process cost savings. 

                                            
5 Bramley, G. (2011), ‘Housing: Homes, planning and changing policies’ in National Centre for Social 
Research, British Social Attitudes: 28, http://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/38952/bsa28_8housing.pdf.  

Page 91

http://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/38952/bsa28_8housing.pdf


 

 
  11 

Figure 1: Selected benefits of net gain at a development scale 

 

Page 92



 

 
  12 

Creating better places for local communities  
Successful implementation of biodiversity net gain would help to drive better delivery of 
local plans and place making. It would stimulate improvements in the design quality of 
residential developments. The provision of environmental amenities, such as high-quality 
and biodiverse urban woodlands, green spaces and parks, will create better places to live 
and work.  

Biodiversity net gain, in combination with future Green Infrastructure Standards, has the 
potential to ensure that an increasing proportion of new homes have access to natural 
spaces and wildlife within walking distance. This brings health and wellbeing benefits, 
particularly to urban and suburban areas where high-quality and accessible green 
infrastructure can be scarce, contributing to poor mental and physical health; access to 
public green space is an important factor in connecting people with nature and tackling 
obesity6. There is a growing body of evidence suggesting that living in greener 
environments is associated with reduced mortality7.  

Where it is not possible or appropriate to deliver biodiversity net gain on a development 
site, we would propose that opportunities to achieve biodiversity net gain in the wider local 
area, including on local sites for nature should be explored, taking into account the 
potential community benefits from improved access to nature. This would ensure that 
people living in areas of high development receive the associated environmental benefits 
as much as possible before environmental enhancement further afield is targeted. 
Strategic investment of tariff revenue could help to create bigger, better and more 
connected natural spaces for communities to enjoy when suitable local habitat investment 
opportunities are not available.  

A broader environmental net gain approach which helps to deliver cleaner air and water, 
increased flood resilience and greater energy efficiency could have the potential, in time, 
to transform our environment and support healthier lives. 

  

                                            
6 Lachowycz, K. and Jones, A. P. (2011), Greenspace and obesity: a systematic review of the evidence, 
Obesity Reviews: 12 (5), http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/wol1/doi/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00827.x/full    
7 Gascon et al. (2016), Residential green spaces and mortality: A systematic review, Environment International: 
86, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160412015300799  

Page 93

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/wol1/doi/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00827.x/full
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160412015300799


 

 
  13 

Definitions and current practice 

What is net gain?  
Net gain is an approach to development that aims to leave the natural environment in a 
measurably better state than beforehand. This means protecting existing habitats and 
ensuring that lost or degraded environmental features are compensated for by restoring or 
creating environmental features that are of greater value to wildlife and people. It does not 
change the fact that losses should be avoided where possible, a key part of adhering to a 
core environmental planning principle called the mitigation hierarchy8. Net gain is not a 
new concept. Several countries around the world have already adopted biodiversity net 
gain policies9 and net gain for biodiversity is already supported through national planning 
policy10. 

Many developers and local planning authorities (LPAs) already provide environmental 
improvements through well-designed development, but do not measure losses and gains 
and so do not make claims of biodiversity or environmental net gain. Some developers are 
going further to measure and ensure that each development enhances biodiversity. 
Mandating biodiversity net gain could provide the incentive and consistency in approach 
for other developers to deliver gains for the natural environment, improving wildlife habitats 
in quality or extent. 

Biodiversity net gain  

Development that adopts a biodiversity net gain approach seeks to make its impact on the 
environment positive, delivering improvements through habitat creation or enhancement 
after avoiding or mitigating harm as far as possible. Based on a standardised approach, 
biodiversity net gain delivers measurable improvements by comparing habitat losses and 
gains and steering mitigation and compensation accordingly. New or enhanced habitats 
can help deliver local and national biodiversity priorities such as the Nature Recovery 
Network and local strategies for nature, including green infrastructure strategies. 

  

                                            
8 The mitigation hierarchy is supported in the NPPF and described in “Policy proposals and questions” and in 
the glossary. 
9 International habitat compensation schemes include the Wetlands Compensatory Mitigation and 
Conservation Banks in the United States and BioBanking in New South Wales, Australia.  
10 NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning policies and decisions should minimise impacts on and provide 
net gains for biodiversity; paragraph 174 requires plans to pursue opportunities for securing measurable net 
gains; paragraph 175 requires planning decisions to encourage biodiversity improvements in and around 
developments and paragraph 118 states that the planning system should take opportunities to secure net 
environmental gains.  

Page 94



 

 
  14 

True measures of biodiversity, a term meaning the diversity of life, are complex and no 
single metric or number can summarise biodiversity’s many qualities, benefits and 
characteristics. Established biodiversity net gain approaches use habitats as a proxy for 
biodiversity in a given area; this approach recognises that a mixture of connected high-
quality habitats will support a wide range of plants, animals, fungi and microorganisms. 
Using habitats as a proxy measure, together with appropriate ecological advice, makes it 
more practical for LPAs and developers to agree on the biodiversity losses or gains due to 
a development. 

The origin of biodiversity net gain approaches, and lessons from biodiversity 
offsetting 

Government has previously considered how losses of nature through development can be 
stopped and habitats enhanced. Defra ran six ‘biodiversity offsetting pilots’ between 2012 
and 2014. The pilots contributed to our understanding of biodiversity measurement and 
policy. Elements of the pilots’ actions are ongoing, including biodiversity net gain policies 
implemented in areas such as Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull. The pilots’ evaluation, 
however, found that a voluntary approach was not sufficient to deliver net environmental 
benefits or a level playing field for developers. We have also listened to concerns that 
delivering genuine environmental benefits cannot be achieved if the easiest or cheapest 
option is for development to pay its way out of any obligations, meaning that the mitigation 
hierarchy is undermined. 

The Defra metric 

A metric helps to measure biodiversity losses and gains in a more transparent and 
verifiable way and provides a common reference point for agreement between a developer 
and an LPA. In 2012 Defra and Natural England developed a biodiversity metric to support 
the biodiversity offsetting pilots. The project looked at how the creation of new habitat 
could be used to compensate for developments with a negative overall impact on 
biodiversity. The metric enables practitioners to calculate the losses and gains by 
assessing habitat: 

• Distinctiveness: whether the habitat is of high, medium or low value to wildlife.  

• Condition: whether the habitat is a good example of its type. 

• Extent: the area, in hectares or kilometres (depending on habitat types), that the 
habitat occupies. 

The information needed to populate the metric should be included in ecological 
assessments before development11 and for the habitats proposed after development. The 

                                            
11 An extended Phase 1 survey is the initial ‘walk over’ by a professional ecologist, mapping key habitats and 
features and checking whether protected species may be present. This is usually sufficient best practice to 
ensure planning policy and legal biodiversity requirements are assessed as early as possible in the 
development process. It is used to inform the need for further more detailed surveys, including for protected 
species. 

Page 95



 

 
  15 

metric translates some of this information into biodiversity units. To achieve net gain, a 
development must have a higher biodiversity unit score after development than before 
development.  

This original Defra metric has been adopted and adapted by a range of planning 
authorities and developers to help to calculate biodiversity losses and gains. Natural 
England are updating the Defra metric in collaboration with the Environment Agency and a 
wide range of external stakeholders (see the box below, “Defra Metric 2.0” for details).  

No metric will be able to take every detail and characteristic of biodiversity into account or 
deliver guarantees that all wildlife species will benefit; for this reason, individual wildlife 
species are not directly accounted for in the core biodiversity metric.  

The value of habitats to legally protected species is measured in other ways, largely 
through appropriate qualitative assessment, though more objective approaches are 
emerging such as those being developed for great crested newts. It is anticipated that the 
quality and robustness of such tools will improve as they evolve. 

Defra Metric 2.0 

The Defra metric 2.0 will be a freely available update to the current Defra biodiversity 
metric that Natural England will be testing with stakeholders alongside this consultation12. 
Designed to address some of the known shortcomings with the original metric, the updated 
version will incorporate a number of new features, and a downloadable tool will simplify the 
calculation process by automating the metric calculations. It will allow for on-site 
biodiversity net gain calculations as well as calculations to determine the contribution of 
compensatory habitat off site. 

Defra metric 2.0 will continue to be habitat focussed and retain the same core approach to 
calculating biodiversity unit value as the original metric. It will now, however, flexibly 
incorporate green infrastructure features (such as green roofs and street trees) and rivers 
into the metric and allow for greater sensitivity of habitat condition and distinctiveness 
scoring. It will also include measures to take better account of spatial factors, including an 
updated ecological connectivity component. 

Defra metric 2.0 will provide consistency in habitat classification across local authority 
boundaries. Users will be able to copy and paste GIS13 data, where available, directly into 
the tool. We will consider whether, in the longer term, we might want to bring the metric 
into a web-based portal to make its use even simpler for users and planning authorities. 

 
  

                                            
12 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6020204538888192 
13 Geographic Information Systems allow sites and habitats to be mapped digitally, providing greater accuracy 
and a more transparent means of showing where important habitats are on a site. They can also help to greatly 
speed up the process of surveying on large or complex sites. 

Page 96

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6020204538888192


 

 
  16 

Environmental net gain 

At this stage, government is only considering mandatory implementation of net gain for 
biodiversity, but our longer term commitment is to embed wider environmental net gain 
principles in development. Our approach would be determined following evaluation of the 
impacts and lessons learned from the implementation of any biodiversity net gain policy, 
making sure that the government’s overall approach supports the environment, 
development and the planning system. 

Biodiversity net gain would increase the quality and amount of habitat for wildlife that is 
delivered through development, but we want to go further and explore how we can develop  
approaches which also take account of benefits from, and impacts on, natural capital (see 
Figure 2). A development that enhances biodiversity and these wider aspects could be 
considered to be delivering environmental net gains. 

Figure 2 – The potential for environmental net gain in development. The distinctions made 
in this table are not clear cut in theoretical or academic terms, but are helpful to illustrate 
the potential scope for environmental net gains in development. Examples of what might be 
measured in practice are likely to vary for marine development, and for non-development 
application of net gain (neither of which are within the scope of this consultation). 
 

Examples of what might be 
measured in practice 

Environmental Natural capital 
stocks: natural 
assets, 
including 
biodiversity 
assets such as 
terrestrial and 
aquatic habitats 
or species 
diversity which 
underpin the 
assets’ capacity 
to deliver 
ecosystem 
services. 
 

Biodiversity: 
habitats and the 
wildlife species 
they support. 

Wildlife habitats (as measured 
by the Defra biodiversity metric) 
Protected species’ habitats / 
populations  

Ecosystem 
services: the 
capacity of 
habitats, and the 
wildlife they 
support, to 
provide wider 
ecosystem and 
cultural services. 

Water quality regulation 
Air quality regulation 
Places for recreation 
Carbon storage and 
sequestration 
Flood water regulation 
Wildlife for enjoyment and 
appreciation 

Natural capital pressures: direct 
and indirect pressures on national 
and international natural capital 
stocks. 

Energy efficiency 
Water efficiency 
Transport efficiency 
Waste and recycling efficiency 
Construction materials and 
processes 
Light and noise pollution 
Recreation impacts on protected 
sites 

Page 97



 

 
  17 

Net gain for biodiversity must remain the core requirement of natural capital and 
environmental net gain approaches – the social, environmental and economic value of 
natural capital is underpinned by biodiversity and these assets cannot be enhanced unless 
they are made resilient as part of functioning and healthy ecological networks. Simply put, 
the loss of biodiversity places all of the benefits we receive from nature at greater risk of 
decline or even collapse. This consultation therefore focusses on whether the government 
should introduce mandatory biodiversity net gain. However, we would also value 
responses that help us to gather evidence as to how wider environmental impacts could be 
measured and addressed in any future environmental net gain approach (also see 
“Ambitions for wider environmental net gain” section). 

Development can affect natural capital in two broad ways: 

• Direct loss or gain of natural capital: By changing the areas of various habitats we 
also change the benefits that this natural capital can provide for people. For 
example, an increase in woodland could provide benefits such as carbon capture, 
recreation or flood risk reduction. 

• Indirect impacts on natural capital: By changing the pressures placed on natural 
capital by new development we also affect wider natural capital stocks. For 
example, a new home that is water efficient might exert a smaller pressure on rivers 
and other water bodies and might contribute to reducing the impact of droughts. 

Both of these types of impacts should be addressed in environmental net gain 
approaches, but progress towards such a wide ambition needs to be made at a rate that, 
whilst being ambitious, minimises risks to the environment and does not inhibit the timely 
and cost-effective delivery of much-needed development. 

The assessment of natural capital net gain, which encompasses biodiversity net gain and 
the enhancement of assets which deliver ecosystem services, can be complex and is an 
evolving science. We will continue to engage with stakeholders to address key policy 
questions including: 

• Whether, or where, trade-offs between individual benefits from natural capital, 
excluding biodiversity, should be permissible (i.e. could we trade between flood risk 
reduction and air quality improvement?), 

• whether natural capital net gain is best achieved through explicit measurement at 
the development level, or by more effectively taking natural capital into account in 
spatial planning, 

• whether certain assets or benefits should be prioritised over others depending on 
the location (e.g. to give a higher weighting to natural flood risk mitigation measures 
upstream of flood risk zones),  

• whether ‘assets’ or ‘benefits from assets’ should be considered in a metric (i.e. is a 
woodland more valuable because more people use it?), and 

• how total net gains could be achieved across diverse measures of natural capital 
benefits (i.e. could we add units of reduced flood risk to units of air quality to 
calculate a net gain overall?).  

Page 98



 

 
  18 

Once we have a clear understanding of these complexities, we will be able to consider 
options for using net gain to address the remaining considerable hidden costs for 
communities, society and future generations that are not often accounted for, or 
compensated, currently. Robust assessment of natural capital net gain will require the 
development and improvement of data, tools and metrics. We recognise the significant 
social benefits that might come from explicitly targeting such improvements and are 
contributing to the progression of these tools and approaches. As part of this work, Defra 
and Natural England are developing (with academia, industry and planning authorities) a 
new tool called an ‘eco-metric’ which aims to measure the ability of habitats to deliver 
ecosystem services. The eco-metric is currently being tested to see how well it measures 
change in benefits from natural capital, and what proportion of these benefits would be 
delivered through the biodiversity net gain approach at its core. If successful, it will provide 
a freely available tool for assessing both biodiversity and broader natural capital net gains. 

It is still uncertain how net gains against some of the “Natural capital pressures” (see 
Figure 2) aspects might be defined. For example, a net gain in water efficiency might 
mean an improvement on the current average water efficiency of homes, or it might mean 
exceeding standards or targets for new development. What this might mean for various 
types of commercial or industrial development is not yet clear. 

Many of these components of net gains for “Natural capital pressures” are already targeted 
through planning policy, building regulations and government strategies. For example, the 
Buildings Mission sets out to halve energy usage in new buildings by 203014. Through the 
Clean Growth Strategy, government will be working with industry to increase the amount of 
UK timber used in construction, locking in carbon, and encourage more businesses to 
support cost-effective emissions reductions, such as planting trees or making other land 
use changes.   

In deciding how to achieve environmental net gain, it will be necessary to weigh the 
considerable environmental costs to society of inaction against considerations around the 
practicalities and any costs or delays to development.  Exploring what net gain means for 
these measures, and how these measures might be adapted for voluntary application 
outside the scope of this consultation, will require further work and engagement with 
expert stakeholders and across government.  

 

                                            
14 The Industrial Strategy sets out Grand Challenges to put the UK at the forefront of the industries of the 
future, with missions to tackle these challenges. It is crucial that developments should be planned to reduce 
emissions, helping to mitigate climate change, alongside incorporating net gain of biodiversity, in line with the 
Climate Change Act 2008.  

Page 99



 

 
  19 

Biodiversity net gain in practice 

Net gain in planning policy 

Legislation requires public bodies to have regard to conserving biodiversity15, and 
biodiversity net gain is an established part of planning policy. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) has recently been revised to make clear that planning should ‘identify 
and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity’16 and LPAs 
and developers already take biodiversity into account in planning discussions and 
decisions. Biodiversity is often assessed with the support of professional ecologists who 
provide advice throughout the planning and development process to LPAs and developers. 
The quality and sensitivity of habitats and species are considered when deciding if land is 
suitable for development, and developers avoid purchasing the least suitable sites or risk 
refusal of planning permission. Developers design the layout and landscaping of 
development to avoid significant harm and provide new habitats, as part of green 
infrastructure and to provide biodiversity enhancements sought by local plans. Green 
infrastructure can include trees, hedgerows, meadows, ponds or green roofs and green 
walls. Where harm cannot be avoided then mitigation or, if necessary, compensatory 
measures for specific biodiversity impacts are negotiated and secured through planning 
conditions and legal obligations.  

This system works well to avoid the most severe impacts on biodiversity and protect the 
best sites for wildlife, but less well to manage the gradual erosion of lower value habitats. 
Cumulatively, even ‘insignificant’ losses of habitat at a development scale add up to 
significant rates of biodiversity loss overall. The approach also leaves much to be agreed 
in relatively subjective and discretionary ways – while this offers some flexibility, it can also 
result in uncertainty and costs for both developers and LPAs. Current practice enables 
some enhancement but without reliable measurement there is no way of understanding 
how much this benefits the environment and people.  

In practice, a variety of approaches are employed by the 353 local authorities in England 
which developers must navigate and adapt to. For example, some LPAs have adopted 
existing metrics to achieve biodiversity net gain, whereas others rely on local plans 
identifying habitat features or sites for conservation. Both developers and LPAs rely on 
professional advice and ecological data which can vary in quality, presentation and cost. 
Consequently, it can prove challenging to reach an agreed position around a qualitative 
technical ecological report; ultimately, both developers and people who have objected to 
an application must rely on informed but subjective reporting and conclusions. 

  

                                            
15 Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
16 Paragraph 174, NPPF  

Page 100



 

 
  20 

Some LPAs have adopted mandatory biodiversity net gain policies (see box below). This 
helps to ensure that a consistent approach is applied to development and that biodiversity 
gain can be achieved at a development and local plan level. However, there is little 
consistency in policies or approaches nationally or even between adjacent LPAs. 
Mandatory net gain for biodiversity across England would reduce inconsistency, provide 
greater certainty for developers and provide a more efficient means for LPAs to implement 
national planning policy whilst addressing local environmental priorities. 

In Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull a system has been implemented to ensure that 
development leads to no net loss of biodiversity, facilitated by Warwickshire County 
Council.   

Biodiversity impact assessments are required for all developments, providing evidence of 
the application of the mitigation hierarchy, subsequent on site compensation, and any 
residual biodiversity loss triggering biodiversity offsetting. This requirement is set out in 
LPA policy, and within the county wide Green Infrastructure Strategy. The county has 
comprehensive online mapping of ecological information, which enables both planning 
applicants and LPA strategic planners to determine the potential ecological value of a 
proposed development site. This information is also used to identify ecologically rich or 
deficient areas and the ecological linkages present or needed to join them together at a 
site, regional or national scale. 

Biodiversity impact assessments involve an ecological survey to assess the biodiversity 
value. The biodiversity impact is calculated using the Warwickshire version of the Defra 
metric.  The metric is also used to quantify the amount of offset necessary to compensate 
for any residual biodiversity loss and the mapping ensures that compensation puts “the 
right habitat in the right place.”  

Greater Manchester has expressed an ambition to be a carbon neutral, climate resilient 
city-region with a thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy. The 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority will produce a Natural Capital Investment Plan by 
the end of this year which will promote investment and delivery of opportunities that protect 
and enhance Greater Manchester’s natural capital to support a healthy population and 
economy.  

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a spatial strategy for Greater Manchester. It 
is a new plan for jobs, homes and the environment.  The framework will reflect the 
strategic priorities in national planning policy across Greater Manchester and provide the 
context for local plans, including a measurable net gain in biodiversity value through new 
development.  Greater Manchester is developing guidance for delivering biodiversity net 
gain at a city-region level; this is the first step towards embedding wider net gain for 
people, places and nature.  

 

Page 101



 

 
  21 

Net gain approaches in industry 

There is growing momentum within the development and construction industry to 
implement biodiversity net gain: 

• Housing developers have committed to achieving biodiversity net gain, for example 
Barratt Homes, Berkeley Group, and Redrow Homes have all adopted biodiversity 
net gain approaches (see the box below about the Berkeley Group’s approach);  

• Infrastructure programmes are adopting a biodiversity net gain approach, including 
Crossrail, the East-West Rail Alliance and the Greater West Programme (note that 
nationally significant infrastructure projects are outside the scope of this 
consultation); 

• Utilities and land managers, such as National Grid, Thames Water and Yorkshire 
Water are increasingly working towards biodiversity enhancement targets and 
commitments, and some are exploring means of also achieving gains in benefits 
from natural capital; and 

• Professional and industry bodies17 have supported the adoption of biodiversity net 
gain approaches through the provision of good practice principles18 and guidance 
based on established international best practice19. Biodiversity net gain is already 
recognised in sustainable building standards (from BREEAM) which incorporates 
the Defra metric, and work is underway to incorporate biodiversity net gain into BRE 
Global’s CEEQUAL quality assurance scheme for infrastructure. Work is underway 
to develop a British Standard for biodiversity net gain20.  

 

Berkeley Group – creating net biodiversity gain within all new developments  

The Berkeley Group made a commitment in 2016 that all new developments from May 
2017 will create a net biodiversity gain within the development site. Berkeley’s commitment 
has been informed by the learning and experience they gained in delivering a number of 
high quality, biodiversity rich developments. For example, at their ‘Kidbrooke Village’ 
development Berkeley partnered with the London Wildlife Trust and consulted the Royal 
Borough of Greenwich’s Biodiversity Action Plan to provide green space that engaged the 
local community and increased biodiversity. This work also led to increased engagement 
with the local community and 20 hectares of new parkland within the development, which 
will deliver 4,800 new homes. Berkeley Group have adapted a version of the Defra 
biodiversity metric to forecast biodiversity losses and gains. 

  

                                            
17 Construction Industry Research and Information Association, Chartered Institute of Ecological and 
Environmental Management, Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment supported by Balfour 
Beatty. 
18 Biodiversity Net Gain: Good practice principles for development 2016.  
19 As set-out by the Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP), http://bbop.forest-trends.org/  
20 Work to develop the new British Standard is being led by the British Standards Institute working with Natural 
England, Defra and a wide range of industry, NGO and land management bodies. The new standard will likely 
be in two parts: design and pre-construction and construction/post-construction and is anticipated to be 
available in 2019/2020. 

Page 102

http://bbop.forest-trends.org/


 

 
  22 

Our view (that we want to test and seek evidence for via this consultation) is that the 
increasing but patchy use of net gain, using voluntary approaches to fully deliver on the 
objective of national policy, means that the market for developable land is uneven; 
developers that do not plan to include any habitats in or around their development can 
outbid those who want to deliver more. This means that the costs of habitat mitigation are 
borne by the developer instead of being factored into the land price at the outset to reflect 
the biodiversity value of the land.   

Outside of local or voluntary biodiversity net gain schemes, not all development is 
delivering measurable improvements for biodiversity and local people, and appears to be 
cumulatively failing to properly address the decline in England’s biodiversity. Our view is 
that there is an opportunity for mandatory biodiversity net gain to mainstream the best of 
these existing approaches. There have been a number of calls for government action to 
strengthen policy on the application of biodiversity net gain and through this consultation 
document we explore how best to put a mandatory approach into practice. 

 

 

Photo: London Wildlife Trust 

 

Page 103



 

 
  23 

Policy proposals and questions  

Approaches to delivering a net gain for biodiversity  
We propose that net gain for biodiversity should: 

• Complement and reinforce national planning policy. 
• Support the mitigation hierarchy (see Figure 3), which avoids, minimises, 

remediates and as a last resort compensates for adverse impacts on biodiversity.  
• Secure measurable benefits for biodiversity, so that we contribute to national and 

international environmental priorities and provide benefits for the local communities 
where development takes place. 

• Not weaken the strong protections for designated wildlife habitats or irreplaceable 
habitats set out in national planning policy. This means that where projects result in 
damage to irreplaceable habitats, or designated features of internationally or 
nationally protected sites, these should be appropriately mitigated or compensated 
for, even if net gain in other (non-protected or ‘replaceable’) habitats is achieved. 

Figure 3: The mitigation hierarchy 

Net gain for biodiversity could be delivered by: 

• Applying sensitive design that avoids the loss of high-quality habitats, minimises the 
impact of a development on site, enhances habitats in poor condition and delivers 
desirable places to live by creating new habitats on site. 

• Using off-site local and strategic compensatory habitat creation and enhancement 
only where net gain cannot be reasonably achieved on site, for example on land 
provided by habitat banks, land-owners or brokers as part of a flexible market which 
supports identified biodiversity priorities and contributes to local and accessible 
nature. 

• Where opportunities for on-site and locally-sourced compensation are not available, 
achieving gains through payment of a tariff. A tariff would be designed to incentivise 
habitat protection and strategic compensation (in line with the mitigation hierarchy), 

Avoid Minimise Remediate 

Where 
possible, 
habitat 
damage 
should be 
avoided. 

Where 
possible, 
habitat 
damage and 
loss should be 
minimised. 

Where 
possible, any 
damaged or 
lost habitat 
should be 
restored. 

Compensate 

As a last 
resort, 
damaged or 
lost habitat 
should be 
compensated 
for. 

Page 104



 

 
  24 

raise revenue to invest in strategically important habitats that benefit local 
communities, support nature recovery and reliably achieve net gain overall at a 
national scale. 

Teignbridge District Council, RSPB, EAD Ecology, Hallbaron Ltd  

This example shows how a cash payment can be used to invest in habitat improvement 
when opportunities are not available at the planning application stage. 

A 9.5 hectare site on the edge of Teignmouth coastal market town in Devon was granted 
planning permission for up to 255 dwellings. The Defra biodiversity metric was used to 
calculate losses of biodiversity on site and the levels of biodiversity compensation that 
would be built into the scheme design. This was insufficient to achieve a biodiversity net 
gain outcome and so the shortfall of biodiversity units was translated into a cash sum paid 
by the developer via a Section 106 agreement to the planning authority to be used to 
deliver biodiversity enhancements elsewhere in the county. These monies were used to 
purchase nearby land to create grassland and hedgerow habitats to achieve an overall 
biodiversity net gain outcome. 

Net gain for biodiversity should be simple and certain to understand and implement. Our 
proposed approach would achieve this by: 

• Working with national planning policy, including updated detailed guidance, which 
could be underpinned by a clear duty in legislation.  

• Using the Defra biodiversity metric (see section “The Defra metric”) so that the 
approach to measuring biodiversity and any residual tariff obligation is transparent 
and consistent. 

• Developing monitoring and quality assurance processes that provide confidence in 
the conservation and development outcomes secured. 

• Providing a workable approach that can be adapted and updated to include 
components of environmental net gain such as natural resource use efficiency, 
water quality, flood risk management and air quality. 

  

Page 105



 

 
  25 

Scope 

What development should be in scope of a net gain policy?  

Currently, planning policy in the National Planning Policy Framework is a material 
consideration for all development decisions controlled at an LPA level, primarily under the 
Town and Country Planning Act 199021. If net gain for biodiversity was mandated, it should 
adopt the same approach as current biodiversity net gain policy22 by covering all new 
developments that results in loss or degradation of habitat, including buildings such as 
housing, offices, shops, business space and local infrastructure. Developments that would 
result in negligible loss or degradation of habitat, for instance material change of use of or 
alterations to buildings and house extensions, would fall out of scope. We are seeking 
evidence on whether this scope would be appropriate. 

We are considering what, if any, appropriate exemptions to a possible future mandatory 
biodiversity net gain policy might be made to developments by size, sector or site location. 
Broad exemptions could undermine the environmental objectives of the policy, but some 
might have little impact, or be proportionate where development would otherwise be 
compromised. We consider that  permitted development23 and house extensions meet 
these criteria, and  we are seeking evidence in this consultation as to whether some 
small24 and brownfield sites (in particular, those listed on brownfield land registers) should 
also be appropriately exempted from possible future mandatory biodiversity net gain 
requirements. Any types of development that are exempted from mandatory requirements 
would still be subject to environmental planning policies. 

Unlike in the current system, increased availability of compensation sites and the provision 
of the residual cash tariff could provide a mechanism for all appropriate sites to be able to 
meet biodiversity requirements. We are therefore also considering whether a simplified 
process for assessing biodiversity net gain could be available to amplify these process 
benefits for some sites, as an alternative to providing a full exemption. This simplified 
process could take the form of:  

• A simple walkover survey and habitat plan for the proposed development prepared by 
an appropriately qualified person.  

• The use of a simplified version of the Defra metric with condition values pre-populated, 
resulting in marginally lower or higher levels of net gain on individual sites but close to 
the target overall. 

                                            
21 Section 57 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
22 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF. 
23 Permitted developments include small house extensions and driveways, small extensions to other buildings, 
most infrastructure improvement works and many changes of use of land. They do not require planning 
applications to proceed.  
24 Planning applications are not considered to be major development where: the development is for less than 
10 homes; the development is for homes on a site less than 0.5 hectares if the number of homes is 
unknown; the development is for other buildings with floor space less than 1,000 square metres and on a site 
under 1 hectare (see the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015).  

Page 106



 

 
  26 

• The ability to purchase the, likely low, number of necessary biodiversity units locally or 
through payment of the tariff upon receipt of planning permission. 

In the 25 Year Environment Plan we outlined our commitment to embed an environmental 
net gain approach in infrastructure. While marine planning and licensing policy and 
nationally significant infrastructure projects are not in scope of this consultation, we 
are considering how to best support and mainstream the net gain approaches that many 
infrastructure and marine projects are already taking. For marine planning and licensing, 
we will evaluate the actions that projects are already taking to address their environmental 
impacts and consider how best to implement net gain in the marine context. 

1. Should biodiversity net gain be mandated for all housing, commercial and 
other development within the scope of the Town and County Planning Act? 

2. What other actions could government take to support the delivery of 
biodiversity net gain? 

3. Should there be any specific exemptions to any mandatory biodiversity net 
gain requirement (planning policies on net gain would still apply) for the 
following types of development? And why? 

a. House extensions 
b. Small sites  
c. All brownfield sites 
d. Some brownfield sites (e.g. those listed on brownfield, or other, land 

registers) 
4. Are there any other sites that should be granted exemptions, and why? For 

example, commercial and industrial sites.  
5. As an alternative to an exemption, should any sites instead be subject to a 

simplified biodiversity assessment process? 

Biodiversity features in scope of net gain policy 

Planning policy and legislation already protect our network of internationally and nationally 
designated sites (Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas, Ramsar 
sites and Sites of Special Scientific Interest) which cover our most important wildlife 
habitats; government has no intention of weakening or changing these existing legal and 
policy protections. Net gain will not weaken existing planning policy protection for 
irreplaceable habitats such as ancient woodland. 

Some high-value habitats outside the protected sites series are identified by local 
partnerships as ‘Local Sites’. Local Sites (sometimes known as Sites of Interest for Nature 
Conservation or Local Wildlife Sites, although they can also be identified for their 
geological interest) are given additional protection as is made clear in national planning 
policy25. Net gain will not weaken existing planning policy protection for Local Sites, but 
can currently be used as an approach to deliver more robust mitigation and compensation 
when development does occur within or near to Local Sites. 

                                            
25 Paragraphs 171 and 174, NPPF. 

Page 107



 

 
  27 

The metric takes relative levels of habitat importance into account when assessing the 
value of habitats for biodiversity. We consider that this allows a local authority to apply a 
high weighting for areas that are designated local sites, and therefore no further 
modifications are required. We welcome views on whether the metric should consider local 
designations in any other ways.  

6. Do you agree that the Defra metric should allow for adjustments to reflect 
important local features such as local sites? Should the Defra metric consider 
local designations in a different way? 

How are species treated within a net gain policy? 

The approaches to net gain outlined in this consultation, including the Defra biodiversity 
metric, are based on habitat assessments and do not account for development impacts on 
individual species. We are exploring approaches that allow net gain to deliver for individual 
species impacted by development and will look to bring these into scope over time.  

The district level licensing approach for great crested newts developed by Natural England 
offers one possible model for taking this forward. District level licensing for great crested 
newts involves building up a picture of great crested newt abundance, distribution and 
habitat condition at district level and assessing the impacts on great crested newt from all 
planned development in the district over the whole local plan period. Zones are mapped 
that reflect the level of impact anticipated and developers pay a proportionate tariff for 
newt habitat creation. This approach is currently being rolled out to 150 local authority 
areas by 2020 and will be managed adaptively, changing in response to monitored 
outcomes. We recognise that a successful national rollout must be based on robust 
monitoring and a clear view of how local measures add up to deliver national and 
international conservation priorities. We recognise that current approaches to district level 
licensing are not perfect, and will be improving and adapting the approach as it matures to 
improve the certainty of conservation outcomes. 

Implementing district level licensing alongside biodiversity net gain approaches would 
allow off-site habitat compensation approaches to be brought together for maximum 
benefit for great crested newts and wider biodiversity interests, whilst allowing developers 
to benefit from streamlined regulation. These benefits would be most firmly secured if local 
authorities were obliged to ensure a district level licensing scheme for great crested newts 
was available. 

We would like to explore introducing further strategic approaches for additional species 
alongside biodiversity net gain over time. We recognise that the approach will not be 
appropriate for some protected species and will need to collate evidence to determine 
which, if any, protected species other than great crested newts would benefit in 
conservation terms and how such approaches would best be implemented without 
weakening their protection. We will consider how this can be made the most cost-effective 
for LPAs, maximising the advantage of integration with biodiversity net gain and continuing 
to streamline the process for developers. 

Page 108



 

 
  28 

7. Should local authorities be required to adopt a robust district level licensing 
approach for great crested newts, where relevant, by 2020? 

8. For what species is it plausible to use district level or strategic approaches to 
improve conservation outcomes and streamline planning processes? Please 
provide evidence. 

Ambitions for wider environmental net gain 

Some aspects of development’s environmental impact, in addition to biodiversity, are 
relatively easily measured and may already be measured as part of standard development 
processes. Water and air quality standards for instance could provide a useful means to 
improving the impacts that development has on the health of our national and global 
natural capital stocks. Many of these impacts are managed through building standards. 
Building standards, and similar types of regulation, may remain the best approach, but we 
are interested in exploring if it might be beneficial to incentivise performance against and 
beyond these standards through a wider environmental net gain approach. This might 
further streamline environmental requirements for developers, and thereby simplify 
processes for developers and LPAs by presenting progress against wider environmental 
requirements or targets in one place. 

There are a wide variety of natural capital impacts that could be considered within broad 
environmental net gain (see Figure 2 in the “Environmental net gain” section) in the long 
term, some more suitable than others: 

• For water, we might limit projected water use to a recommended number of litres 
per day.  

• For air quality, development could be required to be ‘air quality neutral’ and not to 
contribute to potential exceedance of international air pollution limits or national 
pollutant objectives, in line with our Clean Air Strategy. 

• For flood risk, we might require development to achieve greenfield run-off rates for 
surface water with sustainable drainage systems and for properties to meet a given 
flood resilience standard. 

The right approaches for measuring and incentivising these standards is less clear than 
those for biodiversity net gain at present so they are not in scope of the current proposal 
for a mandatory approach.  

9. Are there wider elements of environmental net gain that could be better 
incentivised? If so, please specify which, and any benefits that such 
incentives could provide. 

  

Page 109



 

 
  29 

Measuring biodiversity 

A biodiversity metric 

In the “What is net gain?” section we recognise that biodiversity is complex and that no 
single approach can fully guarantee net gains for biodiversity. There are, however, simple 
and robust ways to measure the habitats that support biodiversity, and there are 
considerable benefits to mandating net gain through a single metric. Consistency means 
that all users of a metric, including local planning authorities, developers, ecologists, 
NGOs, communities and consultees, can become familiar with the workings of a metric 
and can focus on the quality of the inputs and outcomes more than the means of 
recording. It also means that less time should be taken processing applications, freeing up 
ecologists’ and developers’ time for more constructive input into scheme and habitat 
design. More fundamentally, it means that clear and certain obligations can be set, without 
having to account for varying interpretations through different metrics.  

Our view is that an effective biodiversity net gain policy requires an approach to 
measurement that is: 

• transparent and robust – an approach that is open to scrutiny by LPAs, local 
communities and consultees, and robust enough to give developers confidence that 
the measured gains will be sufficient to meet expectations. 

• workable and practical – an approach that is proportionate to the scale of the 
potential impact and that can be implemented and scrutinised in a timely manner.  

• consistent – we want to avoid the costs to LPAs and developers of processing 
assessments, and channel this expertise into the design of developments and 
habitats. Having a consistent metric should help to keep the focus of assessment 
on the outcomes and ecological advice, rather than the means of measurement. 

We propose that, for biodiversity net gain, the Defra biodiversity metric would provide a 
suitable base metric upon which to set possible mandatory requirements. Over time, we 
can explore opportunities to develop the metric to make its assessment more sophisticated 
without significantly increasing the time or resources taken to use it (for example, by 
connecting it to potential future internet-based habitat mapping or biological records). This 
should help to address some existing limitations of the metric with regards to consideration 
of individual species and wider environmental value. 

Natural England are already working to update the original version of the Defra metric to 
incorporate the best of the adaptations and amendments made by schemes and 
organisations over the past six years. Focussing government and industry resources onto 
one metric will mean that future updates should further improve the environmental and 
development outcomes and will have a much greater evidence base for possible 
alterations. 

  

Page 110



 

 
  30 

10. Is the Defra biodiversity metric an appropriate practical tool for measuring 
changes to biodiversity as a result of development? 

11. What improvements, if any, could we most usefully make to the Defra metric? 

How much ‘gain’ 

Losing and recreating habitat inevitably involves some risks; for example, that 
compensation habitats won’t reach their target state, or will take longer than expected to 
do so. The Defra metric accounts for some of these factors. It includes a factor for the 
difficulty of achieving the target habitat and for the time taken for habitats to be 
established. Therefore, we are confident that the Defra metric, and therefore the number of 
biodiversity units that must be created, is sufficient to mitigate and compensate for harm 
caused by the development. Nevertheless, to account for remaining uncertainties and 
risks, and to provide an overall gain for nature, we are including an extra margin.  

Our initial view is that a 10% gain in biodiversity units would be a suitable level of net gain 
to require in order to provide a high degree of certainty that overall gains will be achieved, 
balanced against the need to ensure any costs to developers are proportionate. In 
practice, this means that if a site is worth 50 biodiversity units before development, the site 
(and any offset sites and tariff payments) should be worth 55 units at the scheme’s 
conclusion. The proposed 10% would be a mandatory national requirement, but should not 
be viewed as a cap on the aspirations of developers that want to voluntarily go further or 
do so in the course of designing proposals to meet other local planning policies.  

12. Would a mandatory 10% increase in biodiversity units be the right level of 
gain to be required? 

Mitigation hierarchy    

The mitigation hierarchy is a central and valued principle of environmental planning. It 
broadly states that development should: 

• Avoid impacts, 
• Minimise impacts, 
• Remediate/restore habitats affected by impacts , and 
• As a last resort, compensate for any residual harm through habitat creation or 

restoration. 

This hierarchy is reflected in national planning policy, and local planning documents. The 
introduction of biodiversity net gain would not weaken, undermine or replace the mitigation 
hierarchy, and the process of achieving net gain is entirely compatible with the proper 
application of the hierarchy. Industry guidance and principles stress the importance of the 
mitigation hierarchy in applying net gain approaches. 

In circumstances where, due to proper application of the first stage of the hierarchy, 
development will result in minor losses of habitats which are not of particular value to 
wildlife, it is clear that compensating for these losses at a site level might not always 

Page 111



 

 
  31 

provide the best outcomes for wildlife. In some cases, it might be advantageous in 
conservation and development terms to allow for a greater proportion of residual impacts 
than usual to be dealt with through off-site compensation or tariff contributions. This would 
allow pooling of the investment to secure greater strategic environmental gains. It is 
recognised that any such allowance could, however, present a risk of readily granting 
permission to degrade the site of the development, and so clear guidance on appropriate 
circumstances would need to be introduced. These might refer to the size of the site, its 
ecological or other importance in the local context, and the distinctiveness of the 
constituent habitats. 

Such allowances would not in any way compromise the operation of the mitigation 
hierarchy on sites which are not within the clearly defined circumstances. 

13. In clearly defined circumstances, should developers be allowed to pay 
through the tariff mechanism without fully exhausting on-site and local 
compensation opportunities? 

Spatial preference 

In an approach that considers both on-site and off-site environmental improvements, there 
needs to be careful consideration of where we want habitats to be delivered. To some 
extent, this issue is resolved by the application of the mitigation hierarchy, as avoidance, 
minimisation and remediation of impacts will be restricted to the site and its immediate 
surrounds. 

Where compensatory habitat creation or enhancement is required to achieve net gains, 
this can be delivered within the site, nearby to the site or nationally to address national 
conservation priorities. Evidence from stakeholders suggests that local delivery is 
preferable because it prevents any one local area from losing significant amounts of 
habitats and provides benefits for the communities which are affected by development in 
the first instance. It is desirable to prevent local ‘pockets’ of habitat loss because it could 
reduce connectivity between local habitats, and could compromise local residents’ access 
to nature. The Defra metric already includes a simple multiplier to incentivise the delivery 
of compensation measures in local or strategic locations. 

We propose that a spatial hierarchy underlines the design, updating and operation of the 
entire net gain approach. This would mean that, where possible, biodiversity units should 
be delivered on site. Those that cannot viably be delivered on site should be delivered 
locally, according to a local plan or strategy. Where suitable compensatory habitats are not 
available locally, then investment in national conservation priorities may take place through 
a tariff. This principle could be communicated through guidance and be incentivised 
through the operation of the Defra metric and the pricing of the tariff (see “Tariff rate” 
section) so that distant habitat creation is generally more expensive than delivering 
habitats on site or locally. 

14. Would this be an appropriate approach to directing the location of new 
habitat? 

Page 112



 

 
  32 

Assessment of habitat type and condition 

A standardised approach to biodiversity net gain should result in less investment in 
reporting and negotiation between LPAs and developers, and more investment in creating 
nature-friendly development and new habitats for wildlife. 

Currently, the ecological reports that explain a development’s impacts can sometimes be 
inaccessible to the public, the developer and even to the LPA officer. The technical detail 
within them is important, but there is rarely a simple explanation of what habitat is being 
lost and what is being gained. At present, developers will most often use their own in-
house ecologists or contract ecological consultants to undertake ecological assessment of 
potential development sites. For smaller sites, the ecological assessment might be 
undertaken by non-specialist staff. 

The greater transparency and consistency of a completed biodiversity metric would 
(because it states exactly what habitats are lost and gained) reduce uncertainty for 
developers when designing schemes, and for communities and planning officers when 
assessing a potential development. In order to most effectively meet the housing and other 
development needs of local communities we are considering how else net gain can 
improve the planning process for all involved and ensure that the assessment of habitats is 
accurate and cost effective. 

In the future, there could be the potential for meeting survey requirements for certain 
habitats or types of developments through the use of area-wide surveying and improved 
satellite or remote sensing habitat mapping; these methods would need development and 
evaluation before they were widely implemented to ensure that such approaches are 
robust and would not result in misidentification or loss of distinctive habitats. 

15. How could biodiversity assessments be made more robust without adding to 
burdens for developers or planning authorities? 

 

  

Page 113



 

 
  33 

Baseline  

Understanding whether net gain is achieved through development at a national scale will 
require better habitats data at a national scale. Defra is currently exploring how national 
metrics and mapping might help to support the establishment of a baseline, and to chart 
progress against it. This is discussed further in the later “Quality assurance” section. 

On a development scale, the baseline for voluntary biodiversity net gain is generally taken 
to be the point at which a planning application is submitted; the incentive to intentionally 
degrade habitat prior to assessment is low under voluntary schemes because there is an 
expectation that the developer intends to leave a positive legacy.  

If net gain were made mandatory, there could be a stronger incentive for some developers 
and landowners to degrade their land in advance of seeking permission to develop it. 
There are reported cases of suspected pre-consent habitat degradation under the current 
planning system, although it is not known whether this is a regular occurrence. These 
include cases of vegetation clearance and the disturbance of protected species. 
Landowners may be incentivised to degrade their land to reduce environmental obligations 
long in advance of its sale for development. 

In a mandatory net gain policy this risk could be mitigated by: 

• Clear guidance for developers and planning authorities on the relevant assessment 
baseline including how to take account of recent or even historic habitat states 
where there is evidence of deliberate habitat degradation. Consideration should be 
given to how to avoid the risks of penalising landowners making legitimate land use 
change decisions before deciding to sell their land for development. 

• The use of existing land cover data to provide approximate fixed baselines of 
habitat type. For example, providing spatial data that would tell an LPA whether a 
site was wooded, grassland or bare ground in 2017 and broad habitat categories 
from existing aerial imagery of urban areas. Setting a fixed temporal baseline will 
also help government to monitor trends in habitat cover over the longer term, and to 
assess whether net gain is being delivered. The habitat data would need to be 
robust and readily accessible to LPAs and the Planning Inspectorate.  
 

16. Should a baseline map of broad habitats be developed? 
17. Should this be applied, as a minimum baseline, to: 

a. net gain calculations for all development?  
b. net gain calculations in cases of suspected intentional habitat 

degradation? 
18. What other measures might reduce the risk of incentivising intentional habitat 

degradation? 
19. How can the risks of penalising landowners making legitimate land use 

change decisions before deciding to sell their land for development be 
mitigated? 

  

Page 114



 

 
  34 

Delivering biodiversity outcomes 

How should biodiversity priorities be identified?    

It is likely that mandatory biodiversity net gain would provide the greatest benefit where it 
improves, extends or connects existing wildlife habitat and contributes to wider ecological 
networks, helping to meet the 25 Year Environment Plan ambition to deliver Professor Sir 
John Lawton’s vision for more, bigger, better, and more joined-up wildlife habitat26. In 
some local areas, where biodiversity net gain is applied on a voluntary basis, local 
‘opportunity maps’ are used to identify areas where habitat restoration and creation would 
be of greatest benefit. There is an existing requirement under paragraph 174 of the NPPF 
to map components of local wildlife-rich habitats and ecological networks, identifying 
designated sites, connecting habitat corridors and stepping stones, and areas identified by 
partnerships for habitat restoration or creation. 

We propose that the delivery of compensation habitats be aligned with national and local 
scale strategic habitat objectives, and that government explores how local habitat 
opportunity mapping might be coordinated and supported through a national habitat 
mapping framework. In line with government’s 25 Year Environment Plan ambitions, these 
spatial strategies could prioritise wildlife conservation, but also take account of natural 
capital opportunities and demand for benefits from nature. These maps could also form a 
useful planning tool for LPAs and developers in identifying the most suitable areas for 
development (as they do where such maps are already in place locally), and help to align 
development sector improvements with other types of environmental investment. 

20. The provision of compensatory habitats would need to be guided by habitat 
opportunity maps. At what scale should these maps be developed? 

a. Locally (e.g. local authority or National Character Area) 
b. Nationally (i.e. England) as a national framework to be refined, 

updated and amended locally 
21. What other measures should be considered to identify biodiversity and 

natural capital priorities? 

Provision of compensatory habitats 

Where net gain for biodiversity cannot be delivered on site, it is possible to create or 
enhance other sites to achieve biodiversity net gain. An adequate supply of high-quality 
local compensatory habitat sites would be needed to ensure that developments can 
proceed without difficulty or delay. Delivering biodiversity outcomes through habitat 
creation or enhancement is not easy or certain; so it would be essential that providers 
have the knowledge and expertise to ensure that compensatory habitats are delivered in 

                                            
26 Lawton, Professor Sir John (2010), Making Space for Nature: A review of England’s Wildlife Sites and 
Ecological Network,  
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiver
sity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf.  

Page 115

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http:/archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodiversity/documents/201009space-for-nature.pdf


 

 
  35 

the timeframes, and to the quality standards, agreed so that environmental outcomes 
would be secured. 

It would need to be clear that compensatory habitat would be additional to efforts that 
would have been undertaken without the development’s contributions; there should be no 
‘double counting’ of improvements, for example, such as a created biodiversity unit being 
claimed twice by two different developments. There could, however, be circumstances in 
which biodiversity units generated through other planning requirements could be counted 
towards biodiversity net gain.  Industry guidance and principles that have been developed 
for net gain set out a range of principles for compensation habitat, including additionality 
and recommendations against ‘trading down’ in habitat distinctiveness terms. 

There are a number of different ways in which a developer could source the required 
biodiversity units – including on another site the developer owns, directly from a 
landowner, via a land broker or from a habitat bank.  

Habitat creation could be secured or delivered in advance of development through the use 
of habitat banks. Habitat banks provide a market-based environmental solution to 
address loss of biodiversity or ecosystem services. Habitat banking can provide an 
effective and efficient way to combine many small developer contributions towards larger 
scale green infrastructure, provide a simple process for developers and a commercial 
opportunity for landowners and brokers in conservation activity. 

Mandating net gain for biodiversity may stimulate the establishment and growth of local 
habitat creation markets which will trade biodiversity units. If mandatory biodiversity net 
gain is introduced, we propose that the level of the tariff is set above the cost of local 
biodiversity units. The intention of this would be to ensure that the market for 
compensation habitat creation is able to meet anticipated demand and delivers value for 
money but is not undercut by the tariff (see “Tariff rate” section). We propose that this 
market could also allow developers who have delivered biodiversity units beyond what is 
mandatory at a site, to accrue these surplus biodiversity units as credits and / or trade 
them with other developers. 

We also want to consider which mechanisms could assure the delivery of quality 
compensation sites, both within developments and off site. We are interested in whether a 
system of accreditation for compensation habitat providers would support this, and how 
such a scheme could provide certainty without delaying habitat creation and 
development’s access to compensation sites. 

22. Would mandating net gain through the planning system be enough to 
stimulate the growth of a market for biodiversity units? 

23. What further measures would help to ensure that the market provides: 
a. Sufficient biodiversity units for development? 
b. Cost-effective biodiversity units? 

  

Page 116



 

 
  36 

Legacy 

Biodiversity net gain should make sure that development delivers improvements in 
biodiversity; developed sites are rarely reverted to nature and the aim should be that any 
compensation or mitigation for habitat loss should last for the duration of a development or 
be established on a permanent basis. Currently, industry principles and common practice 
of biodiversity net gain suggest that compensatory habitat should be actively managed for 
25-30 years. After this period, habitat could in theory be changed to an alternative land 
use. We are therefore seeking to identify what mechanisms would enable the practical 
delivery of biodiversity net gain whilst also securing lasting environmental benefits.  

In the unlikely scenario that a created or enhanced compensation site was selected for 
new development, the target condition of the habitat would be used as the baseline for the 
new development. Records of compensation sites (which could simply be a completed 
metric) would need to be held by the LPA, local records centre or a national delivery body 
to facilitate this approach. For example, Green Space Information for Greater London 
(GiGL) provides a central repository of data to support Transport for London to deliver 
biodiversity net gain. 

There would be some risk of compensation habitat loss to wider land use change 
decisions, such as reversion to arable or pasture land. There may be potential through 
new agricultural schemes to prevent this. Other risks, such as clearance by the landowner 
for various purposes or damage during necessary infrastructure maintenance are also 
being considered. One model to secure the long-term stewardship of habitats is to transfer 
the land to a trust with an endowment to fund maintenance, as has been done for some 
public open spaces with the Milton Keynes Parks Trust and the Land Trust.  

In line with our commitment in the 25 Year Environment Plan, we are assessing the 
potential role of conservation covenants to enable landowners to create a legally-binding 
obligation with respect to their land that delivers lasting conservation benefits for future 
generations. This would provide long-term assurance that compensatory habitat will be 
maintained to the standard required. Covenants would apply to compensatory habitats and 
not to development sites generally. Working with landowners, conservation groups and 
other stakeholders we will review and take forward the Law Commission’s proposals for a 
statutory scheme of conservation covenants in England. 

24. Should there be a minimum duration for the maintenance of created or 
enhanced habitats? 

25. If so, what should the minimum duration be? 
a. Less than 25 years 
b. 25 to 30 years 
c. Longer than 25-30 years 
d. Permanent 

26. Would conservation covenants be useful for securing long term benefits from 
biodiversity net gain or reducing process and legal costs? 

27. What safeguards might be needed in the implementation of conservation 
covenants?  

Page 117



 

 
  37 

Calculating and collecting the tariff 

Tariff rate  

If mandatory net gain is introduced, we propose that, where a development was unable to 
mitigate biodiversity loss on site or purchase the required biodiversity units locally, the 
developer would be required to pay a cash tariff on their shortfall against net gain 
obligations. The price for a tariff on biodiversity units would need to reflect the costs of 
creating and managing compensation habitat in a suitable location, strongly incentivise the 
protection of existing habitats and encourage suitable local compensatory habitat creation 
when necessary. 

We propose that the biodiversity net gain tariff price should cover the costs of: 

• replacing and maintaining lost habitats, taking account of variation in land prices 
across the country; and 

• delivery and monitoring costs of the compensation scheme. 

The tariff price should also provide an incentive to: 

• retain habitat on site and to limit local habitat losses; and 
• seek net gain through use of local habitat creation schemes (whilst also 

encouraging cost-efficiency in local habitat creation or enhancement schemes). 

Setting a high tariff rate could strengthen the incentive for local habitat compensation and 
generate the greatest community support for development, enabling local habitat markets 
to establish and be competitive while avoiding the risk of a tariff being a too easy route to 
permission to degrade the site of a development. The tariff rate could also be used to cap 
the price of the most inefficient habitat creation schemes. 

We estimate that a tariff on biodiversity units, which meets the principles listed above, 
might be set between £9,000 and £15,000 per biodiversity unit. This range is based on the 
application of the existing Defra biodiversity metric, and would be adjusted in line with 
planned metric updates to avoid unjustified increases or decreases in costs. The tariff 
range is based upon existing costings for habitat creation and estimates for administrative 
costs. We will review this range in light of evidence from consultation responses and 
further engagement with stakeholders. Any final tariff rate would be a fixed price, set 
according to the development’s location. 

  

Page 118



 

 
  38 

Tariff example: An illustrative development 

A developer is building on a one hectare arable site. Around 0.1 hectare of the site will be 
landscaped grass and shrub planting, meeting local greenspace requirements. The rest 
will be developed with buildings, roads and hard landscaping. It is agreed that the 
remaining habitat loss cannot be avoided, minimised or remediated. There are no suitable 
habitat compensation sites available in the local area at the time of the planning 
application. The residual net gain requirements are therefore subject to tariff payment. 

Biodiversity units before development = 2 

Biodiversity units after development = 0.42 

Biodiversity unit target to achieve net gain = 2.2* 

Biodiversity units to be compensated via the tariff = 1.78 

Tariff payment (at an illustrative £12,000 per unit rate) = £21,360 

*Note: the risk adjustment factors in the Defra metric would likely require a developer to 
plan to achieve much more than 2.2 units, which is then adjusted to 2.2 units after 
accounting for time lags and difficulty of achieving the target state 

28. Does this proposed range for tariff costs fit with the principles set out in this 
section? 

29. Would this proposed range for tariff costs provide opportunities for cost-
effective habitat banks and compensation providers to compete? 

30. Do you agree with the proposed principles for setting the tariff rate, as set out 
in this section? Please suggest any other factors that should be taken in to 
account. 

How a tariff could be collected and spent    

We want to understand what mechanisms for collecting and spending the residual cash 
tariff would be straightforward for developers, deliver the best outcomes for the 
environment and local communities, and would not place additional burdens on LPAs. 

Currently biodiversity is considered as part of a dialogue between LPAs and developers. 
At the end of this process there are existing mechanisms within the planning system27 that 
can be used to levy developer contributions towards environmental enhancement where 
required. This would provide a mechanism to enforce and collect the tariff, with the 
advantage that it uses existing familiar LPA powers. We are considering how any model 

                                            
27 Planning obligations are secured by legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended) to fund infrastructure and affordable housing, these either take the form of negotiated 
agreements with obligations on both the developer and the local authority or unilateral undertakings, which 
can follow standard templates with minimal drafting required.  

Page 119



 

 
  39 

might affect the relationship between net gain and wider environmental and social 
demands on developer contributions and whether alternative models for collection might 
be preferable. 

If a tariff is collected, decisions will have to be made about how it would then be invested. 
Habitat creation and enhancement would need to be carried out and monitored to ensure 
net gain was achieved, and it is preferable for these actions to be planned or completed 
prior to the loss of habitats that was is compensating for. Local decision-making about 
where and how the tariff could be spent might ensure investment is closely tied to local 
nature recovery and could deliver benefits for local people most affected by a 
development. On the other hand, there could be an important advantage to spending the 
tariff nationally in that it could create a fund to effectively deliver our national biodiversity 
enhancement priorities at the best value and with the greatest synergy with other 25 Year 
Environment Plan policies. 

We are also considering the possibility of a model which blends a local and national 
approach – for example through a percentage split of tariff spend towards local and 
national priorities or clear national guidance on how local delivery can best contribute to 
national environmental outcomes. Such a blended model might aim to spend tariff revenue 
according to national nature strategies, but with a secondary objective of matching 
revenue investment to revenue sources where possible, thereby ensuring that the 
communities experiencing the greatest development rates would benefit the most from the 
resulting investment in nature. 

31. How should the tariff revenue be collected? 
a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority) 
b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body) 
c. Other, please specify 

32. How should the tariff revenue be spent? 
a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority) 
b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body) 
c. Through a blended model, allowing spending at both levels 
d. Other, please specify 

33. If tariff revenue was collected and spent nationally, should spending prioritise 
areas which have contributed the most through biodiversity net gain tariff 
payments? 

  

Page 120



 

 
  40 

Delivering net gain in the planning system 

Impact on Local Authorities  

Successful net gain policy would work effectively with planning policy, strengthening the 
approach to biodiversity net gain outlined in the NPPF. The policy approach outlined in this 
consultation should clarify how LPAs assess biodiversity impacts and the mechanisms 
available to achieve biodiversity gains. We recognise the pressure that many LPAs are 
under to balance their various policy, legal and funding requirements. We have taken this 
into consideration in designing this policy, and believe that this policy would represent a 
step towards more consistent, transparent and accessible reporting of environmental 
impacts by developers. Specifically, we think that the policy would lead to: 

• Clearer reporting of ecological impacts. 
• Developers undertaking more mitigation and compensation planning in advance of 

submitting applications. 
• Developers submitting fewer inappropriate applications (i.e. those that would show 

a clear net loss for biodiversity). 
• The potential for LPAs to offer (paid-for) habitat compensation brokering and 

advice. 

These outcomes should provide long term benefits for LPAs. We recognise, however, that 
any changes to approaches in the planning system would create challenges in the short 
term. To manage this we propose that: 

• Implementation of mandatory biodiversity net gain requirements would take place 
after a notice period of at least a year from the passage of any new legislation to 
allow developers, LPAs and ecologists to factor the requirement into planning 
processes, and to become familiar with the policy, metric and guidance. A notice 
period would also enable LPAs to consider the need to create green infrastructure 
or habitat opportunity maps where these are not in place, to ensure wildlife and 
people benefit from compensation habitat delivery. 

• Joint work with industry bodies such as CIEEM, IEMA and CIWEM could be 
undertaken so that training opportunities would be available that would be fully 
compatible with government policy, and that advice services were in place, for 
example through Natural England and Environment Agency area teams. 

• The introduction of a mandatory policy would be accompanied by clear guidance, 
drafted in conjunction with LPAs, to ensure that any concerns are addressed.  
Industry guidance, which will shortly be available for reference, can provide a 
reference point. 

• We engage in greater depth and breadth with LPAs throughout and after the 
consultation period to establish further risk and opportunities in this policy area28. 

                                            
28 If you, or your organisation, are willing to be a part of this engagement, please contact 
netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk 

Page 121



 

 
  41 

The way in which the net gain tariff scheme is delivered would also be likely to impact the 
activities of LPAs. We would be particularly interested in views from LPAs on how the 
operation of a tariff could be optimised in light of any effects it might have on the existing 
developer contributions framework. 

34. What further measures will help to prevent burdens on local authorities 
increasing? 

35. How could the proposals be refined to manage any negative impacts on the 
scale and delivery of other developer contributions (e.g. through Section 106 
or Community Infrastructure Levy payments)? 

36. Would you, as a planning authority stakeholder, prefer any net gain tariff 
revenue to be paid through:  

a. local authority administration?  
b. a nationally managed funding scheme (which could then reinvest in 

local habitat schemes best aligned with national strategic 
environmental priorities)? 

Impact on developers 

This consultation sets out our proposals for establishing a more consistent and predictable 
biodiversity net gain process for developers. This should help to reduce risk and 
uncertainty from the process of acquiring planning permissions, and it creates the potential 
for bringing existing requirements and mechanisms into a single transparent metric-based 
approach. 

We recognise, however, that the proposed approach has potential costs for developers 
and so welcome views on how it could be improved from a development perspective, 
including to keep costs to a minimum. We would also welcome views on whether any 
existing environmental planning requirements beyond biodiversity, could be usefully within 
scope of a future, broader environmental net gain approach. 

The limited available evidence from LPAs and industry suggests that that a wide range of 
development types can successfully achieve biodiversity net gain; we recognise, however, 
that development and construction is a broad sector and that our engagement to date is 
unlikely to have reached those delivering development of all types. We have therefore 
included the impacts of biodiversity net gain on commercial, industrial, public sector and 
local infrastructure development within the “Key evidence gaps” section at the end of this 
consultation document, and would welcome all relevant evidence on this subject from 
consultees. Understanding the distribution of possible impacts is key to designing and 
delivering the policy successfully and achieving the most for the environment and 
developments. 

  

Page 122



 

 
  42 

37. How could the proposed net gain process be improved for developers? 
38. What other steps, considerations or processes in environmental planning 

could be integrated within a net gain approach? 
39. Would any particular types of development (e.g. commercial, industrial, public 

sector, local infrastructure) be disproportionately affected by a mandatory 
biodiversity net gain requirement? 

Implementation of mandatory biodiversity net gain  

If biodiversity net gain is implemented on a mandatory basis we will need to ensure that 
the transition to mandatory biodiversity net gain minimises both operational impacts to 
developers and LPAs, and manages any environmental risks from allowing development 
through before the requirement is imposed.  

LPAs have different levels of access to professional ecological advice, whether that be in-
house, through partnership with other public bodies or by engaging private sector 
consultants. Professional ecologists will be familiar with the inputs to the biodiversity metric 
but may need to increase their capability to use the tool effectively, with the support of 
professional bodies. Local authority planners would also need to become familiar with the 
principles of the metric to assess planning applications. We will engage with LPAs on how 
to ensure that planning departments are able to apply the policy effectively.  

We propose that to reduce risks and allow industry to prepare for the new requirements, 
staggered points could be created at which requirements come into effect. The time could 
be used by industry and LPAs to attend training and become familiar with the working of 
the metric. It could be used by government to develop accreditation schemes or for piloting 
of biodiversity net gain with a tariff. We propose that a notice period of at least one year 
after the introduction of new guidance would be required to prepare for this transition. 

In order to support the smooth introduction of a mandatory biodiversity net gain policy, 
Defra would work to support the delivery of guidance to minimise burdens on developers, 
consultees and local planning authorities, and to maximise public understanding of the 
new approach. 

40. Do you agree that the proposal for staggered transitional arrangements would 
help to ensure smooth implementation of biodiversity net gain policy? 

 

  

Page 123



 

 
  43 

Right of appeal 

We recognise that, whilst a metric should facilitate agreement, developers and LPAs might 
sometimes disagree on the assessment of existing habitats or compensation proposals. If 
there was any disagreement about any aspect of the submitted metric this could be 
discussed during optional pre-application discussions or during the determination of 
planning applications. A standardised net gain metric would aim to simplify biodiversity 
discussions as they would be less subjective and qualitative than at present. If agreement 
were not met then the planning system would continue to offer the right of appeal against 
refusal or non-determination of an application.  

We would be interested in views, particularly from developers and LPAs, on whether 
existing planning procedures would be sufficient under a mandatory biodiversity net gain 
requirement or whether reliance on them would cause any issues. There may be 
advantages to introducing an additional assurance process, for example to verify a 
proposed metric calculation. 

41. Would the existing dispute resolution process provide the best way to 
overcome any disagreement over whether net gain is achieved? 

42. Would an additional arbitration or approval process be necessary? If so, 
please specify why. 

  

Page 124



 

 
  44 

Monitoring and evaluation 

Quality assurance 

A transparent net gain policy would enable local people and organisations to see what 
environmental outcomes are required and hold developers, LPAs and land managers to 
account.  To provide confidence that biodiversity net gain is achieved, we intend to 
introduce monitoring of the quality of delivery on the ground and measures to help ensure 
that outcomes are achieved. We intend to engage further with stakeholders in due course 
but this could include quality assurance measures such as: 

• Supporting the use of biodiversity net gain best practice principles29 and 
standards that industry and professional bodies are developing. 

• Exploring the potential, and benefits of, accreditation in delivering net gain policy. 
In an earlier section (“Assessment of habitat type and condition”) we discuss the 
advantages of a simplified and more standardised habitat assessment process. 
There is currently no requirement for those who complete habitat surveys to be 
professionally qualified, and we could explore, working with professional bodies 
such as CIEEM and IEMA30 who provide membership and chartered schemes for 
ecologists, the future potential for accreditation. This could help to increase 
confidence in the assessment process and avoid the risk of habitats being under-
valued; it should not increase delay, survey or reporting costs for industry. An 
accreditation scheme for those providing habitat enhancement and compensation 
could also be considered, in view of the challenges outlined in the section 
“Provision of compensatory habitats”. 

• In the future, there could be the potential for meeting survey requirements for 
certain habitats or types of developments through the use of area-wide surveying 
and improved satellite or remote sensing habitat mapping; these methods would 
need development and evaluation before they were widely implemented to 
ensure that such approaches are robust and would not result in misidentification 
or loss of distinctive habitats. 

• Establishing whether additional means for insurance or recourse are needed in 
case post-development habitat is cleared, degraded or ineffectively managed or if 
the same habitat compensation is used to offset several developments. 

This could also include monitoring the delivery of net gain by: 

• Ensuring that data about habitat losses and gains could be easily collected and 
accessed at local and national scales. Consistent use of the Defra metric would 
ensure that data on anticipated biodiversity losses and gains is available in a 
standardised format, and we will consider how we could streamline collection of 
data from local authorities with a digital process and data standards for open 
access by stakeholders. 

                                            
29 https://www.cieem.net/biodiversity-net-gain-principles-and-guidance-for-uk-construction-and-developments  
30 The Chartered Institute for Ecology and Environmental Management and the Institute of Environmental 
Management and Assessment. 

Page 125

https://www.cieem.net/biodiversity-net-gain-principles-and-guidance-for-uk-construction-and-developments


 

 
  45 

• Assessing post-construction development and compensation sites, potentially 
through random sampling, to ensure they are making progress to deliver the 
amount, type and condition of habitat expected. 
 

43. Are there any issues or measures, other than those outlined, that we should 
take into account when considering how to monitor biodiversity net gain? 

44. Should local authorities be required to provide information about habitat 
losses and gains?  

45. What technological or other innovative mechanisms could facilitate the 
delivery and monitoring of biodiversity net gain? 

Evaluation 

The success of a net gain policy should, in part, be measured by whether new 
developments in our communities make more thoughtful use of habitats and embrace 
sustainability in their design. If successful, we should see new and improved spaces for 
nature appearing in our landscapes, and more abundant and diverse wildlife using them. 

Any net gain approach we propose will, however, not be perfect and we would need to 
review the approach to ensure that it is delivering for the environment and for 
development. These reviews would be restricted in scope, but should be able to refine, 
update and adapt the approach (including responses to scientific and technological 
changes) and potentially alter tariff rates (to reflect changes in land prices which might 
change costs of habitat creation). Any such changes to the approach should be supported 
by evidence of changes both in habitat distribution and behaviour in designing habitats as 
part of development. Reviews should not be used to arbitrarily strengthen or weaken 
requirements. We propose that such updates should be accompanied by engagement with 
key environmental, LPA and industry stakeholders to help government to ensure that the 
right opportunities for improvement and streamlining are identified. 

Any final net gain policy will be delivered as part of the wider delivery of the 25 Year 
Environment Plan, and there is a clear opportunity to link the evaluation of achievement of 
net gain at a national level with national metrics being developed by Defra for the 
Environment Plan. The use of a single biodiversity metric for biodiversity net gain should 
allow for easy collection and sampling of data, and we will explore what level of data 
collection at a national level would be adequate to provide insights into environmental 
outcomes.  

  

Page 126



46 

Key evidence gaps 
Benefits and costs of mandatory biodiversity net gain 

We would welcome further evidence that addresses the following identified evidence gaps. 
Please submit evidence, or related enquiries, to netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk. 

Evidence gap What we would like from you 

Transition and ongoing delivery costs to 
central (e.g. Defra, Natural England) and 
local government (e.g. LPAs). 

Evidence of how much a biodiversity net 
gain approach costs to implement. We are 
aware of evidence from the biodiversity 
offsetting pilots, but these costs included 
development of the approach and spatial 
strategies which are now better 
understood. 

Interactions with other contributions such 
as Section 106 and Community 
Infrastructure Levy. 

Evidence of whether a biodiversity net gain 
requirement would affect wider developer 
contributions. 
If so, how significant would this effect be? 

Distributional impacts of net gain on 
viability. 

Will a mandatory biodiversity net gain 
requirement affect some types of 
development disproportionately? 

Recent trends in habitat loss and gain due 
to development, likely habitat under threat 
due to future development, and expected 
habitat delivery though net gain. 

What types of habitat are typically lost 
through development? 
Is development typically achieving no net 
loss of biodiversity, and is performance 
improving? 

Further detail on costs to small and large 
developers and developments, including 
familiarisation costs and impact of tariff. 

Are there any further costs or benefits not 
identified in this document or the 
accompanying Impact Assessment? 
Please provide evidence of these costs or 
benefits. 

The impact of biodiversity net gain delivery 
for 

• commercial development;
• public sector development;
• industrial development; and
• local infrastructure development

To what extent do these development 
types already achieve net gains, or no net 
loss of biodiversity, and is performance 
improving? 
What is the typical habitat type and 
condition on these sites and how does this 
differ from other types of development (i.e. 
residential)? 
Is there typically a greater net negative 
impact on habitats through development of 
these types, resulting in greater costs for 
net gain? 

Net gain interactions with on-site delivery 
of housing and other green infrastructure 
(e.g. parks, recreation) 

Will biodiversity net gain negatively or 
positively affect the quality of green space 
for recreation and enjoyment within new 
developments? 

Page 127

mailto:netgainconsultation@defra.gsi.gov.uk


 

 
  47 

Evidence gap What we would like from you 

Whether net gain approaches, where 
adopted, help to speed up and/or unlock 
development in previously borderline sites. 

Can you provide examples of where net 
gain has helped to expedite, or has 
delayed, planning processes? 
Can you provide examples of where a net 
gain approach has unlocked development 
that would otherwise be unacceptable (e.g. 
by mitigating or compensating for 
otherwise unacceptable impacts, or by 
achieving local support), or prevented 
development that might otherwise have 
proceeded? 

  

Page 128



 

 
  48 

Glossary 
BBOP: 

Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme 

Biodiversity unit: 

A unit which represents a combined measure of habitat distinctiveness, area and 
condition. 

BRE Global: 

Building Research Establishment Global  

BREEAM: 

Buildings Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 

CIEEM: 

Chartered Institute for Ecology and Environmental Management 

CIRIA: 

Construction Industry Research and Information Association 

Ecosystem services: 

The services provided by natural capital, such as pollination and biomass which lead to 
benefits to society. 

Environmental net gain: 

In short, this means improving all aspects of environmental quality through a scheme or 
project. 

Achieving environmental net gain means achieving biodiversity net gain first, and going 
further to achieve increases in the capacity of affected natural capital to deliver ecosystem 
services and make a scheme’s wider impacts on natural capital positive. 

IEMA: 

Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment. 

LPA: 

A local planning authority is responsible for deciding whether a development, which could 
be anything from an extension on a house to a new shopping centre, should go ahead. 
This includes borough, district and county councils, unitary authorities, national park 
authorities and development corporations where relevant. 

 

  

Page 129



 

 
  49 

Mitigation hierarchy: 

The principle that environmental harm resulting from a development should be avoided 
(through locating development where there will be less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for. 

Natural capital: 

The elements of nature that directly or indirectly produce value to people, including 
ecosystems, species, freshwater, land, minerals, the air and oceans, as well as natural 
processes and functions 

Nature Recovery Network: 

An expanding and increasingly connected network of wildlife-rich habitat. It will be 
designed to stimulate the recovery of wildlife and will support the delivery of other 
economic and social benefits, such as water quality improvement or flood attenuation. 

Net gain for biodiversity: 

Delivering more or better habitats for biodiversity and demonstrating this measurable gain 
through use of the Defra biodiversity metric. 

NPPF or National Planning Policy Framework: 

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out government's planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied. 

Offsetting: 

The creation or enhancement of wildlife habitat to compensate for loss or degradation 
elsewhere. 

RSPB: 

Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 

  

Page 130



 

 
  50 

Annex A: List of consultation questions 
1. Should biodiversity net gain be mandated for all housing, commercial and other 

development within the scope of the Town and County Planning Act? 
2. What other actions could government take to support the delivery of biodiversity net 

gain? 
3. Should there be any specific exemptions to any mandatory biodiversity net gain 

requirement (planning policies on net gain would still apply) for the following types 
of development? And why? 

a. House extensions 
b. Small sites  
c. All brownfield sites 
d. Some brownfield sites (e.g. those listed on brownfield, or other, land 

registers) 
4. Are there any other sites that should be granted exemptions, and why? For 

example, commercial and industrial sites.  
5. As an alternative to an exemption, should any sites instead be subject to a 

simplified biodiversity assessment process? 
6. Do you agree that the Defra metric should allow for adjustments to reflect important 

local features such as local sites? Should the Defra metric consider local 
designations in a different way? 

7. Should local authorities be required to adopt a robust district level licensing 
approach for great crested newts, where relevant, by 2020? 

8. For what species is it plausible to use district level or strategic approaches to 
improve conservation outcomes and streamline planning processes? Please 
provide evidence. 

9. Are there wider elements of environmental net gain that could be better 
incentivised? If so, please specify which, and any benefits that such incentives 
could provide. 

10. Is the Defra biodiversity metric an appropriate practical tool for measuring changes 
to biodiversity as a result of development? 

11. What improvements, if any, could we most usefully make to the Defra metric? 
12. Would a mandatory 10% increase in biodiversity units be the right level of gain to be 

required? 
13. In clearly defined circumstances, should developers be allowed to pay through the 

tariff mechanism without fully exhausting on-site and local compensation 
opportunities? 

14. Would this be an appropriate approach to directing the location of new habitat? 
15. How could biodiversity assessments be made more robust without adding to 

burdens for developers or planning authorities? 
16. Should a baseline map of broad habitats be developed? 
17. Should this be applied, as a minimum baseline, to: 

a. net gain calculations for all development?  
b. net gain calculations in cases of suspected intentional habitat degradation? 

Page 131



 

 
  51 

18. What other measures might reduce the risk of incentivising intentional habitat 
degradation? 

19. How can the risks of penalising landowners making legitimate land use change 
decisions before deciding to sell their land for development be mitigated? 

20. The provision of compensatory habitats will need to be guided by habitat 
opportunity maps. At what scale should these maps be developed? 

a. Locally (e.g. local authority or National Character Area) 
b. Nationally (i.e. England) as a national framework to be refined, updated and 

amended locally 
21. What other measures should be considered to identify biodiversity and natural 

capital priorities? 
22. Would mandating net gain through the planning system be enough to stimulate the 

growth of a market for biodiversity units? 
23. What further measures would help to ensure that the market provides: 

a. Sufficient biodiversity units for development? 
b. Cost-effective biodiversity units? 

24. Should there be a minimum duration for the maintenance of created or enhanced 
habitats? 

25. If so, what should the minimum duration be? 
a. Less than 25 years 
b. 25 to 30 years 
c. Longer than 25-30 years 
d. Permanent 

26. Would conservation covenants be useful for securing long term benefits from 
biodiversity net gain or reducing process and legal costs? 

27. What safeguards might be needed in the implementation of conservation 
covenants? 

28. Does this proposed range for tariff costs fit with the principles set out in this 
section? 

29. Would this proposed range for tariff costs provide opportunities for cost-effective 
habitat banks and compensation providers to compete? 

30. Do you agree with the proposed principles for setting the tariff rate, as set out in this 
section? Please suggest any other factors that should be taken in to account. 

31. How should the tariff revenue be collected? 
a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority) 
b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body) 
c. Other, please specify 

32. How should the tariff revenue be spent? 
a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority) 
b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body) 
c. Through a blended model, allowing spending at both levels 
d. Other, please specify 

33. If tariff revenue is collected and spent nationally, should spending prioritise areas 
which have contributed the most through biodiversity net gain tariff payments? 

34. What further measures will help to prevent burdens on local authorities increasing? 

Page 132



 

 
  52 

35. How could the proposals be refined to manage any negative impacts on the scale 
and delivery of other developer contributions (e.g. through Section 106 or 
Community Infrastructure Levy payments)? 

36. Would you, as a planning authority stakeholder, prefer any net gain tariff revenue to 
be paid through:  

a. local authority administration?  
b. a nationally managed funding scheme (which could then reinvest in local 

habitat schemes best aligned with national strategic environmental 
priorities)? 

37. How could the proposed net gain process be improved for developers? 
38. What other steps, considerations or processes in environmental planning could be 

integrated within a net gain approach? 
39. Would any particular types of development (e.g. commercial, industrial, public 

sector, local infrastructure) be disproportionately affected by a mandatory 
biodiversity net gain requirement? 

40. Do you agree that the proposal for staggered transitional arrangements would help 
to ensure smooth implementation of biodiversity net gain policy? 

41. Would the existing dispute resolution process provide the best way to overcome 
any disagreement over whether net gain is achieved? 

42. Would an additional arbitration or approval process be necessary? If so, please 
specify why. 

43. Are there any issues or measures, other than those outlined, that we should take 
into account when considering how to monitor biodiversity net gain? 

44. Should local authorities be required to provide information about habitat losses and 
gains? 

45. What technological or other innovative mechanisms could facilitate the delivery and 
monitoring of biodiversity net gain? 

 

 

Page 133



 

Page 134



Defra Biodiversity Net Gain Consultation  

Appendix B - Draft SMBC Response – January 2018 

1. Should biodiversity net gain be mandated for all housing, commercial and other 
development within the scope of the Town and County Planning Act?  

Yes - SMBC has used the Biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA) when assessing planning applications 
since 2012 when it was part of one of the Defra pilot schemes (Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull). 
At that time it was to ensure no net loss to biodiversity, which was the current policy approach and 
is reflected in the wording of Policy P10 of the Solihull Local Plan Shaping a Sustainable Future 2013. 
The recently published NPPF (July 2018) now requires developments to achieve a net gain to 
biodiversity, which is an approach that SMBC is now following through the continued use of the BIA 
and will update Policy P10 in the emerging Solihull Local Plan Review.   

It is vital that a mandated scheme for delivering biodiversity net gain is structured as part of existing 
best practice and policy, that is does not undermine the mitigation hierarchy and that offsite 
schemes are only required as a last resort.  

2. What other actions could government take to support the delivery of biodiversity net gain?  

Put more weight behind: 

 The Natural Capital approach to ecosystem valuation. Integrate the valuation of natural 
capital into national economic decision making, putting the environment on a more 
balanced footing when weighed against other commercial pressures; and 

 The importance of applying the principles of the 2012 Lawton Review (bigger, better, more 
and connected areas of habitat).  

More resource for local authorities to deliver net gain 

So far, SMBC has been able to deliver offsite biodiversity compensation schemes using S106 
contributions from developers because we have the in-house resource (including ecologists) and the 
background data (provided by the Habitat Biodiversity Audit) to prioritise appropriate areas. SMBC 
has also been able to use its own land to deliver schemes.  

However, supply of SMBC land for offsite biodiversity compensation schemes is finite and delivery of 
schemes on third party land requires more resource (e.g. to find suitable land, contact landowners, 
find landowners willing to sign up to 30 years etc.).  

Defra could support this process by providing: 

 Broad habitat mapping across England (using HBA model or similar) 

 Funding to Local Authorities for in-house ecologists (or similar) 

3. Should there be any specific exemptions to any mandatory biodiversity net gain requirement 
(planning policies on net gain would still apply) for the following types of development? And why?  

a. House extensions   

b. Small sites   

c. All brownfield sites  

d. Some brownfield sites (e.g. those listed on brownfield, or other, land registers)  

Brownfield sites can contain important habitats especially those associated with newly colonised 
areas and in particular for invertebrates and bird species of Conservation Concern such as the black 
redstart Phoenicurus ochruros. The presence of waste patches colonised by weed species, with many 

Page 135



bare disturbed areas of soil and song posts and cavities for nest building provide ideal habitat for 
black redstarts.   

All of these proposals could contribute to the protection and enhancement of the natural 

environment, and help deliver the government’s ambitious 25 Year Environment Plan.  

4. Are there any other sites that should be granted exemptions, and why? For example, 
commercial and industrial sites.  

No – commercial and industrial sites can cover large areas and contain areas of important habitat. 
There is also huge potential on these sites to deliver net gain. 

5. As an alternative to an exemption, should any sites instead be subject to a simplified 
biodiversity assessment process?  

N/A 

6. Do you agree that the Defra metric should allow for adjustments to reflect important local 
features such as local sites? Should the Defra metric consider local designations in a different way?  

Local designations such as Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) should not be considered as part of the BIA 
metric; the metric is designed to measure wildlife value not designations The BIA metric should only 
be used as a compensation tool once the mitigation hierarchy has been employed (which would 
consider impacts on designated sites such as LWS).   

The BIA metric used in Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull is adjusted from the Defra metric to 
allow for local distinctiveness in relation to habitat distribution across the area. This allows the 
mapping of priority areas for habitat creation and enhancement schemes.  

7. Should local authorities be required to adopt a robust district level licensing approach for great 
crested newts, where relevant, by 2020?  

The proposed district licensing approach needs to be integrated into the BIA metric/net gain 
calculation, so that double counting of habitats and any mitigation/compensation does not occur 
e.g. on a site with GCN that will also lose wetland habitat.  

8. For what species is it plausible to use district level or strategic approaches to improve 
conservation outcomes and streamline planning processes? Please provide evidence.  

N/A 

9. Are there wider elements of environmental net gain that could be better incentivised? If so, 
please specify which, and any benefits that such incentives could provide.  

N/A 

10. Is the Defra biodiversity metric an appropriate practical tool for measuring changes to 
biodiversity as a result of development?  

SMBC have been using the Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull BIA metric since the pilot started in 
2012. The metric has been through several iterations and improvements and is currently at version 
19. SMBC will continue to use this BIA metric, rather than the Defra metric, in order to provide 
continuity and because it takes into account local distinctiveness. Further versions of the metric will 
also incorporate protected species (starting with GCN) to eliminate the possibility of double 
counting.  

11. What improvements, if any, could we most usefully make to the Defra metric?  

See answer to 10. 

12. Would a mandatory 10% increase in biodiversity units be the right level of gain to be required?  

Page 136



What is the evidence base for suggesting a 10% increase in biodiversity units? If the ambition is as 
stated, to achieve net gain from the current position of net loss, then we need to be sure that any 
fixed rates of increase will actually allow this to be achieved.  

SMBC’s concern is that introducing a flat rate of 10% will inevitably be viewed as a number to 
achieve, rather than encouraging developments to be aspirational.  

13. In clearly defined circumstances, should developers be allowed to pay through the tariff 
mechanism without fully exhausting on-site and local compensation opportunities?  

No – it is important that the mitigation hierarchy is used appropriately and if necessary, all possible 
onsite options have been exhausted. If an offsite compensation scheme is then required, then the 
onus should be on the developer to find such a scheme locally (through appropriate providers which 
could include the local authority). After exhausting all these options, only then should a contribution 
to a tariff mechanism be considered appropriate.  

SMBC’s concern would be that implementing such a scheme would add an unnecessary complication 
which could incentivise the destruction of habitats before planning applications were submitted, so 
that sites fit within ‘clearly defined circumstances’. Introducing ways to avoid using the mitigation 
hierarchy is risky and undermines its existence.   

14. Would this be an appropriate approach to directing the location of new habitat?  

No – it is more likely that this approach would result in the loss of habitat onsite long before any 
suitable offsite scheme has been secured. This will not deliver net gain, and is more likely to result in 
an overall net loss to biodiversity, as habitat will be lost before it is being created and/or enhanced. 
These schemes are also more likely to be further away from the development site, which would 
make them more expensive and could affect the overall ecological functionality of the landscape 
surrounding the development site.  

15. How could biodiversity assessments be made more robust without adding to burdens for 
developers or planning authorities?  

Ecological assessments should always be completed by suitably qualified ecologists, regardless of the 
size of the development site.  

It is essential that LPAs have in-house ecological advisors so that they can robustly scrutinise any 
completed biodiversity metrics and ecological survey reports. Having this resource in every LPA 
would arguably reduce the overall amount of time spent in discussions with developers, and would 
also ensure that net gain is actually being achieved. Without this in-house expertise, it is 
questionable whether there would be sufficient scrutiny of proposals and monitoring of approved 
schemes to ensure delivery of net gain.  

16. Should a baseline map of broad habitats be developed?  

Yes – SMBC has contributed to the Habitat Biodiversity Audit (HBA) for Warwickshire, Coventry and 
Solihull since its inception in 1995. The HBA’s remit is to survey every field and boundary in the sub-
region to provide up-to-date biodiversity data. The data is held on a Geographical Information 
System (GIS), which provides high quality coded maps and linked site notes with a powerful tool for 
interpretation and statistical analysis.  

This resource allows SMBC to access broad habitat data for the borough, which can be used during 
the consideration and assessment of sites for development. This has also allowed the development 
of connectivity maps that can show priority areas for habitat creation and restoration i.e. putting the 
right habitat in the right place.  

It also provides a basis for comparison with ecological surveys submitted with planning applications; 
if the results are significantly different or if there is evidence of intentional habitat degradation, we 
then have evidence to use in any challenges.   

Page 137



17. Should this be applied, as a minimum baseline, to:  

a. net gain calculations for all development?  

b. net gain calculations in cases of suspected intentional habitat degradation?  

A. Net gain calculations for all developments. This would mean that even in the case of intentional 
habitat degradation, the BIA calculation would always use that shown in the baseline broad habitat 
maps. The onus would then be on the developer to provide evidence that the habitat was anything 
other than that shown on the baseline maps.  

18. What other measures might reduce the risk of incentivising intentional habitat degradation?  

 Robust, easily accessible baseline data 

 In-house ecological advisors within LPAs with local knowledge who can recognise instances 
of intentional habitat degradation 

 Large fines 

 Reputational damage 

19. How can the risks of penalising landowners making legitimate land use change decisions 
before deciding to sell their land for development be mitigated?  

N/A 

20. The provision of compensatory habitats will need to be guided by habitat opportunity maps. 
At what scale should these maps be developed? 

 a. Locally (e.g. local authority or National Character Area)  

b. Nationally (i.e. England) as a national framework to be refined, updated and amended locally  

A. Locally. If net gain is to be administered at a local level by local authorities, then any associated 
mapping should be available at a local scale. National scale maps will not be of sufficient resolution 
to incorporate local distinctiveness and habitat variety.  

The local context is vital when assessing the importance of habitats present on a development site 
e.g. within Britain as a whole approximately 30% of habitat is considered to be semi-natural, 
however in Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull this is much less at lower than 10% (includes broad-
leaved semi-natural woodland, natural and semi-natural grasslands and wetlands including standing 
water and rivers).   

21. What other measures should be considered to identify biodiversity and natural capital 
priorities?  

 Landscape character/landscape quality  

 National Character Areas   

 Climate change and adaptation  

 Green Infrastructure  

 Ecosystem Services 

 Historical and cultural significance 

 Quality of the environment in respect of health and wellbeing 

22. Would mandating net gain through the planning system be enough to stimulate the growth of 
a market for biodiversity units?  

N/A 

Page 138



23. What further measures would help to ensure that the market provides:  

a. Sufficient biodiversity units for development?  

b. Cost-effective biodiversity units?  

N/A 

24. Should there be a minimum duration for the maintenance of created or enhanced habitats?  

Yes. 

25. If so, what should the minimum duration be?  

a. Less than 25 years  

b. 25 to 30 years  

c. Longer than 25-30 years  

d. Permanent  

30 years is the current standard length of a management agreement secured through an offsite 
biodiversity scheme contribution, however even these can be difficult to secure with third party 
landowners as they are often seen as too long to reflect possible future changes in demand for crops 
or land use. From an ecological perspective, permanent agreements secured via conservation 
covenants or similar are the best option, as this will allow habitats to establish and will also help to 
ensure net gain (i.e. there is no risk to newly created or enhanced habitats being lost to future 
development). In the absence of conservation covenants, a minimum maintenance period of 25-30 
years should be incorporated into agreements. If conservation covenants are introduced in the 
future then there will be scope to increase this minimum.  

How would ongoing maintenance payments be included in a permanent agreement? SMBC currently 
uses 30 years derived from an annual rate dependant on a variety of factors including habitat type, 
target condition etc. If the agreement is to be permanent, then how many years would the annual 
rate be applied for? It might be difficult for developers to agree to fund a scheme indefinitely; what 
happens if they go out of business? 

26. Would conservation covenants be useful for securing long term benefits from biodiversity net 
gain or reducing process and legal costs?  

See answer to 25. 

27. What safeguards might be needed in the implementation of conservation covenants?  

See answer to 25. 

28. Does this proposed range for tariff costs fit with the principles set out in this section?  

N/A 

29. Would this proposed range for tariff costs provide opportunities for cost-effective habitat 
banks and compensation providers to compete?  

N/A 

30. Do you agree with the proposed principles for setting the tariff rate, as set out in this section? 
Please suggest any other factors that should be taken in to account.  

N/A 

31. How should the tariff revenue be collected?  

a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority)  

Page 139



b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body)  

c. Other, please specify  

Locally; this incentivises local authorities to prioritise and consider how they are going to deliver net 
gain. A national pot would need to be applied for via a funding bid or similar, which would be a 
burden for local authorities with no guarantee of success.  

SMBC has been using contributions for offsite biodiversity schemes to match fund and lever in 
additional funding (e.g. from the European Structural and Investment Funds - ESIF) , which has 
allowed us to deliver additional habitat creation and enhancement projects backed by the ESIF 
Priority Axis 6 Preserving and Protecting the Environment and Promoting Resource Efficiency 
Investment Priorities: 6D Protecting and restoring biodiversity and soil promoting ecosystem 
services, including through Natura 2000, and green infrastructure, than those identified as result of 
developments.  

32. How should the tariff revenue be spent?  

a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority)  

b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body)  

c. Through a blended model, allowing spending at both levels  

d. Other, please specify  

Locally; see answer to 32.  

33. If tariff revenue is collected and spent nationally, should spending prioritise areas which have 
contributed the most through biodiversity net gain tariff payments?  

See answer to 32.  

34. What further measures will help to prevent burdens on local authorities increasing?  

A great deal of current UK environmental law derives from EU legislation put in place over several 

decades. Ensure robust monitoring and environmental law following Brexit in order to ensure 

regulatory stability and continued environmental protection. 

Promote better law for the environment and improve understanding and awareness of 

environmental law, enforcement and accountability.  

Not undermining the mitigation hierarchy, and putting the onus on the developer to focus on 
protecting important habitats and providing any necessary biodiversity schemes onsite, or in close 
vicinity wherever possible.  

Providing funding and support to local authorities to have in-house ecological advisors that are able 
to scrutinise development plans and ensure that net gain is achieved.  

35. How could the proposals be refined to manage any negative impacts on the scale and delivery 
of other developer contributions (e.g. through Section 106 or Community Infrastructure Levy 
payments)?  

N/A 

36. Would you, as a planning authority stakeholder, prefer any net gain tariff revenue to be paid 
through:  

a. local authority administration?  

b. a nationally managed funding scheme (which could then reinvest in local habitat schemes best 
aligned with national strategic environmental priorities)?  

Page 140



Locally – see answer to 32.  

37. How could the proposed net gain process be improved for developers?  

N/A  

38. What other steps, considerations or processes in environmental planning could be integrated 
within a net gain approach?  

 Natural capital approach and ecosystem services. 

39. Would any particular types of development (e.g. commercial, industrial, public sector, local 
infrastructure) be disproportionately affected by a mandatory biodiversity net gain requirement?  

N/A 

40. Do you agree that the proposal for staggered transitional arrangements would help to ensure 
smooth implementation of biodiversity net gain policy?  

Because SMBC has been using the BIA since 2012 and have in-house ecology advisors, we would be 
able to implement a mandatory net gain policy without staggered transitional arrangements.  

SMBC questions whether staggered transitional arrangements are appropriate if these proposals are 

going to contribute to the protection and enhancement of the natural environment, and help deliver 

the government’s ambitious 25 Year Environment Plan.  

41. Would the existing dispute resolution process provide the best way to overcome any 
disagreement over whether net gain is achieved?  

N/A 

42. Would an additional arbitration or approval process be necessary? If so, please specify why.  

N/A 

43. Are there any issues or measures, other than those outlined, that we should take into account 
when considering how to monitor biodiversity net gain?  

N/A 

44. Should local authorities be required to provide information about habitat losses and gains?  

Yes – this could be incorporated into the Single Data List 160-00 returns.  

45. What technological or other innovative mechanisms could facilitate the delivery and 
monitoring of biodiversity net gain? 

N/A  

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Flood Investigation Report
	Flooding Report - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix A - Met Office Rainfall Radar Images
	Appendix B - Cheswick Green - Coppice Walk Area
	Appendix C - Dickens Heath - Beech Lane Area
	Appendix D - Dickens Heath - Griffin Lane and Waterside
	Appendix E - Dickens Heath - Tythe Barn Lane
	Appendix F - Earlswood - Wood Lane Area
	Appendix G - Hockley Heath - Stratford Road Area
	Appendix H - Olton - Brook Lane, Langley Hall Road and Swanswell Road Area
	Appendix I - Shirley - Aqueduct Road, Corley Close and Green Lane Area
	Appendix J - Shirley - Colebrook Road and Nethercote Gardens Area
	Appendix K - Shirley - Yardley Wood Road, Pear Tree Crescent Area
	Appendix L - Tidbury Green - Fulford Hall Road, Norton Lane, Rumbush Lane Area
	Appendix M - Action Plan
	Appendix N - Example Potential Options
	Appendix O - Sources of Funding


	5 Biodiversity Net Gain Consultation
	Appendix A - Net Gain Consultation Document.pdf
	Foreword
	Summary
	Biodiversity net gain in the planning system: core proposals and objectives

	How to respond
	What are we trying to achieve?
	Securing positive outcomes for the environment
	Improving the process for developers
	Creating better places for local communities

	Definitions and current practice
	What is net gain?
	Biodiversity net gain
	The Defra metric
	Environmental net gain

	Biodiversity net gain in practice
	Net gain in planning policy
	Net gain approaches in industry


	Policy proposals and questions
	Approaches to delivering a net gain for biodiversity
	Scope
	What development should be in scope of a net gain policy?
	1. Should biodiversity net gain be mandated for all housing, commercial and other development within the scope of the Town and County Planning Act?
	2. What other actions could government take to support the delivery of biodiversity net gain?
	3. Should there be any specific exemptions to any mandatory biodiversity net gain requirement (planning policies on net gain would still apply) for the following types of development? And why?
	a. House extensions
	b. Small sites
	c. All brownfield sites
	d. Some brownfield sites (e.g. those listed on brownfield, or other, land registers)
	4. Are there any other sites that should be granted exemptions, and why? For example, commercial and industrial sites.
	5. As an alternative to an exemption, should any sites instead be subject to a simplified biodiversity assessment process?

	Biodiversity features in scope of net gain policy
	6. Do you agree that the Defra metric should allow for adjustments to reflect important local features such as local sites? Should the Defra metric consider local designations in a different way?

	How are species treated within a net gain policy?
	7. Should local authorities be required to adopt a robust district level licensing approach for great crested newts, where relevant, by 2020?
	8. For what species is it plausible to use district level or strategic approaches to improve conservation outcomes and streamline planning processes? Please provide evidence.

	Ambitions for wider environmental net gain
	9. Are there wider elements of environmental net gain that could be better incentivised? If so, please specify which, and any benefits that such incentives could provide.


	Measuring biodiversity
	A biodiversity metric
	10. Is the Defra biodiversity metric an appropriate practical tool for measuring changes to biodiversity as a result of development?
	11. What improvements, if any, could we most usefully make to the Defra metric?

	How much ‘gain’
	12. Would a mandatory 10% increase in biodiversity units be the right level of gain to be required?

	Mitigation hierarchy
	13. In clearly defined circumstances, should developers be allowed to pay through the tariff mechanism without fully exhausting on-site and local compensation opportunities?

	Spatial preference
	14. Would this be an appropriate approach to directing the location of new habitat?

	Assessment of habitat type and condition
	15. How could biodiversity assessments be made more robust without adding to burdens for developers or planning authorities?

	Baseline
	16. Should a baseline map of broad habitats be developed?
	17. Should this be applied, as a minimum baseline, to:
	a. net gain calculations for all development?
	b. net gain calculations in cases of suspected intentional habitat degradation?
	18. What other measures might reduce the risk of incentivising intentional habitat degradation?
	19. How can the risks of penalising landowners making legitimate land use change decisions before deciding to sell their land for development be mitigated?


	Delivering biodiversity outcomes
	How should biodiversity priorities be identified?
	20. The provision of compensatory habitats would need to be guided by habitat opportunity maps. At what scale should these maps be developed?
	a. Locally (e.g. local authority or National Character Area)
	b. Nationally (i.e. England) as a national framework to be refined, updated and amended locally
	21. What other measures should be considered to identify biodiversity and natural capital priorities?

	Provision of compensatory habitats
	22. Would mandating net gain through the planning system be enough to stimulate the growth of a market for biodiversity units?
	23. What further measures would help to ensure that the market provides:
	a. Sufficient biodiversity units for development?
	b. Cost-effective biodiversity units?

	Legacy
	24. Should there be a minimum duration for the maintenance of created or enhanced habitats?
	25. If so, what should the minimum duration be?
	a. Less than 25 years
	b. 25 to 30 years
	c. Longer than 25-30 years
	d. Permanent
	26. Would conservation covenants be useful for securing long term benefits from biodiversity net gain or reducing process and legal costs?
	27. What safeguards might be needed in the implementation of conservation covenants?


	Calculating and collecting the tariff
	Tariff rate
	28. Does this proposed range for tariff costs fit with the principles set out in this section?
	29. Would this proposed range for tariff costs provide opportunities for cost-effective habitat banks and compensation providers to compete?
	30. Do you agree with the proposed principles for setting the tariff rate, as set out in this section? Please suggest any other factors that should be taken in to account.

	How a tariff could be collected and spent
	31. How should the tariff revenue be collected?
	a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority)
	b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body)
	c. Other, please specify
	32. How should the tariff revenue be spent?
	a. Locally (e.g. through a local authority)
	b. Nationally (e.g. through Natural England or another national body)
	c. Through a blended model, allowing spending at both levels
	d. Other, please specify
	33. If tariff revenue was collected and spent nationally, should spending prioritise areas which have contributed the most through biodiversity net gain tariff payments?


	Delivering net gain in the planning system
	Impact on Local Authorities
	34. What further measures will help to prevent burdens on local authorities increasing?
	35. How could the proposals be refined to manage any negative impacts on the scale and delivery of other developer contributions (e.g. through Section 106 or Community Infrastructure Levy payments)?
	36. Would you, as a planning authority stakeholder, prefer any net gain tariff revenue to be paid through:
	a. local authority administration?
	b. a nationally managed funding scheme (which could then reinvest in local habitat schemes best aligned with national strategic environmental priorities)?

	Impact on developers
	37. How could the proposed net gain process be improved for developers?
	38. What other steps, considerations or processes in environmental planning could be integrated within a net gain approach?
	39. Would any particular types of development (e.g. commercial, industrial, public sector, local infrastructure) be disproportionately affected by a mandatory biodiversity net gain requirement?

	Implementation of mandatory biodiversity net gain
	40. Do you agree that the proposal for staggered transitional arrangements would help to ensure smooth implementation of biodiversity net gain policy?

	Right of appeal
	41. Would the existing dispute resolution process provide the best way to overcome any disagreement over whether net gain is achieved?
	42. Would an additional arbitration or approval process be necessary? If so, please specify why.


	Monitoring and evaluation
	Quality assurance
	43. Are there any issues or measures, other than those outlined, that we should take into account when considering how to monitor biodiversity net gain?
	44. Should local authorities be required to provide information about habitat losses and gains?
	45. What technological or other innovative mechanisms could facilitate the delivery and monitoring of biodiversity net gain?

	Evaluation


	Key evidence gaps
	Benefits and costs of mandatory biodiversity net gain

	Glossary
	Annex A: List of consultation questions


	7 Development of a Business Case for Sherbourne Recovery Park



